

# **Global Information Assurance Certification Paper**

# Copyright SANS Institute Author Retains Full Rights

This paper is taken from the GIAC directory of certified professionals. Reposting is not permited without express written permission.

# **SANS GIAC Certification**

## GCFW Practical Assignment Version 1.9

## Secure Network Architecture for GIAC Enterprise

Ву

## **Agustinus Wibisono**

March 17, 2003

## **Table Of Contents**

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2
ABSTRACT	4
ASSIGNMENT 1 – SECURITY ARCHITECTURE	4
Introduction	4
Access Requirements	5
Servers Required	6
Protocols required	10
Perimeter Defenses	13
Border Router	13
Firewall/VPN	13
Security Architecture Design	14
Assignment 2 - Security Policy and Tutorial	17
Border Router Security Policy	17
Router Static Filtering	17
Securing The Router	22
Firewall Security Policy	26
Proxy filtering policy.	28
Packet Filtering Policy	32
Split DNS	34
Alerts and Activity Logs	36
VPN Security Policy	38
General VPN Policy	38
VPN Gateway Policy	40
VPN Host Policy	42
Firewall Packet-Filtering Rules	47
Firewall Tutorial	48
Packet-Filtering Rules	49
SmartProxies	52
ASSIGNMENT 3 – VERIFY THE FIREWALL POLICY	64
Audit Plan	64
Technical Approach	64
Tools for Audit	67
Risks and Considerations	67
Costs and Schedule	68
Audit Execution	68
Firewall Testing	68
Firewall Rules Verification	72
Proxy Services Testing	91
Audit Evaluation and Recommendation	93
Audit Analysis and Evaluation	93
Recommendations for Network Architecture Improvements	94
Assignment 4 – Design Under Fire	96
Attack Against Firewall	97

Firewall Attack Plan	
Firewall Attack Execution	
Distributed Denial of Service Attack	
DDoS Attack plan	
DDoS Attack Execution	
Attack to Internal Server through Perimeter	
Web Server Attack Plan	103
Web Server Attack Execution	
Web Server Attack Countermeasures	
References	
APPENDIX A: ROUTER CONFIGURATION	
APPENDIX B: FIREWALL PACKET-FILTERING RULES	

## Abstract

This paper is part of the requirement for obtaining GIAC Certified Firewall Analyst (GCFW). Practical Assignment version 1.9 is used for completion of the paper.

The paper will cover the development of the secure network architecture required by GIAC Enterprise, which comprises of four sections:

- Determining the access requirements for the business operation of the company and designing the network based on those requirements.
- Defining the policy for the perimeter defense systems border router, firewall and vpn, to provide adequate level of security for the network to support the business operation. Tutorial on configuring the firewall will also be included here.
- Auditing the policy implemented on the firewall to ensure it is performing the task it should do.
- Discussing attack scenarios against other architecture, which are exploiting HTTP Proxy running on the firewall, performing Distributed Denial of Service attack to the network, and attacking web server with Denial of Service exploit.

## **Assignment 1 – Security Architecture**

## Introduction

GIAC Enterprise is a startup company with core business in online sale of fortune cookies sayings. The nature of the business will require 24 hours connectivity through Internet and depend on this service, in which system and network security is a very important element that has to be counted in.

As a startup company, GIAC Enterprise management has decided to go by step by step approach in building the network infrastructure, which at first will start with the sufficient requirement to get the operation up and running, but with the adequate security measures in place. As the company grows, upgrades can be done in the future accordingly.

In its business operation, there are few parties communicating with GIAC Enterprise and making use of computer resources of the company:

- Customers
   They need to make online direct purchases of fortunes with GIAC Enterprise.
- Partners GIAC Enterprise makes use of partners to translate and resell fortunes, in which they also need to communicate with GIAC Enterprise to purchase fortunes.
- Suppliers GIAC Enterprise needs to communicate with them in order to purchase fortunes to be sold to customers or partners.

- Mobile Sales Force and Teleworkers These are GIAC Enterprise's employees located outside office which either selling the fortunes on the field or just work remotely with any other functions.
- Employees in the GIAC Enterprise office These are employees that located in the GIAC Enterprise office, or in other words, in the internal network.

### Access Requirements

In accordance to the defined parties involved in the business operation, each of them will have their access requirements and methods over the resources they require. Most of the methods will make use of Internet as the basis of the communication.

#### Customers

They need to connect to GIAC Enterprise to make purchases. To cater for this, a secured web site is provided, where the customer can connect using web connection protected by SSLv3 over the Internet. They can log in using the user name and password provided for them, and make their purchases.

#### • Partners

With similar requirements as customers, partners are provided similar access, which through web connection with SSLv3 protection.

They are given different web site for partners, with user name and password to gain the access, and then perform their purchases.

#### • Suppliers

In communicating with few suppliers, GIAC Enterprise is provided with web access over SSLv3 connection, user names and passwords to make the purchases. In this case GIAC Enterprise is the one initiating the communication to the suppliers when they need to do purchases.

These purchases then need to be appended manually by the GIAC Enterprise purchasing staffs, using the database application, into the database server.

#### Mobile Sales Force and Teleworkers

Both of them need to communicate with GIAC Enterprise internal network resources in order to carry out their job. They need to connect to the database server to get or add transactions data, access their emails, or access files saved in the server. Both types of employees will be provided with VPN connection from their workstations to connect to the GIAC Enterprise internal network. Access control on database, email and file server will determine the rights for each person accordingly.

#### • Employees in the GIAC Enterprise office

Internal employees will need to access the internal resources, which are the databases, email system, file server and print server. Access control on those systems will determine who are authorized for the access.

Access to the Internet will also be required for web and ftp, to get information off the Internet.

#### • Everybody else

Besides the parties involved as defined above, everybody else from the Internet are able to access GIAC Enterprise web site to see the publicly available information and also communicate using email.

### Servers Required

Analyzing from the access requirements required by each party, protocols and services needed can be determined, and then further determine software and hardware components need to be provided.

• Web Server – host name giac-web

Web Server with Microsoft IIS 5.0 running on Windows 2000 Server, Service Pack 3 is used to provide both HTTP and HTTPS services.

HTTP is used for publicly available web site, while HTTPS is used for web sites for customers and partners to access.

This Web Server will also initiate communication with database server, to retrieve or save information from and to the database. These accesses to the database are required for customers' and partners' transactions.

The web server is installed as stand alone, not as part of the Windows domain. This will separate user accounts information from those in the domain, which make it more secure so if there is compromise on the user account, it will only affected this server.

#### • Mail Server – host name giac-mail

Mail Server with Microsoft Exchange 2000 Server, Service Pack 2, running on Windows 2000 Server, Service Pack 3, is used to provide external and internal email communication.

SMTP is used for email transfer with other mail servers in the Internet, while Microsoft RPC protocol is used for internal email communication with the email clients. All of the users will be using Microsoft Outlook 2000 as their email client. Microsoft Exchange 2000 Server must be installed on Windows 2000 Server that is a member of the Windows domain running Active Directory.

There are few ports being used by this server to communicate with the domain controllers. Reference for these ports is taken from Microsoft Knowledge Base article, Exchange 2000 Windows 2000 Connectivity Through Firewalls<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>http://support.microsoft.com/default.aspx?scid=KB;en-us;q280132</u>

The following table explained the ports used:

Port	Transport	Description
53	TCP/UDP	DNS
88	TCP/UDP	Kerberos authentication
123	UDP	Windows Time Synchronization Protocol (NTP)
135	TCP	EndPoint Mapper
389	TCP/UDP	Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP)
445	TCP	Server Message Block (SMB)
3268	TCP	LDAP to Global Catalog Server
1025	TCP/UDP	Customized port for Active Directory logon and
		directory replication interface, following the
		instruction in the reference 🔊

In accepting connection from the Microsoft Outlook 2000 as the client, the server is using Microsoft RPC protocol, with some additional configured ports, referring to Microsoft Knowledge Base article, Exchange 2000 Static Port Mappings<sup>2</sup>.

Port	Transport	Description
135	TCP	EndPoint Mapper
1026	TCP	Microsoft Exchange SA RFR Interface
1027	TCP	Microsoft Exchange Directory NSPI Proxy Interface
1028	TCP	Microsoft Exchange Information Store Interface

TCP ports 1026, 1027 and 1028 from the table above are customized ports.

• Database Server – host name giac-db

Database Server with Microsoft SQL Server 2000 running on Windows 2000 Server, Service Pack 3, is used for hosting the transactions data.

SQL Server protocol, which running over TCP port 1433 is used for the communication with this server.

Database Server will accept connections in two forms, by which both are using SQL Server protocol:

- Connections from Web Server, for transactions occur through web interface, which are from customers and partners.
- Connections from Database Applications, for transactions from internal employees, including transactions done for purchases to suppliers, inserted manually using the application, as well as transactions by mobile employees and teleworkers through VPN connection.

Similar as the Web Server, since there is no necessity for this Database Server to be the member of the Windows domain, it is installed as stand alone server. User accounts in this server will be separated from the rest of the machines.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>http://support.microsoft.com/default.aspx?scid=kb;en-us;270836</u>

Authentication and authorization of users accessing the database will be done by the database application.

• Internal Servers – host names giac-svr1 and giac-svr2

There are two Windows 2000 Server, Service Pack 3, as Internal Servers, both as Domain Controllers running Active Directory. This will provide redundancy, since every workstation will be configured as member of the Windows domain, which will rely on the availability of the Domain Controller.

Since they are configured as Domain Controllers, both machines are required to run DNS Servers. Every member of the Windows domain will be configured to point to these DNS Servers. Global Catalog Server is configured for both servers, to provide redundancy.

Domain controllers which hosting Global Catalog Server, will require additional configuration to allow Microsoft Outlook connection to them over static port, with reference from Microsoft Knowledge Base article, How to Configure a Global Catalog Server to Use a Specific Port When Servicing MAPI Clients<sup>3</sup>.

Port	Transport	Description
1029	TCP	Name Service Provider Interface (NSPI)

The port listed in the table is customized port after editing the registry.

All of the workstations, which are using Windows 2000 Professional, as members of the Windows domain, will need to connect to these two domain controllers, includes those which connecting through VPN tunnel.

Few ports are required on these domain controllers, for domain connections, as described in the Microsoft Knowledge Base article, How to Configure a Firewall for Domains and Trusts<sup>4</sup>.

Port	Transport	Description
53	TCP/UDP	DNS
88	TCP/UDP	Kerberos authentication
123	UDP	Windows Time Synchronization Protocol
135	TCP	EndPoint Mapper
389	TCP/UDP	Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP)
445	TCP	Server Message Block (SMB)
3268	TCP	LDAP for Global Catalog Server

Windows Time Protocol, which is using UDP port 123 is used to synchronized time of the domain members to the domain controllers.

Both domain controllers are also configured to run DHCP to assigned IP addresses to workstations in the internal network.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>http://support.microsoft.com/default.aspx?scid=kb;EN-US;298369</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> http://support.microsoft.com/default.aspx?scid=kb;en-us;Q179442&gssnb=1

Both also will be used as a file server and print server, communicating using SMB over TCP/IP using TCP port 445. Users will be able to save, retrieve and share files in this server, as well as send printing jobs.

Besides the main services above, several other services are required as complementary.

#### DNS Service

Although both domain controllers in the internal network are running DNS servers, they are only to be used for internal communication with the Windows domain members.

If there are requests for external Internet names, these DNS servers will forward the request to another DNS Server.

Split DNS Servers available in the firewall will be used to receive the forwarded requests from the domain controllers.

This Split DNS will have two parts, Internal and External. DNS servers on the domain controllers will forward their request to the Internal part of Split DNS. It will then forward to the External part for non-authoritative queries. The External part will be the one who communicate with other DNS servers in the Internet to get the results.

To increase the performance of getting the query results, External DNS will be configured to point to ISP DNS Servers as forwarders.

The External part of Split DNS will act as Primary External DNS Server, which hosting the GIAC Enterprise domain, *giac.com*. There is a Secondary External DNS Server hosted at the ISP, which perform zone transfer to the Primary.

The use of Split DNS on the firewall will increase the level of security for DNS infrastructure. This is because it sits on the firewall host, which has a better security than normal servers.

#### VPN Service

This service will also be run by the firewall, which has VPN functionality integrated with it.

It is using IPSec based VPN to encapsulate the data, to be used by mobile employees and teleworkers. Protocols used for the VPN are Internet Key Exchange (IKE) for key exchange (UDP port 500) and Encapsulating Security Payload (ESP) protocol of IPSec for data encryption (IP protocol 50).

These users will need to install VPN clients in their workstations, then connecting to the firewall using VPN tunnel to get into the internal network. CyberGuard VPN Client will be used for this purpose.

Access to the database, email, files and Windows domain are required for them.

#### • Anti Virus Server – host name giac-avs

To protect the network from virus, an Anti Virus protection is implemented at the gateway (firewall). Network traffic, which are HTTP, FTP and SMTP, passing the firewall will be directed for virus scanning first before they allowed to leave or to enter the network.

F-Secure Anti Virus for Firewall is used for this purpose, installed on Windows 2000 Server, Service Pack 3.

It will communicate with firewall using Generic CVP (Content Vectoring Protocol). TCP port 18181 is used for this communication.

• Log Server – host name giac-log

This server is used to consolidate logs from router and firewall. It is running Kiwi Syslog server to gather logs from both of the devices through Syslog protocol on UDP port 514. The server is running on Windows 2000 Server, Service Pack 3, which is installed as stand alone server.

## **Protocols required**

The tables below summarize the access requirements of the network with protocols involved.

#### Outbound to Internet

Ser	vice	Usage	Direction	Description
80	TCP	HTTP	Internal users to Internet	Web access
443	TCP	HTTPS	Internal users to Internet	Web access, SSL secured connections
21	TCP	FTP	Internal users to Internet	FTP command port
20	TCP	FTP	Internal users to Internet	FTP data port
25	TCP	SMTP	giac-mail to Internet	SMTP transfer to other mail servers in the Internet
53	UDP	DNS	External DNS server (on the firewall) to Internet	DNS queries to other DNS servers in the Internet
53	ТСР	DNS	External DNS server (on the firewall) to Internet	DNS queries, large queries, to other DNS servers in the Internet
80	TCP	HTTP	giac-avs to Internet	giac-avs to get virus signature update from Internet

#### Inbound from Internet

Ser	vice	Usage	Direction	Description
80	TCP	HTTP	Internet to giac-web	Web access
443	ТСР	HTTPS	Internet to giac-web	Web access, SSL secured connections, for registered users (customers and partners)
25	ТСР	SMTP	Internet to giac-mail	SMTP transfer from other mail servers in the Internet

53	UDP	DNS	Internet to External DNS server (on the firewall)	DNS queries for giac.com
53	TCP	DNS	Internet to External DNS server (on the firewall)	DNS queries, large queries, for giac.com
53	ТСР	DNS	Secondary DNS server to External DNS server (on the firewall)	Zone transfer from Secondary DNS server in the ISP

#### Inbound from VPN tunnel

Ser	vice	Usage	Direction	Description
1433	TCP	SQL Server	VPN users to giac-db	Database application connection
135	TCP	RPC		
1026	TCP	RPC	VPN users to giac-mail	Microsoft Outlook connection
1027	TCP	RPC		to the Microsoft Exchange
1028	TCP	RPC		Server
1029	ТСР	Global Catalog	VPN users to Domain Controllers (giac-svr1 and giac-svr2)	
53	TCP	DNS		
53	UDP	DNS		
88	TCP	Kerberos		
88	UDP	Kerberos		
123	UDP	Time Protocol	VPN users to Domain Controllers (giac-svr1	Connection to domain
135	TCP	RPC	and giac-svr2)	authentication and file sharing
389	TCP	LDAP		
389	UDP	LDAP 🚫		
445	TCP	SMB		
3268	TCP	Global Catalog		

#### Internal traffic – Internal users to servers

Ser	vice	Usage	Direction	Description
80	TCP	HTTP	Internal users to giac-	Web connection
443	TCP	HTTPS	web	
1/22	тор	SQL	Internal users to giac-	Database application
1455	ICF	Server	db	connection
135	TCP	RPC	Internal users to giac-	Microsoft Outlook connection
1026	TCP	RPC	mail	to the Microsoft Exchange
1027	TCP	RPC	]	Server

1028	TCP	RPC		
1029	ТСР	Global Catalog	Internal users to Domain Controllers (giac-svr1 and giac- svr2)	
53	TCP	DNS		
53	UDP	DNS		
88	TCP	Kerberos		
88	UDP	Kerberos		. <b>G</b> °
123	UDP	Time Protocol	Internal users to Domain Controllers	Connection to domain
135	TCP	RPC	(giac-svr1 and giac-	authentication and file sharing
389	TCP	LDAP	svr2)	authentication and hie sharing
389	UDP	LDAP		
445	TCP	SMB		6
3268	ТСР	Global Catalog	A	
nternal t	raffic – S	Servers to s	servers	

#### Internal traffic - Servers to servers

Service		Usage	Direction	Description	
53	TCP	DNS			
53	UDP	DNS			
88	TCP	Kerberos			
88	UDP	Kerberos			
102	סחוו	Time			
123	UDF	Protocol	6		
135	TCP	RPC	giac-mail to Domain	Required connections for	
389	TCP	LDAP	Controllers (giac-svr1	Microsoft Exchange 2000 to	
389	UDP	LDAP	and giac-svr2)	Domain Controllers	
445	TCP	SMB			
2260		Global			
3200	ICP	Catalog			
		Active			
1025	TCP	Directory			
		Logon			
		501		Web server save and retrieve	
1433	TCP	Sorvor	giac-web to giac-db transac	transaction to and from	
		Server		Database server	
53	TCP	DNS	Domain Controllers	Request forwarding to DNS	
53			(giac-svr1 and giac-	Server running in the firewall	
55			svr2) to firewall		
18181	TCP	CVP	Firewall to giac-avs	CVP communication between	
				Firewall and Anti Virus Server	

514	סחוו	Svelog	Firewall and Router to	Firewall and Router sending
514	UDF	Sysiog	giac-log	logs to giac-log

#### VPN traffic

Service		Usage	Direction	Description
500	UDP	IKE	VPN Hosts to VPN	VPN clients connecting to the
50	IP	ESP	Gateway (on the firewall)	VPN Gateway
500	UDP	IKE	VPN Gateway (on the	VPN clients connecting to the
50	IP	ESP	firewall) to VPN Hosts	VPN Gateway

### **Perimeter Defenses**

The design of the network is making use of two main components for perimeter defense, border router and firewall/vpn.

## **Border Router**

This border router will serve as the outer gateway between GIAC Enterprise network and Internet.

Cisco 1720 series router, running Cisco IOS 12.2 will be used for this purpose. This router is an entry class router, which should be sufficient enough to be used as a start. Performance will need to be monitored as the company grow and getting more traffic which required upgrade of router.

The router has two interfaces, which are serial0, connected to the leased line to the Internet, and fastethernet0 connected to the GIAC Enterprise network. The router mainly performs routing function for the network, with additionally access list applied to perform egress and ingress filtering.

## Firewall/VPN

Firewall as the gateway between internal and external network of GIAC Enterprise, perform filtering of traffic in and out of those networks and segregating the network into several segments. It also serves as VPN gateway, terminating the VPN connections from VPN clients. CyberGuard KnightStar 2U firewall/VPN appliance, with UnixWare version 5.0 PSU 2 firewall software will be used for this purpose.

CyberGuard firewall is a hybrid architecture firewall, which perform traffic filtering using combination of stateful packet filtering and proxy. This architecture will be useful as for

some traffic like HTTP, HTTPS and SMTP can be filtered using strong application proxies, which allow a more granular control over the traffic up to the application layer. Other types of traffic where specific proxy for them is not available or is not preferred will use stateful packet filtering.

CyberGuard firewall provides integrated operating system together with the firewall software, which eliminates the needs of hardening the operating system separately as well as maintaining different patches for the OS and the firewall. The OS is already hardened by design, which certified under NSA Orange Book certification at B1 level. Both the OS and the firewall are maintained together by one vendor (CyberGuard) only. CyberGuard firewall is also certified under Common Criteria at EAL 4. These certifications will ensure that the firewall has certain level of security tested and verified.

Besides main firewall function, it provides and will also run Split DNS services, as well as Network Address Translations.

As a VPN gateway, all VPN connection from the VPN clients will be terminated at the firewall end, and in this configuration, the firewall will also performing filtering of traffic coming from VPN tunnel.

CyberGuard KnightStar by default comes with 5 Fast Ethernet interfaces, formed by 1 onboard interface on the motherboard and 4 interfaces under 1 quad card. With the design consideration and future expansion taken into account, 1 other quad card, consists of 4 Fast Ethernet interfaces, is added. Total of 9 interfaces are available in the firewall.

### Security Architecture Design

To cover all access requirements as well as providing the optimum security for the network, GIAC Enterprise's network is designed as shown in the following network diagram (Figure 1).



Figure 1: GIAC Enterprise Network Design

As seen in the diagram above, the network is separated into six segments by the Firewall. Six interfaces available on the firewall are utilized to separate the network, with 3 other interfaces left unused.

The concept of the design is that, as much as possible isolate and protect important services from others, meaning that access to that particular services must be through filtering gateways (firewall and/or router). In this design, the firewall is playing an important role in controlling access among the components that it separates.

Second layer firewall is not required at least not at this stage, since the protection can be achieved by separate the services in different interfaces.

Segment Name	Segment Addresses
EXTERNAL	100.1.1.16/28
INTERNAL1	192.168.1.0/24
INTERNAL2	192.168.2.0/24
SRVNET1	192.168.3.0/24
SRVNET2	192.168.4.0/24
SRVNET3	192.168.5.0/24

IP addressing schemes of the network segments are shown in the table below.

Firewall interfaces are configured with IP addresses as can be seen in the diagram above and details as follows. Interfaces naming are following what CyberGuard is using.

Interface Name	Туре	IP Address
dec0	External	100.1.1.18/28
dec1	Internal	192.168.1.1/24
dec2	Internal	192.168.2.1/24
dec3	Internal	192.168.3.1/24
dec4	Internal	192.168.4.1/24
dec5	Internal	192.168.5.1/24

Firewall performs Network Address Translation for internal network addresses to be able to communicate with other hosts in the Internet.

External Address	Internal Address	NAT Type	Description
100.1.1.18	All internal addresses	Dynamic	Many to one translation for internal hosts to make outgoing connections, using firewall dec0 interface address
100.1.1.19	192.168.3.2	Static	Address translation for giac- mail
100.1.1.20	192.168.4.2	Static	Address translation for giac- web
100.1.1.21	192.168.1.12	Static	Address translation for giac- log

Dynamic NAT allows internal network addresses to be translated to public address of the firewall interface, so that they can communicate with hosts in the Internet.

Static NAT, which one to one translation, will allow certain hosts to be contactable from the Internet. In this case giac-mail and giac-web, need to be reachable from the Internet, according to their function. While giac-svr2, is used as Syslog server, to receive logs from the router, which sits on the EXTERNAL segment, so it also has to be reachable from there, which is why it is translated.

## **Assignment 2 – Security Policy and Tutorial**

## **Border Router Security Policy**

Security policy for the border router will consist of two parts, network traffic filtering passing through the router and security of the router itself.

## **Router Static Filtering**

The border router, besides its main function to provide routing function for the network, also configured to perform simple static filtering of network traffic. Simple filtering here is referenced to ingress and egress filtering using Extended Access List provided by Cisco IOS. This is done to keep the router to effectively perform what it can do best, which is routing, and not overload it with other functions. Besides that, stronger filtering can be done better by the firewall sitting behind it.

By performing this filtering, the border router will help in keeping totally unwanted traffic to exit or enter the network.

The router performs the filtering on a per interface basis. Different set of filter rules will need to be defined for each interface used. Traffic will be filtered in the inbound direction of that particular interface, as this will save the router resources for processing unwanted traffic. Filters will be read on top to bottom sequence, whichever match first will be used.

There are two parts of filtering being done on the router:

- Ingress filtering Filtering traffic coming to the network from the Internet, being done at the serial interface (serial0) of the router, make use of Extended Access List.
- Egress filtering Filtering traffic leaving the network to the Internet, being done at the Ethernet interface (fastethernet0) of the router, make use of Extended Access List.

With reference from the network diagram and access requirements, type of traffic required to pass the router can be determined and then filtering policy of router is defined accordingly. Need to also remember that the router is performing static packet filtering, in which for each connection, two directions of traffic must be considered. Referring to access requirements of the network, filtering over traffic passing through the router will be done for:

• Outbound to Internet

- Inbound from Internet
- VPN traffic

There are three components behind the router that need to communicate with Internet either outbound or inbound, represented by their public IP addresses, which are:

- Firewall dec0 interface address, 100.1.1.18
- giac-mail, translated address by firewall, 100.1.1.19
- giac-web, translated address by firewall, 100.1.1.20

Firewall (in this case using its dec0 address, 100.1.1.18) is translating addresses of internal hosts (Dynamic NAT) that need to communicate outbound with Internet. The other function carried out using this address is as VPN Gateway. VPN hosts/clients will be contacting this address to setup the VPN tunnel. External DNS Server on the Firewall is also using this address, so DNS communication is also expected to happen to and from this address. Characteristics of traffic send to and receive from Internet by the firewall dec0 address is explained in the following table.

Traffic Type	Outgoing Port(s)	Incoming Port(s)
Outbound HTTP	80/TCP	1024-65535/TCP
Outbound HTTPS	443/TCP	1024-65535/TCP
Outbound FTP	21/TCP, 20/TCP	1024-65535/TCP
Outbound DNS	53/TCP, 53/UDP	53/TCP, 53/UDP
Inbound DNS	53/TCP, 53/UDP	53/TCP, 53/UDP
Outbound VPN	500/UDP, IP protocol 50	500/UDP, IP protocol 50
Inbound VPN	500/UDP, IP protocol 50	500/UDP, IP protocol 50

*giac-mail*, communicating with Internet using IP address 100.1.1.19, translated by the firewall. Characteristic of the traffic for this IP address is shown below.

Traffic Type	Outgoing Port(s)	Incoming Port(s)
Outbound SMTP	25/TCP	1024-65535/TCP
Inbound SMTP	1024-65535/TCP	25/TCP

*giac-web*, communicating with Internet using IP address 100.1.1.20, translated by the firewall, Characteristic of the traffic for this IP address is shown below.

Traffic Type	Outgoing Port(s)	Incoming Port(s)
Inbound HTTP	1024-65535/TCP	80/TCP
Inbound HTTPS	1024-65535/TCP	443/TCP

#### Egress Filtering

Firstly, egress filtering is done to block traffic to addresses that not suppose to exist in the Internet<sup>5</sup>, as follows:

- Deny traffic to historical broadcast addresses, 0.0.0.0/8
- Deny traffic to private addresses, 10.0.0.0/8
- Deny traffic to loopback address, 127.0.0.0/8
- Deny traffic to link local networks, 169.254.0.0/16
- Deny traffic to private addresses, 172.16.0.0/12
- Deny traffic to TEST-NET, 192.0.2.0/24
- Deny traffic to private addresses, 192.168.0.0/16
- Deny traffic to Class D multicast addresses, 224.0.0.0/4
- Deny traffic to Class E reserved addresses, 240.0.0/5
- Deny traffic to unallocated addresses, 248.0.0.0/5
- Deny traffic to broadcast address, 255.255.255.255/32

Outgoing traffic to Internet coming from the three defined addresses of the network above and specific ports required are the only traffic allowed to leave the network. This will reduce the chances of other undefined addresses in the network of being used, in the case of somebody add illegal machine attach to the network, and connect to the Internet using the other available addresses.

It will also help in limiting the ports going out to Internet, reducing the chances of use of unauthorized protocols.

As this filters are only static filtering, a lot of numbers of ports still need to be opened, so it only help in minimizing traffic that can go out to Internet.

As the last rule, everything else that not defined will be dropped, and log packets hitting this rule.

In summary, the rules are:

- Permit traffic from firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination TCP port 20
- Permit traffic from firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination TCP port 21
- Permit traffic from firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination TCP and UDP port 53
- Permit traffic from firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination TCP port 80
- Permit traffic from firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination TCP port 443
- Permit traffic from firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination UDP port 500
- Permit traffic from firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination IP Protocol 50
- Permit traffic from giac-mail address, 100.1.1.19, destination TCP port 25
- Permit traffic from giac-mail address, 100.1.1.19, destination TCP ports greater than 1023
- Permit traffic from giac-web address, 100.1.1.20, destination TCP ports greater than 1023
- Deny everything else and log.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Reference from US DoE CIAC, <u>http://www.ciac.org/ciac/bulletins/k-032.shtml</u>

The complete policy of the rules using Cisco IOS Extended Access List and its format, as follows:

```
access-list 100 deny ip any 0.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 10.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 127.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 169.254.0.0 0.0.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 172.16.0.0 0.15.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 192.0.2.0 0.0.0.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 192.168.0.0 0.0.0.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 224.0.0.0 15.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 240.0.0.0 7.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 248.0.0.0 7.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 255.255.255.255 0.0.0.0 log
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 20
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 21
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 53
access-list 100 permit udp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 53
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 80
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 443
access-list 100 permit udp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 500
access-list 100 permit 50 host 100.1.1.18 any
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.19 any eq 25
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.19 any gt 1023
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.20 any gt 1023
access-list 100 deny any any log
```

#### Ingress Filtering

Ingress filtering is set first to block unwanted addresses or not suppose to exist addresses in the Internet to come to the network<sup>6</sup>, as these will be part of somebody try to spoof those addresses, and waste the network resources. Those rules are as follows:

nose rules are as lonows.

- Deny traffic from historical broadcast addresses, 0.0.0.0/8
- Deny traffic from private addresses, 10.0.0/8
- Deny traffic from loopback address, 127.0.0.0/8
- Deny traffic from link local networks, 169.254.0.0/16
- Deny traffic from private addresses, 172.16.0.0/12
- Deny traffic from TEST-NET, 192.0.2.0/24
- Deny traffic from private addresses, 192.168.0.0/16
- Deny traffic from Class D multicast addresses, 224.0.0.0/4
- Deny traffic from Class E reserved addresses, 240.0.0.0/5
- Deny traffic from unallocated addresses, 248.0.0.0/5
- Deny traffic from broadcast address, 255.255.255.255/32
- Deny traffic from own addresses, 100.1.1.16/28

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Reference from US DoE CIAC, <u>http://www.ciac.org/ciac/bulletins/k-032.shtml</u>

Incoming traffic from Internet should only be directed for the three addresses existed in the network, with specific ports in use. Other than to those addresses, they should be dropped, because those other addresses or ports are not in use, or being used illegally. Similar as egress filtering, this is also static filtering in which both directions of the traffic should be considered.

The last rule, is deny everything else that not match the rules, and log packets hitting this rule.

In summary:

- Permit traffic to firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination TCP ports greater than 1023
- Permit traffic to firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination TCP and UDP ports 53
- Permit traffic to firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination UDP port 500
- Permit traffic to firewall dec0 address, 100.1.1.18, destination IP Protocol 50
- Permit traffic to giac-mail address, 100.1.1.19, destination TCP ports greater than 1023
- Permit traffic to giac-mail address, 100.1.1.19, destination TCP port 25
- Permit traffic to giac-web address, 100.1.1.20, destination TCP port 80
- Permit traffic to giac-web address, 100.1.1.20, destination TCP port 443
- Deny everything else and log

Policy in the Cisco IOS Extended Access List format:

```
access-list 101 deny ip 0.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 10.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 127.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 169.254.0.0 0.0.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 172.16.0.0 0.15.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 192.0.2.0 0.0.0.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 192.168.0.0 0.0.0.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 224.0.0.0 15.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 240.0.0.0 7.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 248.0.0.0 7.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 255.255.255.255 0.0.0.0 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 100.1.1.16 0.0.0.15 any log
access-list 101 permit tcp any host 100.1.1.18 gt 1023
access-list 101 permit tcp any host 100.1.1.18 eq 53
access-list 101 permit udp any host 100.1.1.18 eq 53
access-list 101 permit udp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 500
access-list 101 permit 50 host 100.1.1.18
access-list 101 permit tcp host 100.1.1.19 any gt 1023
access-list 101 permit tcp host 100.1.1.19 any eq 25
access-list 101 permit tcp host 100.1.1.20 any eq 80
access-list 101 permit tcp host 100.1.1.20 any eq 443
access-list 101 deny any any log
```

From both the egress and ingress filtering rules, can be seen that on the sequence of the rules, a set of deny rules is being put first before the permit rules. This will enable the deny rules to block off the unnecessary traffic going to or coming in from unwanted IP addresses first, although that traffic may use the correct protocols. The set of permit

rules then will determine what are the correct IP addresses and protocols should be used by the network traffic. And lastly, if there are still traffic not met by the above sets of filters, it will be drop by the last rule.

### Securing The Router

While the router is able to do filtering to protect the network, actions should also be taken to protect and secure the router itself.

#### **Disabling Unneeded Services**

The router is equipped with few services for different purposes and functions, but not all of them are required and running them could pose security risks. These unneeded services will be disabled.

#### • Disabling CDP

CDP (Cisco Discovery Protocol), which used to automatically detect directly connected Cisco routers/switches should be disabled, as it would reveal some information about the router such as model number and software version. Global configuration command used:

no cdp run

#### • Disabling HTTP Server

HTTP server is used to allow router management and configuration through HTTP. It is not used here and will be disabled. This is actually done by default. Global configuration command used:

no ip http server

#### Disabling Bootp Server

Bootp server, which intended to allow other Cisco devices to get the IOS software from the router over the network, is not used and will be disabled. Global configuration command used:

no ip bootp server

### Disabling Configuration Auto-Loading

Cisco routers have a feature that enables them to load configuration from the network. This will not be allowed, as the router will only need to load the configuration from its local memory. This is disabled by default. Global configuration command used:

no service config

#### Disabling Source Routing

Source routing, allowing IP packets to determine its own routes, is not needed and should not be allowed. All traffic should use normal network routing. The router

should not process packets with source route, so the support for this will be disabled.

Global configuration command used:

no ip source route

#### • Disabling TCP and UDP Small Services

TCP and UDP small servers, which following the protocol standards should exist in hosts, are not required in the router. The use of these services could reveal information on the router to outsiders. They are disabled by default. Global configuration command used:

no service tcp-small-servers no service udp-small-servers

#### • Disabling Finger

Finger service is used to query the router of users logging in to the router. The query request can come from remote source, which is not desirable. This feature is not required and is disabled by default.

Global configuration commands used:

no service finger no ip finger

#### • Disabling Proxy ARP

Proxy ARP is only needed when the router is segmenting two LAN interfaces. Because it is not, then the feature will be disabled. Disabling this will be done on each interface, serial0 and fastethernet0.

Interface configuration command used:

no ip proxy-arp

#### Disabling IP Directed Broadcast

Broadcast should only be allowed on each individual subnet, and not going across to others, as in directed broadcast. The router should not forward these packets. Each interface will be configured to disable this.

Interface configuration command used: no ip directed-broadcast

#### • Disabling ICMP Unreachable

The router functionality of sending ICMP unreachable should be disabled, as it will give information that certain hosts do not exist. This could help attacker in performing network mapping. Each interface will be configured to disable this. Interface configuration command used:

no ip unreachable

#### • Disabling ICMP Redirect

ICMP redirect messages will be sent by router as a response for certain routed packets. This will not be required for normal network traffic. Each interface will be configured to disable this.

Interface configuration command used:

no ip unreachable

#### • Disabling ICMP Mask Reply

ICMP mask reply will be sent by router, containing the router interface subnet mask, in response to ICMP mask request. This should not be allowed, and will be disabled on each interface.

Interface configuration command used: no ip mask-reply

#### • Disabling NTP

The router will use its own internal clock as time reference. NTP service is not required and will be disabled on each interface. By default it is already disabled. Interface configuration command used:

ntp disable

#### • Disabling SNMP

SNMP for router management will not be used, so this service is disabled. By default it is already disabled.

Global configuration command used: no snmp server

#### Controlling Access to Router

Due to the fact that the router has an important role as the gateway between the network and Internet, access to device should be limited. This include of assigning to only authorized persons, with certain methods and from certain location only.

#### • Enabling access methods

Cisco routers support few methods of accessing them, but only console and telnet will be required.

- Enabling console Console is enabled by default, and will be the method of accessing router locally and physically. Console configurations will be done using line configuration at con 0.
- Enabling telnet

Telnet is a method used to access the router from network, so remotely the administrator can control the router. Telnet access is using virtual terminal (vty) line.

Configuration lines: vty 0 4 transport input telnet

#### • Enforcing authentication

Assigning access to the authorized persons will be done by enforcing authentication when users trying to log into the router.

• Defining local user names and passwords

Few pairs of user names and passwords are defined in the router for few administrators allowed to access the router.

Global configuration commands used:

username admin1 password [password1] username admin2 password [password2]

 Enforcing authentication to console access
 When user accessing the router through console, he will be asked user name and password. Only with the correct information, then he will be granted access.
 Line configuration commands:

```
line con 0
login local
```

• Enforcing authentication to telnet access Similar case here, user name and password will be asked from user to access the router.

Line configuration commands:

```
vty 0 4
login local
```

#### • Passwords

Passwords, as one element of authentication also need to be kept secret and difficult to guess and read.

Basic protection

Password should not be saved and displayed in clear, but at least should have some form of encryption. The below command should be used for password protection, although it is only give minimum protection using simple Vigenere cipher.

Global configuration command:

service password-encryption

• Enable secret

In order to enter privilege mode, which have more rights in performing administrative tasks on the router, additional password should be requested. This will form additional protection of access. Enable secret command should be use for this purpose. It is using MD5 for password hashing.

Global configuration command:

enable secret 5 [password]

#### • Filtering access to router

Only certain IP address will be allowed to connect to the router for configuration. Administrator is using only *giac-log* to access the router. As the firewall is performing the Static Network Address Translation, router would see its public address, 100.1.1.21. On the router, 100.1.1.21 will be the one allowed to do telnet to it. The following line will be added into the fastethernet0 access-list 100 before the last deny rule:

#### Logging

The router is configured to send logs to centralized Syslog server, which is *giac-log*. From the router, this server can be reach at IP address 100.1.1.21, which then translated by the firewall to its actual address. Violations against access list, which define with keyword log in each access list line as seen in the access list 100 and 101, will be sent to this Syslog server. Interface status changes and changes to the system configuration will also be sent.

Default logging level to syslog is used, which is informational. Configuration lines for logging:

logging 100.1.1.21

Logs being generated by the router will be time-stamped, to provide time information on it. The following is used for generating the time-stamp:

service timestamps log datetime localtime show-timezone

The complete router configuration can be seen on Appendix A.

## Firewall Security Policy

By using the design above and access requirements defined, filtering over traffic passing through the firewall will be done for:

- Outbound to Internet
- Inbound from Internet
- Internal traffic Internal users to giac-web
- Internal traffic Internal users to giac-db
- Internal traffic Internal users to giac-mail
- Internal traffic giac-mail to Domain Controllers (giac-svr1 and giac-svr2)
- Internal traffic giac-web to giac-db
- Router to giac-log
- Firewall to giac-log
- Firewall to giac-avs

The firewall, which is CyberGuard, supports both Packet Filtering and Application Proxy, so the filtering policy will be split into using both of the architecture. As much as possible, Proxy will be used, as it offers more granular control over the IP

packets. And the rest of the traffic types, where the proxies for them are not available, will be filtered using stateful/dynamic packet filtering.

Both proxy policy and packet filtering policy has to be defined in the same firewall Packet-Filtering Rules engine. Everything that needs to pass through, to or from the firewall has to be defined in the Packet-Filtering Rules.

Types of actions for the Packet-Filtering Rules are:

- Permit, to allow traffic using dynamic packet filtering
- Proxy, to allow traffic using proxy
- Deny, to deny traffic

Rules inspection sequence is from top to bottom, means which rule met first will be followed.

If same rules created for both packet filtering (permit rules) and proxy, sequence will take precedence.

The last rule in the packet filter is deny for every traffic, which implicitly built in into the engine.

For proxy policy, besides rules definition in the Packet-Filtering Rules, proxy service for the specific type of traffic has to be enabled, in order for the connections to be serviced using proxy. Additional application level filtering for the specific proxy can also be defined after that.

Specifically for proxy, rules definitions in the Packet-Filtering Rules vary based on the direction settings of each proxy enabled.

There are four definitions:

- Inbound To
   This is for proxying traffic from clients to the server in the internal side of the
   firewall. The clients need to connect explicitly to the firewall address in order to
   reach the server.
- Inbound Through This is for proxying traffic from clients to the server in the internal side of the firewall. The clients transparently use the server addresses to connect to it.
- Outbound To This is for proxying traffic from internal to external, with explicitly firewall address need to be used.
- Outbound Through This is for proxying traffic from internal to external transparently.

In defining the Packet-Filtering Rules, several definitions for host names and group names are created. This will help in the rules administration in a condition of IP addresses for certain hosts changed, only the host definition need to be changed, not individual rules with the changed IP addresses.

#### Host definition

Name	IP address
giac-router	100.1.1.17
giac-svr1	192.168.1.11
giac-svr2	192.168.1.12
giac-db	192.168.2.2
giac-mail	192.168.3.2
giac-web	192.168.4.2
giac-avs	192.168.5.2

Group definition

Name	Member
giac-users	192.168.1.128/25 🔊
giac-dc	Giac-svr1, giac-svr2

For hosts with Network Address Translation (NAT), the actual IP addresses of the hosts must be used instead of translated addresses, when being defined in the rules.

## Proxy filtering policy

Proxies available are limited to certain applications. In this case, traffic types that will be filtered using proxy are:

- FTP, outbound
- HTTP, outbound and inbound
- SMTP, outbound and inbound
- SSL, outbound and inbound

These proxies are servicing all access requirements between GIAC network and Internet, in which this will offer the best security for those accesses.

Filtering using proxy will offer better level of security. Firstly it is intercepting the communication between client and server, so no direct connection between them. The client will communicate first with the firewall then the firewall will open another connection to the server. Secondly, it is performing application level inspection, which done differently according to the application protocol types. This cannot be achieved by using stateful packet filtering.

#### FTP Proxy Policy

FTP Proxy is used to filter access of internal users when performing ftp connection to Internet. Outbound Through proxy is used, so the users will transparently do their accesses without any changes required on the client side.

FTP Proxy rules in the Packet-Filtering Rules for Outbound Through described below:

Туре	Service	Origin	Destination	Option
proxy	ftp/tcp	giac-users	ALL_EXTERNAL	

Several application level inspections are available for FTP Proxy. But the one required is only to enable CVP support so that every FTP connections will be scanned for possible hazardous contents. The FTP proxy will forward traffic to *giac-avs* using CVP connections for content scanning. If there are infected files, the anti virus server will try to disinfect them, but if failed they will be dropped.

Scanning will be done for both directions, files coming in and going out.

The following is the policy for FTP Proxy:

Configuration Options	Settings	Description	
Enable CVP	Yes	Enable CVP	
CVP Server	giac-avs	CVP server name/address	
address			
CVP Server port	18181	CVP server port to be contacted	
Scan inbound	Yes	Scan inbound files	
Scan outbound	Yes	Scan outbound files	
Disinfect	Yes	Try to disinfect files, if failed then drop	

#### HTTP Proxy Policy

HTTP Proxy is used with Inbound Through for inbound access for Internet users to come to GIAC web site. Inbound Through is used because the clients will be contacting *giac-web* using its own address, which is NAT address. This proxy will protect the web server of direct contact with external clients.

Access by internal users to *giac-web* will also be done using Inbound Through connections. Inbound proxy is used to perform filtering where there are defined servers that it has to protect. It doesn't matter whether the clients coming from external or internal interfaces.

Outbound access by internal users to connect to Internet will be using Outbound Through proxy which transparently proxies the connections. The use of proxy will be very useful to protect internal users from direct connections to Internet. Web is one of the most widely used protocols in the Internet, which also one of the largest source of hazardous contents. HTTP Proxy rules in Packet-Filtering Rules for Inbound Through:

Туре	Service	Origin	Destination	Option
proxy	http/tcp	ALL_EXTERNAL	giac-web	
proxy	http/tcp	giac-users	giac-web	

HTTP Proxy rules for Outbound Through:

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option
proxy	http/tcp	giac-users	ALL_EXTERNAL	
proxy	http/tcp	giac-avs	ALL_EXTERNAL	

With the Inbound Proxy used, the web server address protected by the proxy has to be defined. Filtering of HTTP commands to the web server, which are post, put and delete, can then be defined, whether to allow or block them.

Another important part is to have the web connection being scanned by the anti virus server using CVP, to allow removal of hazardous content. This can only be achieved if the connection is filtered using HTTP Proxy, and the CVP option is enabled. Scanning should be done for inbound and outbound files, and disinfecting of infected files is preferable.

HTTP Proxy policy is explained below.

Configuration Options	Settings	Description
Web Server Handler	Independent	The server reside outside of the firewall
Enable https throughput	Yes	Enable https:// proxy support
Enable ftp throughput	Yes	Enable ftp:// proxy support
Define Server		
Web Server	giac-web	Web server name/address protected by proxy
Allow post	No	Allow http post commands
Allow put	No	Deny http put commands
Allow delete	No	Deny http delete commands
Enable CVP	Yes	Enable CVP
CVP Server	giac-avs	CVP server name/address
address		
CVP Server port	18181	CVP server port to be contacted
Scan inbound	Yes	Scan inbound files
Scan outbound	Yes	Scan outbound files
Disinfect	Yes	Try to disinfect files, if failed then drop

#### SMTP Proxy Policy

SMTP Proxy is enabled for Inbound Through and Outbound Through. SMTP is used for email transfers between *giac-mail* and other SMTP servers in the Internet. SMTP Proxy will intercept connections for both directions, so there is no direct communication between the servers. This will also eliminate the needs of mail relay to secure the connection.

SMTP Proxy rules for Inbound Through:

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option
proxy	smtp/tcp	ALL_EXTERNAL	giac-mail	

SMTP Proxy rules for Outbound Through:

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option
proxy	smtp/tcp	giac-mail	ALL_EXTERNAL	

Mail server protected by the proxy should be defined, which is *giac-mail*. The proxy also allowing the use of alias file to map the email users existed in the server, so that if no match for the specific users, the email will be rejected by the firewall. But in this case, this filtering is not being used, so the alias file name will be set to none, and emails will be passed to the mail server.

The domain used by mail server, which is *giac.com*, is set here, so that only emails sent to recipients with email address of that domain being passed to the mail server. This feature will protect the mail server from being used as mail relay for spamming.

Lastly, as emails are considered as popular method of spreading harmful content, scanning against them is recommended and here will be done with CVP, for both directions, inbound and outbound. Disinfecting of files will be tried first if possible.

SMTP Proxy policy defined below:

Configuration Options	Settings	Description
Default Domain Name	giac.com	Default domain used by the outgoing email
Define Server		
Mail server	giac-mail	Mail server name/address protected by proxy
Alias file name	NONE	No alias file
Domains	giac.com	Allowed domain name for recipients
Pass mail for unaliased user	Yes	Pass emails for recipients not listed in the alias file
Enable CVP	Yes	Enable CVP
CVP Server	giac-avs	CVP server name/address

CVP Server port	18181	CVP server port to be contacted	
Scan inbound	Yes	Scan inbound files	
Scan outbound	Yes	Scan outbound files	
Disinfect	Yes	Try to disinfect files, if failed then drop	

#### SSL Proxy Policy

SSL Proxy is enabled for Inbound Through to protect access from Internet to *giac-web*. Similarly, access from internal users is also using this type of proxy. It is also enabled for Outbound Through for internal users to access through SSL to Internet.

SSL Proxy rules for Inbound Through:

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option
proxy	https/tcp	ALL_EXTERNAL	giac-web	
proxy	https/tcp	giac-users	giac-web	

SSL Proxy rules for Outbound Through:

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option
proxy	https/tcp	giac-users	ALL_EXTERNAL	

Since SSL connection is an encrypted connection, what the proxy can inspect on the traffic is very limited to the unencrypted portion. Basically what is being done is to break or intercept the connections, so that there are no direct communication between the client and the server.

Additionally for inbound proxy, server name or address protected by the proxy has to be defined

SSL Proxy policy described below:

Configuration Options	Settings	Description
Web server host	giac-web	Web server protected by SSL Proxy

## Packet Filtering Policy

Stateful packet filtering is used to filters traffic among the internal components of the network. Most of the protocols involved here are normally used only for internal communication in the private networks, no proxy are available for them and since they are internal, stateful packet filtering should be sufficient. Besides, stateful or dynamic packet filtering will give better performance for these LAN protocols, which are more resource hungry compare to those Internet traffic.

Packet filtering policy in the Packet-Filtering Rules is described below, according to the access requirements and the network design.

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option	
# Interna	l users to acc	ess giac-db			
permit	1433/tcp	giac-users	giac-db		
# Interna	l users to acc	ess giac-mail			
permit	135/tcp	giac-users	giac-mail	5	
permit	1026/tcp	giac-users	giac-mail		
permit	1027/tcp	giac-users	giac-mail	. 07	
permit	1028/tcp	giac-users	giac-mail		
# giac-ma	ail to access o	domain controlle	ers		
permit	53/udp	giac-mail	giac-dc 🛛 🔍	ENABLE_REPLY	
permit	53/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc 🦢		
permit	88/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc 🛛 🔊		
permit	88/udp	giac-mail	giac-dc 💦 🔊	ENABLE_REPLY	
permit	123/udp	giac-mail	giac-dc 🔊	ENABLE_REPLY	
permit	135/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc		
permit	389/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc		
permit	389/udp	giac-mail	giac-dc	ENABLE_REPLY	
permit	445/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc		
permit	3268/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc		
permit	1025/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc		
# giac-we	eb to access g	giac-db 💦 💎			
permit	1433/tcp	giac-web	giac-db		
# router t	o send syslog	to giac-log	_		
permit	514/udp	giac-router	giac-log		
# giac-lo	g to perform re	emote access t	o router		
permit	23/tcp	giac-log	giac-router		
# CVP rule					
permit	18181/tcp	FIREWALL	giac-avs		

In the packet filtering policy above, can be seen that host names are used instead of their IP addresses. This will be a more efficient approach, as names are easier to remember than addresses, and also if the IP addresses for these host names changed, only one reference inside the host tables need to be changed.

Seen also that in the option field, ENABLE\_REPLY is being used for UDP protocols. This option is a feature in the CyberGuard firewall, which used to enable the firewall to track sessions for connectionless protocols, such as UDP. For connection oriented protocols like TCP, it doesn't matter whether this is used or not, because these protocols already have built in functionality in tracking sessions. By default is not turned on, so for TCP traffic it will be left as default, while for UDP traffic it will be turned on. Exception here is for Syslog, since only one direction of traffic required, from client to syslog server, no ENABLE\_REPLY required.

There are two rules in the policy above, which are 53/udp and 53/tcp from *giac-mail* to *giac-dc*, used as DNS communication. These rules need to be specifically permitted, to allow *giac-mail* to communicate with DNS server in the *giac-dc*. Need to remember that *giac-mail* is a Windows domain member, so its name resolution must use DNS servers located in both of the Domain Controllers. This is important, since the firewall itself also serving as DNS servers, but *giac-mail* cannot directly use them as its DNS server.

Additionally, with the Proxies make use of CVP, a rule for firewall to communicate with CVP server (*giac-avs*) is created automatically.

## Split DNS

The firewall has the Split DNS feature, which being used for outgoing DNS resolution to Internet as well as hosting the Internet domain for *giac.com*.

Enabling this feature will also involve creating several automatically generated rules in the Packet-Filtering Rules to enable DNS traffic in and out of the network as necessary.

#### Servers Definition

Two DNS Servers will be activated when Split DNS is enabled. One is External DNS Server or Public Name Server and the other one is Internal DNS Server or Private Name Server.

IP addresses where these servers can be contacted are the addresses of the network interfaces of the Firewall. External network interfaces are used for External DNS Server, while the Internal network interfaces are used for Internal DNS Server. Unless only one interface is available for each server, which interfaces to respond to the DNS requests can be selected.

Туре	Interfaces	Host Name
External	100.1.1.18/28	giac-external
Internal	192.168.1.1/24	giac-internal

For external, only one interface is available, so it will be chosen. For internal, there are actually five interfaces, but only one chosen. Host Names here will be used as NS record for name server definition.

The Split DNS architecture is enforcing that the Internal DNS will always forward to External DNS for any request to Internet. Therefore, the forwarder address for the Internal DNS will be the External DNS address 100.1.1.18. Optional for External DNS, forwarder addresses can be configured to other DNS Servers. In this case, ISP DNS Servers will be used.

Limiting the ability of others to do zone transfer to the DNS servers is a security feature that will be used. For External, only Secondary DNS in the ISP will be allowed to do zone transfer. While for Internal, no zone transfer is allowed.

#### Zones and Hosts Information

Zones need to be defined for domains that the DNS servers are hosting. Two zones have to be created, one for External and one for Internal.

#### External Zone

On the External Name server, a zone will be created to host *giac.com* domain, where Internet users will refer to for name queries. This zone will be created automatically, since the Firewall is defined to use the *giac.com* as its domain name. Mail server host for mail exchange (MX record) and hosts definitions (A records) will also be defined.

Parameters	Value
Zone Name	giac.com
Туре	Primary
Mail Server	mail

Hosts definitions are explained in the table below.

Host Name	IP Address	Description
mail	100.1.1.19/28	Mail server, giac-mail
www	100.1.1.20/28	Web server, giac-web

Whenever requests come for *mail.giac.com* or *www.giac.com*, it will be translated accordingly to the respective IP addresses. Similarly, for request to email addresses with @giac.com, it will then be directed to the mail server address.

#### Internal Zone

Similar as External, the Firewall will create the *giac.com* zone automatically for Internal name server. The Internal name server will not host any hosts or mail server host information. It's only being used to relay the DNS request from DNS servers in the *giac-svr1* and *giac-svr2* to External DNS.

Parameters	Value
Zone Name	giac.com
Туре	Primary
#### Split DNS Rules

Enabling Split DNS will create rules automatically in the Packet-Filtering Rules. These rules will allow external users to contact only external DNS, represented by the external interfaces; internal users to only contact internal DNS.

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option
permit	domain/tcp	ALL_EXTERNAL	EXTERNAL_INTERFACES	
permit	domain/tcp	EXTERNAL_INTERFACES	ALL_EXTERNAL	
permit	domain/udp	ALL_EXTERNAL	EXTERNAL_INTERFACES	ENABLE_REPLY
permit	domain/udp	EXTERNAL_INTERFACES	ALL_EXTERNAL	ENABLE_REPLY
permit	domain/tcp	ALL_INTERNAL	INTERNAL_INTERFACES	
permit	domain/tcp	INTERNAL_INTERFACES	ALL_INTERNAL	
permit	domain/udp	ALL_INTERNAL	INTERNAL_INTERFACES	ENABLE_REPLY
permit	domain/udp	INTERNAL_INTERFACES	ALL_INTERNAL	ENABLE_REPLY
deny	domain/tcp	EVERYONE	EVERYONE	
deny	domain/udp	EVERYONE	EVERYONE	

Several descriptions of keywords used on the table above:

- ALL\_EXTERNAL hosts on the network(s) connected to the firewall interface(s) labeled External
- EXTERNAL\_INTERFACES firewall interfaces labeled External
- ALL\_INTERNAL hosts on the network(s) connected to the firewall interface(s) labeled Internal.
- INTERNAL\_INTERFACES firewall interfaces labeled Internal
- EVERYONE all network connected to the firewall and the firewall itself.

# Alerts and Activity Logs

Logging or auditing system in the firewall is configured to record activities of traffic passing through the firewall as well as generate alerts if some events happened on the firewall. Two types of logs are used, Alerts and Activity Logs.

Table below explains Alerts to be enabled on the firewall.

Alerts Enabled	Description	
Disk partition full	Detecting usage of disk	
Failed login attempts	Detecting unsuccessful login attempts	
Backet forwarding attacks	Detecting attempts to route inbound	
Facket forwarding attacks	packets through different route than usual	
Land attacks	Detecting Land attacks	
Ping of death attacks	Detecting Ping of death attacks	
TCP SYN flood attacks	Detecting TCP SYN flood attacks	
IP interface spoofing attempts	Detecting IP spoofing	

Network port scan attempts	Detecting network port scan	
File transmission blocked	Detecting file blocked by content scanning	
	software	
Audit archiving activity	Detecting archiving of logs activities	
VPN IKE alert	Detecting issue occur with IKE	
VPN IPSec alert	Detecting issue occur with IPSec	
VPN Interceptor alert	Detecting issue occur with ESP or AH	
-	session	

The above alerts will be set to send to:

- File alert files in the firewall
- Window alert window in the firewall
- Syslog syslog daemon in the firewall

Table below explains activity logs enabled on the firewall.

Activity Type	Description	
All packets scanned by	Packets compared against packet-filtering	
packet filter	rules	
Packets permitted	Packets permitted by the firewall	
Packets denied	Packets denied by the firewall	
Packets denied because no	Packets denied because they do not match	
rule matched	any rules	
Content scanning activity	CVP virus scanning to files	
FTP Proxy activity	FTP communication relayed by FTP proxy	
HTTP Proxy activity	HTTP communication relayed by HTTP	
	proxy	
SMTP Proxy activity	SMTP communication relayed by SMTP	
	proxy	
SSL Proxy activity	SSL communication relayed by SSL proxy	
VPN IKE activity	Activities associated with IKE	
VPN IPSec activity	Activities associated with IKE	
VPN Interceptor activity	Activities associated with ESP or AH	
	sessions	

The above activity logs will be set to send to:

- File activity log files in the firewall
- Syslog sending to Syslog server, *giac-log*, located at 192.168.5.3

With Syslog logging configured, additional rule will be added automatically to the Packet-Filtering Rules for the firewall to send syslog messages to Syslog server, *giaclog*, as follows:

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option
permit	syslog/udp	FIREWALL	giac-log	

# **VPN Security Policy**

The VPN infrastructure in GIAC Enterprise network is used to interconnect between the main network and the remote employees, including teleworkers and mobile employees, which are using their laptops or home PCs to connect to the GIAC network. It comprises of two components, VPN Gateway and VPN Hosts. VPN Gateway, which is the CyberGuard firewall, will be the endpoint of the VPN at the GIAC network, while VPN Hosts, which are CyberGuard VPN Clients, will be the endpoint of the VPN at the remote employees side.

In order for both sides of the endpoints to communicate each other, compatible policies must be set for both of them. Before establishing the connections, both parties will negotiate on the communication parameters, and only with the same policies set, then they will reach an agreement of policy to be used for data transmission.

## **General VPN Policy**

As mentioned above, to establish communication on both endpoints protected by VPN, both sides must have compatible policy applied for VPN. Policy for VPN can be divided into four parts: IKE, IPSec, Protected Networks and Filtering Rules.

#### IKE Policy

Prior to establishing the data transfer using IPSec, Internet Key Exchange (IKE) protocol will be activated first to exchange keys and other parameters for IPSec communication. During the data transfer using IPSec, with the selected time, IKE will also be activated again to do the same thing. The following parameters are used for IKE communications.

Parameters	Value
Pre-shared Secret	XXXXXXXXX
Encryption Algorithm	3DES
Hash Algorithm	SHA1
Diffie-Hellman Group	2
SA Lifetime (seconds)	10800
IKE Mode	Main Mode
PFS Group	2
	ParametersPre-shared SecretEncryption AlgorithmHash AlgorithmDiffie-Hellman GroupSA Lifetime (seconds)IKE ModePFS Group

#### **IPSec Policy**

Few parameters for encrypting the communication by IPSec must be agreed between the two endpoints. These parameters are communicated by IKE.

Parameters	Value	
SA Mode	Tunnel Mode	
Protocol	ESP	
Encryption Algorithm	3DES-CBC	
Authentication Algorithm	HMAC-SHA1	
SA Lifetime (seconds)	28800	

Tunnel mode has to be chosen because the VPN type is Gateway to Host, where the gateway is not the end entity of the VPN. While to provide confidentiality of the data transmission, ESP is chosen, because it will encrypt the whole packets.

#### **Protected Networks**

With VPN, there are private networks hidden inside the communication between the VPN endpoints. Behind the VPN Gateway, normally there are few private networks, while with VPN Host, only one private network, which is the host itself. When defining VPN tunnel, these private or protected networks has to be defined, or else it will not be reachable through the tunnel.

Protected networks behind VPN Gateway can be defined based on the access requirements in the previous section:

- 192.168.1.0/24
- 192.168.2.0/24
- 192.168.3.0/24

For VPN Hosts, virtual addresses will be created used as protected network. These addresses are assigned one to each hosts, where one subnet or more can be used depend to the number of VPN users. When communication occurs among hosts through VPN, these virtual addresses are the addresses used to represent the VPN Hosts.

One subnet is assigned for virtual addresses: 192.168.10.0/24

## Filtering Rules

With Gateway to Host VPN configuration, the VPN Hosts are exposed to the Internet, and beyond the protection of the perimeter defense of the network. Limiting the traffic that allowed passing through the VPN tunnel to the internal network is one of the way to enforce more control over these hosts. This is can be done on the VPN Gateway, which in this case using Packet-Filtering Rules of the CyberGuard firewall. More on this will be explained on the VPN Gateway policy.

On the VPN Hosts, several policies can be defined for different type of traffic. Normally will be VPN traffic and normal Internet traffic. VPN traffic will be secured using the VPN

tunnels policy, while Internet traffic can be controlled whether to be passed or to be blocked.

When the VPN Hosts are communicating using VPN, other Internet traffic can be blocked so that only pure VPN traffic is active on the hosts. This will increase the level of security.

# VPN Gateway Policy

Policy for VPN Gateway on the Firewall will comprise of four parts, IKE Protection Strategy, IPSec Protection Strategy, VPN Secure Channels and VPN Packet-Filtering Rules.

### IKE Protection Strategy

This part will determine policy to be used in IKE communication between the Gateway and the Hosts. The policy here will follow the IKE policy defined above.

Parameters	Value
Protection Strategy	giac-ike
Name	
Encryption Algorithm	3DES
Hash Algorithm	SHA1
Diffie-Hellman Group	2
SA Lifetime (seconds)	10800

## IPSec Protection Strategy

This part is determining policy used for encrypting data in IPSec connections, following the IPSec policy above.

Parameters	Value	
Protection Strategy	giac-ipsec	
Name		
Encryption Algorithm	3DES-CBC	
Authentication Algorithm	HMAC-SHA1	
SA Lifetime (seconds)	28800	

## VPN Secure Channels

This policy will define what type of VPN channels or tunnels will be used, as well as key exchange characteristics.

#### **Channel Information**

Only one channel or tunnel will be defined here, with peer type is Host. When Host peer type is used, interface on the Firewall where the Host will connect to it will be used, instead of defining the IP address of that Host. This is because VPN Host can connect to the Gateway from any IP address in the Internet. Key exchange method linked to each tunnel will also be defined here, which in this case is using IKE. IKE protection strategy that will be used is specified here.

Parameters	Value	
Channel Name	giac_to_hosts	
Peer Type	Host	
Interface Name	dec0 🔊	
Establish Keys Using	IKE	
Preshared Secret	XXXXXXXXX	
IKE Protection Strategy	giac-ike	
IKE Mode	Main Mode	
PFS Group	2	

#### Peer Protected Networks

As mentioned above, protected network(s) of the peer need to be defined to establish VPN tunnel communication. From the Gateway point of view, its peer will be the virtual addresses of the Hosts.

Parameters	Value
Channel Name	giac_to_hosts
Protected Network Address	192.168.10.0/24

#### VPN Packet-Filtering Rules

Activating VPN on the firewall will be completed by defining the rules in the Packet-Filtering Rules for traffic to pass through VPN tunnels. To make these rules protected by VPN, Protect using IPSec option for each of them need to be activated. If this option is selected, IPSec parameters can then be defined.

Rules definitions for VPN traffic, created based on the access requirements, are presented in the table below. In the Option field, UDP traffic will be using ENABLE\_REPLY, explained in the Packet Filtering policy above.

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option
# VPN us	sers to conne	ct to giac-db		
permit	1433/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-db	
# VPN users to connect to giac-mail				
permit	135/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-mail	
permit	1026/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-mail	
permit	1027/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-mail	

permit	1028/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-mail	
# VPN users to connect to domain controllers				
permit	1029/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	
permit	53/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	
permit	53/udp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	ENABLE_REPLY
permit	88/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	
permit	88/udp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	ENABLE_REPLY
permit	123/udp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	ENABLE_REPLY
permit	135/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	5
permit	389/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	
permit	389/udp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	ENABLE_REPLY
permit	445/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	
permit	3268/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc	

Protect using IPSec option policy will be created similarly for all the traffic above, since they will all use the same IPSec policy, as shown in the table below.

Parameters	Value
IPSec Protection	giac-ipsec
Strategy	Y
SA Granularity	Host

SA Granularity will determine how the Security Associations (SAs) will be created. Since Host is used here, then an SA will be created for a host communication with its peer, regardless how many protocols used between them.

The Firewall will be able to automatically match the specific rules with the channel/tunnel they should be using. This auto detection will only work if the rules and the channel parameters are set correctly, as what has been defined here. However, manual selection of channel can also be performed if required.

# VPN Host Policy

CyberGuard VPN Client is installed on the remote users PC or laptop as VPN Host. Policy of the VPN Host will be applied according to the VPN Policy to communicate with the VPN Gateway.

Following the term used by the CyberGuard VPN Client, policy of the VPN Host will be divided into Connections, with each Connection represent each destination host(s) behind the VPN gateway that the VPN Host need to connect to.

Connection	Connection Security	Description
giac-db	Secure	VPN connection to giac-db
giac-mail	Secure	VPN connection to giac-mail
giac-dc	Secure	VPN connection to giac-dc
Other	Non-secure	Other non-secure traffic to
Connections		Internet

Each Connection, except for *Other Connections*, consists of same policy parameters, divided into three parts, Remote Party Identity and Addressing, My Identity and Security Policy. Figure 2 shows a screen shot of the VPN Client.

Security Policy Editor - CyberCuard VDN Client	
File Edit Ontions Help	
Elle       Edit       Options       Help         Image: Security Policy       Image: Security Policy         Image: Securi	Connection Security Secure Non-secure Block Remote Party Identity and Addressing ID Type IP Address 192.168.2.2 Popt All Protocol All Connect using Secure Bateway Tunnel ID Type IP Address
	Click here to find out about program add-ons.

Figure 2: VPN Client

## Remote Party Identity and Addressing

Two areas need to be defined here. First is the identity of the destination in the internal or private network behind the VPN gateway, which are the other endpoint from the VPN Host point of view, defined here as Remote Party Identity. Second is the identity of the VPN Gateway that the VPN Host will connect to, defined here as Secure Gateway Tunnel.

Each of the Connection will have different destinations in the internal network behind the Gateway, but will connect to the same Gateway.

Connection	Remote Party Identity			Secure Gateway Tunnel	
Connection	ID Type	Value	Protocol	ID Type	Value
giac-db	IP Address	192.168.2.2	All	IP Address	100.1.1.18
giac-mail	IP Address	192.168.3.2	All	IP Address	100.1.1.18
giac-dc	IP Address	192.168.1.11-	All	IP Address	100.1.1.18
_	Range	192.168.1.12			

### My Identity

Identity of the VPN Host connecting to the VPN Gateway will be determined here. This is how the VPN Gateway will differentiate of which client connecting to it. This is shown in Figure 3.

Ele Edit Options Help	CYBER	
Network Security Policy My Connections Generations My Identity Control Control Con	My Identity Select Cgrifficate None ID Type F IP Address V Any Virtual Adapter Red Internal Network IP Address 192 Internet Interface Name Any IP Addr Any	Pre-Shared Key

Figure 3: My Identity

Pre-Shared Key will be set here, with the same value of what the VPN Gateway has. VPN Host will use a Virtual IP address in the VPN communication, and the VPN Gateway will create the tunnel and filter the traffic based on this Virtual IP addresses. All the Connections in the same VPN Host will use same Virtual IP address. Different VPN Hosts will be assigned different Virtual IP address. One subnet, 192.168.10.0/24 is assigned for Virtual IP addresses of VPN Hosts.

## Security Policy

Security Policy will determine the IKE and IPSec properties used to communicate with the Gateway. All the Connections in a VPN Host, as well as all the VPN Hosts, will use the same Security Policy. Security Policy further divided into two parts, Authentication

(Phase 1) for IKE policy and Key Exchange (Phase 2) for IPSec policy. Figure 4 shows options for Security Policy.

Security Policy Editor - CyberGuard VPN Client	
Ele       Edit Options Help         Network Security Policy         Image: Security Policy         Image	Security Policy Security Policy Select Phase 1 Negotiation Mode Main Mode Aggressive Mode Use Manual Keys Security Construction Security Policy Security Policy Securit

Figure 4: Security Policy

Several parameters for IKE negotiation are defined at the Security Policy level as well as at the Authentication (Phase 1), as shown in Figure 5.

At the Security Policy level, defined the Phase 1 Negotiation Mode as Main Mode, and Enabling Perfect Forward Secrecy (PFS) using Diffie-Hellman Group 2.

While at the Authentication (Phase 1) level, defined the values as follows:

Parameters	Value
Authentication Method	Pre-Shared
	Key
Encryption Algorithm	3DES
Hash Algorithm	SHA-1
SA Lifetime (Seconds)	10800

Security Policy Editor - CyberGuard VPN Client Eile Edit Options Help	×
Network Security Policy My Connections giac db Security Policy Authentication (Phase 1) Proposal 1 Proposal 1 Proposal 1 Security Policy Proposal 1 Other Connections	Authentication Method and Algorithms Authentication Method Pre-Shared Key Encryption and Data Integrity Algorithms Encrypt Alg Triple DES Hash Alg SHA-1 Seconds SA Life Seconds 10800 Key Group Diffie Hellman Group 2

Figure 5: IKE

IPSec policy, defined in the Key Exchange (Phase 2) level, as shown in Figure 6, has the following values:

Parameters	Value
SA Life (Seconds)	28800
Compression	None
Protocol	ESP
Encryption Algorithm	3DES
Hash Algorithm	SHA-1
Encapsulation	Tunnel

Network Security Policy My Connections G My Identity Security Policy C My Identity Propresel 1	IPSec Protocols Seconds KBytes SA Life Seconds 28800 Compression None
Key Exchange (Phase 2) Proposal 1 My Identity Bescurity Policy Bescurity Policy Bescurity Policy	✓ Encapsulation Protocol (ESP)         Encrypt Alg         Hagh Alg         SHA-1         Encapsulation         Tunnel
Uther Connections	<u>Authentication Protocol (AH)</u> <u>Hash Alg</u> SHA-1 <u>Fincapsulation</u> Tunnel

Figure 6: IPSec

#### **Other Connections**

Other Connections (Figure 7) will represent other traffic not specified in either one of the Connections, such as normal Internet traffic. The policy for this Other Connections is either Non-secure or Block. Non-secure can be used when there is a need to get normal Internet traffic when this VPN Client is active. Block can be used to block normal Internet traffic when VPN Client is connecting through VPN tunnel to the VPN Gateway, in which this action will secure the host for only talking through VPN.

Security Policy Editor - CyberGuard VPN Client	
Eile Edit Options Help	
Image: Security Policy         My Connections         My Identity         Security Policy         My Identity         Security Policy         My Identity         Security Policy         My Identity         Security Policy         Security Policy	Connection Security         Secure         Non-secure         Block
	click here to find out about program addrons.

Figure 7: Other Connections

# **Firewall Packet-Filtering Rules**

The Firewall is used to apply both Firewall security policy and VPN security policy. Both of these policies are applied to a single Packet-Filtering Rules engine that inspects the rules using top to bottom sequence. Order of the rules is important to ensure no contradicting situation where the security or functional intention of the traffic using the rules is not met. Further analysis is required since many components are defined, which are proxies rules, packet filtering rules, Split DNS rules and VPN rules. Some of these rules like in proxies and Split DNS are created automatically, which placed in the certain area of the Packet-Filtering Rules.

Generally, manually created rules can be placed anywhere in the Packet-Filtering Rules with the rules sequence applied. However, there are recommended placement for these rules, which are above the automatic generated rules. There are pointers in the configuration GUI for Packet-Filtering Rules on where to place the rules.

Placement of the rules can be done by per group basis, which is using the following sequence accordingly:

- 1. Packet filtering policy rules
- 2. VPN policy rules
- 3. Split DNS rules
- 4. Proxies rules

Packet filtering policy rules should go first, since those are involving hosts in the LAN with Microsoft Windows environment, which are very noisy and will be very frequently used.

VPN policy rules follow in second, where they use similar kind of traffic as in LAN, but less users involved and smaller bandwidth of WAN link compare to LAN.

Next are Split DNS rules, placed automatically by the firewall, below the manually added rules.

And lastly, proxy filter rules, placed automatically by the firewall, below the Split DNS rules. These rules will then being edited according to proxy policies.

The last rule will be deny everything else, as shown in the table below:

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option
deny	ALL	EVERYONE	EVERYONE	ENABLE_REPLY

Full Packet-Filtering Rules policy can be seen on Appendix B.

## **Firewall Tutorial**

Besides its main function to filter traffic either using Proxy or Packet Filtering, the firewall here is also used for DNS Server as well as VPN gateway. This tutorial section will cover only the main function, filtering of traffic. Screen shots included later are taken from CyberGuard Firewall Manuals<sup>7</sup>. Tutorial will explain on how to implement the policy described in the Firewall Security Policy section.

Configuration of the CyberGuard firewall is done through its Graphical User Interface (GUI), which uses X-Window. Locally, can be done by using monitor, keyboard and mouse connected to the appliance.

As shown in figure 8, the GUI consists of menu bar with four main configuration menus: **System**, **Configuration**, **Reports** and **Tools**. Additionally there is also Online Help available.



Figure 8: CyberGuard Firewall Main Menu

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Due to the difficulty of taking the screen shots from the firewall, they are taken from the manuals, where they may not reflecting the exact configuration discussed

Under each of the menu on the menu bar, there are options/features that can be chosen to configure the firewall, as shown in Figure 9. Each of the options, once chosen, will be showing the configuration window for that particular option.



Figure 9: Configuration menus

Several characteristics of the configuration window, explained below:

- Every time there are changes on the configuration, the configuration must be saved before changes can take effect. This saving of configuration will be done on per window basis. Each window will have **Save** button, to save the configuration changes, which will change color to yellow when there are new changes on that particular window. If no changes, this button will be grayed out.
- Few windows will have Save and Use buttons. Both buttons will grayed out for no changes, and turn to yellow when there are new changes. For these window, Save will only save the configuration, but will not apply the changes to the current running configuration, until firewall being rebooted. To apply to the current running configuration Use button will be used.
- On each configuration window, there are fields, which either yellow or white color. Yellow color fields are compulsory fields that have to be filled in. White color fields are optional fields.

# Packet-Filtering Rules

This configuration window, as shown in Figure 10, is the main component where all the traffic will be controlled whether they allowed to pass the firewall, as well as how they going to be filtered.

			Packet-Filtering	Rules		4
Bave	Revert Use	View Expand	led Rules	Close <u>Wi</u>	ndaw	?
Type Ser	vice Packel	l Origin	Packet Destin	ation	Options	,
Provy parame provy flp/t provy flp/t pernit flp/t pernit flp/t pernit flp/t pernit flp/t control Manage	ters (tp): inToFirev top ALL_E top FIREW top ALL_I) top FIREW toxy Rules tenent Rules (adda	val outroPirewali XTERNAL ALL ITERNAL ALL ALL	FIREWALL bugs FIREWALL ALL_EXTERNA	NL rd GUD	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100	
Hide Editor	Insert Dup	licate Cut	сору	Pasta	Delete	
Basic Prov Type () Pemit () Provy () Deny () Comment	Times RPC Fort or 3 Packet Packet Dest Timeout (se TCP SVM Timeout (se	Service Jip/icp Origin JALL_EX Institut FREWA conds) ] 85400 L Flood ]	TERNAL LL ⊲>	11 7	N N N	<ul> <li>Audit these packets</li> <li>Enable reples</li> <li>Force port watching</li> <li>Validate source address</li> <li>Apply to established connections</li> <li>Peterd against TCP SYN flood</li> <li>Protect using IPSec</li> </ul>
Convent						⊲ Besic >

Figure 10: Packet-Filtering Rules Window

As mentioned earlier in front, the order of the rules is important because the firewall will inspect the traffic by using top to down approach. The last rule will be deny everything, which built in into the firewall engine. Since this firewall is stateful firewall, only one direction for traffic need to be specified, which is from who will initiate the connection.

For this section, only **Basic** page that will be explained, since only this part is relevant to the Firewall policy created for GIAC Enterprise.

The options shown in the **Basic** page is applied for each individual rule. So every rule can have different kind of configuration. New rule is created by first choose the location for that rule, then either use **Insert**, **Duplicate**, or **Cut**, **Copy** or **Paste** buttons to configure the rule.

**Type** radio buttons are used to determine what kind of action that the specific rules will be doing.

- Permit, to allow traffic using dynamic packet filtering
- **Proxy**, to allow traffic using proxy
- **Deny**, to deny traffic
- **Comment**, to make the specific line commented or to be used for documentation

**Port or Service** field is used to define what kind of protocol will be associated with the specific rule. The notation used here is *service[/protocol]*. There are number of ways to fill this field:

- Using keywords of services available in the drop down list, such as http/tcp, domain/udp, etc.
- Using group of services (must be defined in Grouping window). This can be done by either type the group them manually, or select it from the drop down list. Automatically, every time group of services created, they will be added into this drop down list.
- Using numbers, which follow the ports number and/or protocols number standard. This is especially useful when defining port or protocol not listed in the firewall. Example: 135/tcp, ALL/50
- Using range of ports, such as 137-139/udp. The ports must be in sequence.

**Packet Origin** and **Packet Destination**, as their names imply, will be determining in which direction the traffic passing the firewall will be filtered.

In the drop down list, there are several keywords available:

- ALL\_INTERNAL, referring to hosts on the network(s) connected to the firewall interface(s) labeled Internal.
- ALL\_EXTERNAL, referring to hosts on the network(s) connected to the firewall interface(s) labeled External.
- *device\_*NETWORK, such as dec0\_NETWORK, dec1\_NETWORK, etc, referring to hosts on the network connected to the specific firewall interface.
- FIREWALL, referring to local host of the firewall.
- EVERYONE, referring to all network connected to the firewall and the firewall itself.

Besides the existing keyword, the following values can also be entered:

- Group of Hosts/Networks type. These groups will be added automatically into the drop down list, once they are created in the Grouping window.
- Host names, referring to host names created in Host Names window. This has to be entered manually and need to be an existing hosts definition in the Host Names window.
- IP address, which the individual IP addresses.
- Networks, referring to Network addresses and their masks. For example: 192.168.1.0/255.255.255.0 or 192.168.1.0/24

Several other options are turned on by default when creating a new rule:

- Audit these packets, enable the firewall to log hits against that specific rule.
- Validate source address, enable the firewall to check whether the incoming packets are coming from the correct interfaces. This being used to defend against IP spoofing.

Other option that needs to be enabled for certain traffic is **Enable replies**. This will be required for UDP traffic, to enable the firewall apply the state to them. For TCP this is not required, since TCP already has mechanism of determining sessions. This option is explained in the Firewall Security Policy, Packet Filtering Policy section as the ENABLE\_REPLY option.

Accordingly, all rules for Packet-Filtering Rules from the Firewall Security Policy and VPN Security Policy defined in the previous section will be placed in this Packet-Filtering Rules window, either manually or automatically.

## **SmartProxies**

**SmartProxies** window, shown in Figure 11, is the place to configure proxy services. Proxies have to be enabled from here before they can be used to filter traffic.

		SmartF	Hapkie b				
46 3	Save Revent Use Close Wind	om					2
Provy		Enable Proxy Service	Inbound To Firewall	Inbound Through Firewal	Outbound To Firewall	Outbound Through Firewall	Update Packet-Filter Bales
FTP	File Transfer Pretocal 2005	) 🖌	V	*	*		<b>V</b>
Gopher	Gopher Protocol	) 🗑	×	¥			×
HTTP	Hyperted Transfer Protocol	) 🔳	×		×		<b>R</b>
LDAF	Lightweight Directory Access 255	) 🕷	<b>N</b>	×	×	×	<b>x</b>
LDE	Load Equalizer	) 🕷					<b>R</b>
NNTP	Network News Transfer Protecol 🛛 🐉	) 🛒	R	¥	×		<b>R</b>
Notes	Lotus Noter 👫	) 🛒					<b>R</b>
PG	Pot Guard 24	) 🕷	×	*	×	×	R 1
RA	RealAutio Protocol 🌱 🐧	) 🕷					<b>R</b>
Flogin	Remote Login 244	) 🕷	×	×	×		×
SIMTP	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol 📫	) 🔳	×	×		×	R 17
Hide O	iptions						
Setup	Users Sessions Messages	CMP					
🕷 AID	wauthenticated FTP Bervar Jipserv						
M Alb	w anonymous FTP Server Janosserv						
Inac	ctive Session Timeout (seconds) [300						
🗑 Aut	henticate inbaund						
🗑 Aut	henticate outbound						
File Tr	ransfer Protocol					⊲ Setup	2

Figure 11: SmartProxies Window

On the **SmartProxies** window can be seen that there are two main parts of the window. The top part is the list of proxies available, with check boxes configuration options. The bottom part contain configuration that will change accordingly every time different proxy is highlighted on the top part. If for example FTP Proxy is highlighted on the top part, the bottom part will show configuration options for FTP Proxy, same thing goes for other proxies.

The first step to do in configuring proxy is to choose which proxy to be enabled, which available on the list on the top part of the window.. This can be done, by checking the **Enable Proxy Service** check box for each individual proxy. After that, choosing the directions, whether to use **Inbound To Firewall**, **Inbound Through Firewall**, **Outbound To Firewall** or **Outbound Through Firewall**. Definition of these terms has already being covered on the firewall policy section.

**Update Packet-Filter Rules** check boxes are used to automatically create rules in the Packet Filtering Rules associated with each proxy enabled and the type of that proxy,

Inbound and/or Outbound, To and/or Through. These rules can then be seen in the **Packet-Filtering Rules** window.

Generally, the rules created are very generic, as typically described below:

Inbound To

Туре	Service	Origin	Destination
proxy	service	ALL_EXTERNAL	FIREWALL
permit	service	FIREWALL	server

• Inbound Through

Туре	Service	Origin	Destination
proxy	service	ALL_EXTERNAL	server

• Outbound To

Туре	Service	Origin	Destination
proxy	service	ALL_INTERNAL	FIREWALL
permit	service	FIREWALL	ALL_EXTERNAL

• Outbound Through

Туре	Service	Origin	Destination
proxy	service	ALL_INTERNAL	ALL_EXTERNAL

As they are very generic, changes can then be done in later step from **Packet-Filtering Rules** window to tighten them. After changes being done manually in the **Packet-Filtering Rules** window, **Update Packet-Filter Rules** check boxes should be unchecked when any further changes are being done on the **SmartProxy** window. If these are still checked, then the manual changes in the **Packet-Filtering Rules** window will be replaced by the automatic generated rules.

Although the automatic generated rules are generic rules, they are useful to be used as guidelines when creating rules for proxies. It will help in determining what kind of rules required for what kind of proxies.

The second step is to configure each proxy with its specific configuration options, which shown on the bottom part of the window. The proxies are inspecting traffic at application level, so each of them will inspect different things based on what kind of application protocols they are for.

With the two steps above, proxy configuration in the **SmartProxies** window is complete. The last step will be to go to **Packet-Filtering Rules** window to edit the rules created for proxies.

### FTP Proxy Configuration

In the Firewall policy, FTP Proxy will be used in Outbound Through configuration and only CVP configuration need to be changed. The rest of the configuration can be left as default values. Configuration options for FTP Proxy are shown in Figure 12.

		Smarth	<sup>a</sup> KONGED				
49 S	Save Revert Use Close Win	dovi					
Prony		Enable Procy Service	Inbound To Firewall	Inbound Through Firewal	Outbound To Firewall	Outbound Through Firewall	Update Packet-Filter Rales
FTP	File Transfer Protocal	a) 💌	•	-	*	-	1
Gopher	Gopher Protocol	() 🕷	×	*			R
HTTP	Hyperted Transfer Protocol	ŭ <b>π</b>	W	×	×		×
LDAF	Lightweight Directory Access 21	N 🕷	₩.	×	R	×	<b>R</b>
LDE	Load Equalizer	9 🖬 🖉					<b>R</b>
NNTP	Network News Transfer Profecol 244	10 💌	<b>₩</b>	*	<b>R</b>		<b>*</b>
Notes	Lotus Noter	9 🔳					<b>R</b>
PG	Pot Guard 👬	ñ 💌	×	*	×		×
R.A	RealAutio Protocol 😽	5) 💌					×
Flogin	Remote Login 🕂	🚯 🔳	<b>N</b>		×		×
Ch (770	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol	S) 🖉					
Hide O	lations		•				
Hida O Setup	iptions     Usens   Sessions   Messages	) ove )	-			-	
Hida O Setap	ngtions Users Sessions Messages nv authenticated FTP Server Titpserv	) cve		-			
Hida O Setup F Allo	nytions Users Sessions Messages av authenticated FTP Server (Tipperv av aronymour FTP Server (and serv	) cw= )		-			
Hide C Setup V Allo Inco	Interes Sesaiens Messages v autherticided FTP Server Troorv v anonymous FTP Server Janosserv ctive Session Trecout (second) Jaco	) cvp )		-			
Hitse O Settep F Allo M Allo	Iptions Sessions Messages Avauthanticated FTP Server Pipperv Avaronymous FTP Server Janasserv dive Session Texeout (second) Jaco hendicate inforund	i) over i		-			
Hide C Setup F Alto M Alto M Aut	Intrines Sessions Messages av authenticated FTP Server (hpperv av authenticated FTP Server (anaisserv avaronymour FTP Server (anaisserv dive Session Tresout (seconds) (and henticate inbound	) cve )					

Figure 12: FTP Proxy Configuration Options

To configure the FTP Proxy, from the **SmartProxies** window, **FTP** should be highlighted. The appropriate settings on the proxy line should be chosen accordingly. **Enable Proxy Service**, **Outbound Through Firewall** and **Update Packet-Filter Rules** at the FTP line are checked. With the FTP highlighted, on the bottom part of the window, can be seen five tabs for FTP Proxy configurations, **Setup**, **Users**, **Sessions**, **Messages** and **CVP**.

#### FTP Setup Page

In the Setup page, shown in Figure 12, the two check boxes Allow authenticated FTP and Allow anonymous FTP will be left un-checked, since these are only to be used with inbound FTP. Same thing goes for Authenticate inbound check box. Authenticate outbound can be used to add extra authentication for users before they are able to perform FTP to external FTP server, but in this case it will be left unchecked, because it is not required here.

#### **FTP Users Page**

This page is used to lists users allowed to perform FTP operations, as shown in Figure 13.

		Snarth	hovies				
÷	Save Revert Use Close Win	dow					Г
nexy		Enable Proxy Service	inbound To Firewall	inbound Through Firewall	Outbound To Firewall	Outbound Through Firewal	Update Packet-Filter Rules
TP	File Transfer Protocol 244	N 🖌	•	•	•	•	*
opher	Gopher Protocol	8) 💌	×	N	[]	¥	<b>x</b>
ITTP	Hypertext Transfer Protocol 25	8 💌	M	M	M	×	R
DAP	Lightweight Directory Access 215	8 🖬	×	×	M	×	
DE	Load Equalizer	9 🖬 🖉	12	[]	[]	[]	<b>N</b>
INTP	Network News Transfer Protocol 21	8 <b>a</b>	R	R	R	<b>N</b>	
lotes	Latus Nates	9 M	[47]	[]	[]		R.
G	Port Guard 🕂	8 🖬 🕺	×	×	×	×	
IA	RealAudio Protocol 🔫	9 🖬 🖉		[]	52		<b>R</b>
llogin	Remote Login 🔁	8 <b>a</b>	<b>F</b>	R	N	<b>N</b>	<b>R</b>
MTP	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol	9 🖬	R	R	[]		
Hide O	ptions						
Hide O Setup	pptions	CVP					
Hide O Setup User	plions   Visers   Sessions   Messages	CVP					Operations
Hide C Setup User dillo	vptions Users Sessions Messages on DELE, RNTD, STOR, DuD.;	CVP	D,XFND,CD	UP,XCUP,I	ΨωD,ΧΡωD,	ABOR, ALLO,	Operations HELP, LIST, MOI
Hide O Setup User dillo guest	Users Sessions Messages     Users REF. PMTD. STOR, Dum,     RNPR, PMTD. STOR, STOR,     STO	CVP	D,XFND,CD	UP.XCUP.) MKD.RMD.)	PWD,XPWD, RND,CDUP	ABOR, ALLO, XCUP, PWD,	Operations HELP, LIST, MOI XPUD, ABOR, ALI
Hide O Setup User dillo guest jorn kole	Visera Sessions Messages     Usera Sessions Messages     No. DELE, RNTO, STOR, DUD,     RNFR, RNTO, STOR, STOU,     APPE, DELE, RNFR, RNTO,     OPPE, DELE, RNTO, STOR, STOU	CVP	D,XRMD,CD CUD,KKD,X RMD,XRMD, CUD,KKD,X	UP.XCUP,M MKD.RMD,J MKD.RMD,J MKD.RMD.J	PLE, XPUD, (RND, CDUP (RND, XPU)	ABOR, ALLO, XCUP, PUD, XCUP, PUD	Operations HELP, LIST, MOI XPHD, ABOR, AL 10, HELP, LIST, P XPHD, ABOR, AL
Hide C Setup User dillo guest joon kyle phyli	Visers Sessions Messages     Users Sessions Messages     RHFR, RHTD, STOR, DMD,     RHFR, RHTD, STOR, STOU,     APPE, DLLE, RHFR, RHTD,     APPE, DLE, RHFR, RHTD,     APPE, DLE, RHFR, RHTD, STOR,     APPE, DLE, RHFR, RHTD,     APPE, RHTD, STOR, STOR, RHTD,     APPE, RHTD, STOR, RHTD,     APPE,	CVP CVD, MKD, RM SYST, CMD, XI STOR, STOU, STOU, CMD, XI RNTD, STOR,	D,XRMD,CD CWD,MKD,XX RMD,XRMD,X STOU,SYST	UP.XCUP,M MKD,RMD,J CDUP,XCU MKD,RMD,J ,CUD,XCU	RUD, XPWD, KRND, CDUP KRND, CDUP KRND, CDUP D, NKD, XMK	ABOR, ALLO , XCUP, PUD, D, ABOR, ALL D, ABOR, ALL XCUP, PUD, D, RMD, XRM	Operations HELP, LIST, MOI XPVD, ABOR, ALI XPVD, ABOR, ALI XPVD, ABOR, ALI 0, CDUP, XCUP, PV
Hide O Setup User dillo guest jopn kgle phyli DEFAU	Users         Sessions         Messages           In         IELE, PNTO, STOR, Ox02, S           RNFR, PNTO, STOR, STOU, APPE, DELE, FNFR, BNTO, APPE, DELE, STOR, END, NETR, ILT         IELE, STOR, STOU, NETR, NETR, S	CVP CVD, MKD, RM SYST, CND, X STOR, STOU, STOU, CND, XO RNTO, STOR, I MD, X940, XM	D,XRND,CD RMD,XKD,X RMD,XKD,X STDU,SYST, KD,CWD,XC	UP.XCUP, MKD,RMD, CDUP,XCU MKD,RMD, CMD,XCW MKD,RMTO,1	FWD, XPWD, KPND, CDUP KPND, CDUP C, FND, XPW KPND, CDUP D, FNC, APPE	ABOR, ALLO, .XCUP, PUD, .XCUP, PUD, .XCUP, PUD, D, PMD, XPMD	Operations HELP, LIST, MOI LO, HELP, LIST, M LO, HELP, LIST, M XPMD, ABOR, AL D, CDUP, XCUP, PL
Hide O Setup User dillo guest jann kyls phyli DEFAU	Users         Sessions         Messages           O         Users         Sessions         Messages           O         DELE, RNTO, STOR, Dub, S         RNFR, RNTO, STOR, STOU, APPE, DELE, RNFR, RNTO, STOR, STOU, APPE, DELE, RNTO, STOR, STOU, NKD, S	CVP SYST, END, X STOR, STOU, STOU, END, X STOU, END, X RNTD, STOR, X ND, XRND, XN	D,XRND,CD GUD,NKD,X RVD,XRND, GT,DU,SYST, KD,CMD,XCI	UP.XCUP, HKD,RMD, CDUP,XCU HKD,RMD, CUD,XCU LD,RMTO,I	FWD, XPWD, KPND, CDUP 7, FWD, XPW KPND, CDUP KPND, CDUP KNFR, APPE	ABOR, ALLO, "XCUP, PWD, D, ABOR, ALI "XCUP, PWD, D, RMD, XRM	Operations HELP, LIST, MOI XPND, ABOR, ALI 0, HELP, LIST, N XPND, ABOR, ALI 0, COUP, XCUP, R
Hide C Setup User dilla guest jonn kgle phyli DEFAU	Aptions  Users Sessions Messages  NRR, RNTD, STOR, Dull,  RNRR, RNTD, STOR, STOU,  APPE, DELE, RNTR, RNTO,  APPE, DELE, RNTR, RNTO,  T DELE, STOR, STOU, HKD, F  Edit Defaults	CVP (CAD, MKE, RM SYST, CAD, X SYST, CAD, X STOR, CAD, X RNTO, STOR, 1 RNTO, STOR, 1 RNTO, STOR, 2 NHD, XRHD, XM	D,XRMD,CD AMD,MKD,X RMD,XRMD, CAD,MKD,X STOU,SYST, KD,CUD,XC	UP, XEUP, I HKD, RMD, I EDUP, XCUI HKD, RMD, I LKD, XCM UD, RMTO, I	PWD, XPWD, KPND, CDUP P, PWD, XPW KPND, CDUP D, NKD, XMK RNFR, APPE	ABOR, ALLO, ,XCUP, PWD, D, ABOR, ALI ,XCUP, PWD D, RMD, XRM	Operations HELP, LIST, MO SPHOL, BORP, RLI 0, HELP, LIST, M XPHO, ABOP, ALI 0, CDUP, XCUP, PL 2

Figure 13: FTP Proxy Users Page

By default there is a *DEFAULT* user listed in this page, which refer to anybody using FTP proxy, unless his username is specified. This *DEFAULT* user definition is sufficient here, and no other users need to be added. **Operation** field states FTP commands each user can perform.

#### **FTP Sessions Page**

This page, as shown in Figure 14, is used to define FTP operations that are permitted for an FTP session between a specified source address and destination address.

-			SnartPr	oxies				
*	Save Bevert Las Clo	se <u>W</u> indow	7835					
Ртаху			Enable Proxy Service	inkound To Firewall	Inbound Through Firewall	Outbound To Finavrall	Outbound Through Firewall	Update Packet-Filte Rules
FTP	File Transfer Protocol	2153	*	*	*	*	*	*
Gopher	Gopher Protocol					13 El 27	<b>*</b>	
HTTP	Hypertext Transfer Protocol	<b>245</b> 9						
LDAP	Lightweight Directory Access	<b>244</b> 3		- <b>-</b>				
LDE	Load Equalizer	6*		一個公	120	11	32E1223	
NNTP	Network News Transfer Protocol	<b>23</b> 9						
Notes	Lotue Nates	- <b>*</b> 9			. EI	E1/4		
PG	Port Guard	<b>244</b> 3		×			199 <b>X</b> 1999	×
RA	RealAudio Protocol	📲 🕅	×		1.511		23 <b>E1</b> 222	
Alogin	Renote Login	2353		<b>X</b>		. <b>.</b>		
SMTP	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol	-459				E		*
Setup	Users Sessions Mea	sages	CVP					
2	021693526 1031920932	Ope	Pations Distortion	D CDUB XCI	ID DAVD VO	WD 6000 (		INT MAIN
Hide	Editor Insert Duplicate	Cu		Facia	Delete		4	End.
Source	[132.168.352.6		Destinati	on (192.168	987.2			Operation

Figure 14: FTP Proxy Sessions Page

It will be left empty, as default, since for the outbound FTP session, internal users are allowed to connect to any FTP servers in the Internet.

#### **FTP Messages Page**

This page, used to set the login greeting message, login failure message, and anonymous FTP usage message is also left empty, as this is used for inbound FTP connection, which not available here.

#### **FTP CVP Page**

CVP content scanning is enabled and configured in this page (Figure 15)

				SmartP	roxies					
-	Save Reven	Use Co	se Window							2
Presy				Enable Praxy Bervice	Inbound To Firewall	Intound Through Docwal	Outbound To Finewall	Outbound Through Dinovall	Update Packet-Filter Rules	
FTP	File Transfer Pr	rtocal	215.5	7	*	*	¥	*	1	1
Gopter	Gopher Protoco	A		₹	×	*			<b>R</b>	
HTTP	Hypertext Trans	fer Protocol	2350	×	<b>R</b>	*	×	×	×	I
LDAP	Lightweight Din	ectory Access	2450	×	×	*	×	×	<b>*</b>	1
LDE	Load Equalizer			<b>R</b>					<b>R</b>	I
NNTP	Network News	Transfer Protecol	<b>235</b> ()	×	×	*	×		×	1
Notes	Lotus Nates		10	×					×	1
PG	Polt Guard		<b>244</b> 0	×	×	*	×			ł
RA .	Please use Prob	00.01	. 0				80		×	
Flogin	Resole Login		<b>245</b> 0	×	×	*	R		×	1
SMTP	Simple Mail Tra	nsfer Protocol			×			*	*	F
Hide C	users	Seasions Ne	osageo)	CMP						
Hide C Setup F Ena	Users Users ble content scans	Seosiano Men ning method	osageo]	CVP )	Da	da Transfer	Time out (sec	conda) izo	_	
Hide C Setur Ena CVP Sc CV	Users Users ble content scans aver Address 1 P Sarver Port 1	Sessions Me ning method 92.108.9.99 1181	osageo ]	CVP )	Da	da Transfer	Timeout (sec	conds) (go		
Hide C Setur V Ena CVP Se CV	bytions Users ble content scant aver Address 1 P Sarver Port 1 Exclude 4	Bessions Mer Ing method 12 160 9.99 1101 BAK	osageo )	CMP )	De	da Transfer Dr0?	Time put (sec	:onds) [joo	ε	
Hide C Seter F Ena CVP Sc CV	bylions Users ble content scans aver Address [] P Sarver Pot [] Exclude]	Bessions Men ing method 52.163.99 1101 BAAK COV7	osageo ]		Da	da Transfer DrO? WBK	Timeout (sec	:onds) [joo EX0 X1	Ē	
Hide C Setur F Ena CVP Se CV	aptions Users èle content scent aver Address 1 P Server Port 1 Exclude at	Sessions   Mer ing nethod 12.160.9.99 1101   BAK   OV?	osegeo ]	CMP ) 	Da	da Transfer Di O? WBK	Timeout (sec	:onds) [co EXi XL	E 7	
Hide C Setur F Ena CVP Se CV	Aptions Users ble content scenn aver Address 1 P Server Port 1 Exclude	Sessions         Mering method           102.160.9.99         101           BAK         OV?           21P	osegeo ) (	CMP ) COM SYS	Da	da Transfer Dr07 WBK	Timeout (sec	:onds) [00 EX X.	E 7	
Hide C Setur M Ena CVP Sc CV	aptions Users ble content scenn arver Address 1 P Server Port 1 Exclude	Bessions Mering nethod 12.163.9.99 101 BAK OV7 2.1P Other:	osageo ] (	CMP ) 1 COM 1 SYS	Da	da Transfer Di 07 WBK	Timeout (sec	:onds) [ko _ EX _ X.	E Y	
Hide C Setup I Ena CVP Sc CV	options Users ele content scent aver Address P Server Port Exclude Options	Sessions Mer ing nethod 12160.9.99 1101 BAK OV? 21P Other:	osegeo ] (	CMP ) _ COM _ SYS	Da	da Transfer Dr.07 WBK WBK	Timeout (sec	ionds) [20 _ EX _ XL	E	

Figure 15: FTP Proxy CVP Page

**Enable content scanning method** check box should be checked to enable scanning using CVP. **CVP Server Address** field will be filled in with the Anti Virus Server address and **CVP Server Port** field with the CVP communication port used.

Scanning will be done for all files, without doing any exclusion for any file types. There is a drop down list besides the file extensions choices used to configure this, containing **Scan All** (to scan all files), **Include** (to scan files with the selected file extensions) and **Exclude** (to scan files with file extensions that are not selected), which in this case Scan All should be selected.

On the **Options**, three check boxes **Scan inbound**, **Scan outbound**, **Disinfect** will also be checked.

#### HTTP Proxy Configuration

Several configurations will be done with HTTP Proxy, which used in outbound and inbound configuration. **Enable Proxy Service**, **Inbound Through Firewall**, **Outbound Through Firewall** and **Update Packet-Filter Rules** are checked at the HTTP line on the Proxy list.

HTTP Proxy configuration contains of several pages - Setup, Servers, Clients, Chaining, URL Translation, Language Blocking and CVP. Changes only required on the Setup, Servers and CVP pages, with the rest left with default values.

#### **HTTP Setup Page**

Location of web server used is configured here, along with enabling https:// and ftp:// support. Figure 16 shows this page.

		SmartP	ecoxia s					Т
•	Save Revert Use Close	e <u>₩</u> indow						
YUKY		Enable Proxy Service	Inbound To Firewall	Inbound Through Firewall	Outbound To Firewali	Outbound Through Firewall	Update Packet-Filt Rales	er
TP	File Transfer Pretocal	📫) 💌	×	*	×	R	₩.	
iopher	Gopher Protocol	💶 🔁	×	*				
TTP	Hyperted Transfer Protocol	214) 🐨	V	¥	¥	-	V	
DAP	Lightweight Directory Access	215) M	×	*	×	×	×	
DE	Load Equalizer	1 N R	1				<b>R</b>	
NNTP	Network News Transfer Profecol	2153 🖉	<b>R</b>	*	<b>R</b>		<b>R</b>	
Notes	Lotus Noter	1 B B	1					
PG	Pot Guard	243 💌	×	*	×		¥	
RA	ResiAutio Protocol	• 0 x						
Flogin	Rewote Login	📩 🖬 🚽	×	*	<b>H</b>		<b>R</b>	
IMTP	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol	113 R	×					
Setu	p Servers Clients Cl	aining URL Translatio	n Block	90 C	WP )			
Setu	p Servers Clients Clients Clients Clients Clients	uning URL Translation prentent ==	n Longur Block	er ) c taring	WP )			
Setu	p Servers Clients Cl Web Server Handler Inde	uining UFIL Translatio pentent =	un Longua Black	er C taring	vP	,		
Satu	p Servers Clients Cli Web Server Handler Inde Port Namber [30	pentent	URL File	er C taring	wP			
Setu	p Servers Clients Ch Web Server Handler Inde Port Namber 30 amal Attorpt Texcout (vacomit) 40	pentent	en Block	er C tering ale Websen ebsense En	WP	er (j. 12. 160	1.1	
Satu	p Servers Clients Cli Web Server Handler inde Port Namber (30 amail Attempt Tiescovi (Veccovid) (40	saining URL Transtati gentert =	URL File	er C aring ale Websen ebsesse En Websense	wP	er ( <u>1 82, 160</u> ort ( <u>1 686</u> 8	1.1	
Setu Ext	p Servers Clients Cli Web Server Handler inde Port Number 30 amal Attempt Timeout (vaconiti) 40 henticate outbound	uining URL Transtati pentent a	URL Fil W	er C Taring ale Websen ebsense En Websense	WP se Enterprise teliprise Serv Enterprise P	er <mark>() 92, 100</mark> ort () 5668	13	
Setu Extr V Aut	Servers Clients Clients     Web Server Handler inde     Port Number 30 amol Attempt Tirecout (seconds) 40 hendicate outbound she https throughput	aining URL Transbib gentent a	URL Fil WRL Fil W	er C taring ale Websen ebsesse En Websense	WP	9 197 () 92 160 ort () 5868	3.3	
Setu Ext Fat Fat	Servers         Clients         Clients           Web Server Handler         Inde           Port Namber         30           amal Attempt Trescort (second)         40           hendicate outbound         alse https throughput	pendent	URL Fil W	er) C taring ale Websen ebsense En Websense	WP	9 1997 () 92 100 01 () 5668	33	

Figure 16: HTTP Proxy Setup Page

Location of web server is configured with **Web Server Handler** drop down list, which has three options, referring to internal web server protected by firewall:

- None no web server
- Built-in built in web server in the firewall
- **Independent** separate web server outside the firewall

**Independent** will be chosen, since web server (*giac-web*) is separate system outside the firewall.

**Port Number**, defining port the HTTP Proxy will listen, use the default value 80 and **External Attempt Timeout (seconds)**, is left as default, 40. URL Filtering is not enabled, so **Enable Websense Enterprise** button is left unchecked, which then cause

the **Websense Enterprise Server** and **WebSense Enterprise Port** fields to be grayed out.

Authenticate outbound, which cause the outbound web user required to authenticate to firewall before getting the access, is not used, so it's left unchecked. To enable support for https:// and ftp://, the two check boxes, Enable https throughput and Enable ftp throughput are checked.

#### **HTTP Servers Page**

Since inbound HTTP Proxy is required, **Servers** page (Figure 17) should be configured to define the web servers and allowed type of commands to access them.

		SmartP	<sup>a</sup> KOlodia I					
	Save Revert Use Close Win	dow						
TOXY		Enable Proxy Service	Inbound To Firewall	Inbound Through Firewal	Outbound To Firewali	Outbound Through Arewall	Updata Packet-Filte Rules	•
TP	File Transfer Pritocal	() 💌	×.	*	×		×	
lopher	Gopher Protocol	3 💌	×					
TTP	Hyperted Transfer Protocol	1 🖌	-	-	*	-	1	8
DAP	Lightweight Directory Access 21	3 M	W	*	×	×	×	
DE	Load Equalizer	9 🕷					<b>R</b>	
INTP	Network News Transfer Protocol 21	ñ 🔳	<b>v</b>		<b>R</b>		<b>R</b>	
lotes	Lotus Noter	1 R					×	
G	Pot Guard 24	3 <b>R</b>	¥		×		¥	
14	RealAudio Protocol	9 <b>x</b>						
login	Remote Login 📫	ŭ <b>≈</b>	×					
MTP	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol	ă 🕷						
Setup	Servers   Clients   Chainin	9 URL Transtati	on Langua	er c	MP )			
Satup	Servers Clients Chainin Allow post	9 URL Transtati	on Langua Block	er ) c	MP Allow di	dele		
Setuş Server develop	Servers Clients Chainin     Altree post	9 URL Transtati	on Langua Block Allow put	87 ) C	MP Allow di yes	cicle		
Satuş Server develop public	Servers Clients Chainin Allow post ment yes 10	9 URL Transtati	on Langua Block Allow put yes to	er ) c	MP Allow di yes no	ninte		
Setur Server develop public Hide j Veb Ser	Bervers Clients Chainin Altree post oneret yes ro Editor insert Duplicate reer jeterelopment	URL Transtati Cut <u>Cop</u>	en Eleck Block Allow put yes no y Poste	Dekt	MP Alimer di yes no e	ninte	<u>Fint.</u>	
Setur Servor develop public Hide <u>1</u> Veb Set	Servers Clients Clients     Allow post     orient     Ses     ro     Editor Inser     Jeseconnent     reer     Jeseconnent     w post      Allow put     Allow deled	9 Transtati Cut Opp	en Electro Alicer put yes no y Poste	97 ) C	MP Altrer di yes no e	ninte	Eind.	

Figure 17: HTTP Proxy Servers Page

One web server definition is required here, which is done by clicking **Insert**, entering *giac-web* on the **Web Server** field, and uncheck **Allow post**, **Allow put** and **Allow delete**.

#### **HTTP Clients Page**

Within HTTP Proxy, filtering can be done to limit access from certain internal users to certain external servers, and define what kind of content scanning will be applied to these users. The filters applied here are referring to outbound connection only. Figure 18 shows the **Clients** page.

						SnartF	roxies					4 _
**	Bave	Rever	Use	Close	Mindow							?
Presty						Enable Procy Service	inkound To Firewall	Inbound Through Firewall	Outbound To Firewall	Outbound Through Firewall	Update Packet- Filte Rules	,
FTP	File Tran	sfer Proto	:01	:	2459	×	×	M	×	N.	×	14
Gopher	Gopher F	Protocol			644	R	<b>N</b>	R	[]	R	<b>R</b>	
HTTP	Hypertex	d Transfer	Protocol		2453	•	•	•	•	•	₹	
LDAP	Lightwei	ght Directo	ny Access	. :	2449		R	M	<b>N</b>	R	<b>R</b>	
LDE	Load Eq	ualizer			19	×	12	[]	[]		×	11
NINTP	Network	News Tren	afer Proto	col 🚦	2330	N	<b>N</b>	×	×	R	<b>R</b>	11
Notes	Latus No	ites			6.4	×	60	[]	[]			
PG	Port Gua	rd		:	2149	*	R		*	R.	R	μ
AA	RealAud	ia Pratoco		•	• 9	×		[]	52	[]	R.	8
Alogín	Remote l	.ogin			2110	N	R	N	×		<b>R</b>	8
SMTP	Simple N	al Transfe	r Protocol			×	R	×	[]	×	<b>R</b>	15
Hide O	ptions		Character		akaina	URL	) Langua	e ì c	wp 1			
Hide O Setup	pptions	nvers	Clients	] 0	aining	URL Translati	n Blocks	er) c	VP	Scanning		
Hide O Setup	pptions p Se ype	rvers Client	Clients	) (n	aining Servers	URL Translate	n Langua Blocki	₿r.) c	Mb.	Scanning Methods		
Hide O Setup	yptions 3 Se ype ernit ernit	Client 192.168.2	Clients	) (n) 5	aining Servers www.ones	URL Translatio	n Langua Blocki	a, ) c	Ab	Scanning Methods	P, URLFiter	
Hide O Setup Pr Pr Pr Pr Pr Pr Pr Pr Pr Pr Pr Pr Pr	pptions se ype ernit ernit Editor	rvers Client 192.168.2 * Insert	Clients .30	ch ś v icate	alning Servers www.ones	URL Translate	n Langua Blocks	ge r c	4P	Scanning Methods Iblock, CY	P, URLFiter <u>Fi</u> nd.	1 L
Hide O Setup Ty P Hide	pptions pptions servit servit servit Editor Type	rvers Client 192.168.2 * Insert	Clients .30	Ch S icate Clie	aining Servers Cut art []	URL Translate	n Langua Blocke	ge r ) c	e 1	Scanning Methods Iblock, CY	P, URLFitter	T.L.N
Hide O Setup Ty P Hide	ptions Se ype ernit ernit Editor Type Pernit	rvers	Cients .30	Clic Clic	alning Servers cut art ]	URL Translati ite com	n Langua Blocks	ge gr Detet	vP	Scanning Methods Iblock, CY	P, URLFiter	
Hide O Setup P P Hide J	ptions p ypp ernt ernt Edtor Type Pernit	rvers	Chents .30	ch s icate Clie Serve	alning Servers Cut ant [- ers ]www	URL Translate	n Langua Blockr	ge sr c	4W	Scanning Methods Iblock, CY	P, URLFilter	H-H
Hide O Setup P P Hide J	ppions Second Se	rvers	Clients .30 Dupli Scarning	Chie serve Serve 2 Methor	aining Servers Cut art T Brs Jawa de to Byp	URL Translata ite com Consulte co ass V La	n Langua Block / Paste	ge sr c	9 P P URLF	Scanning Methods Iblock, CV	P, UFLFitter	

Figure 18: HTTP Proxy Clients Page

Default setting for this is to permit any client to any server and apply all filtering by Language Blocker, CVP and URL Filter. Default value is used here. When highlighting the rule, can be seen that **Type** will be **Permit**, **Client** will be \* to refer to any clients, **Server** will also be \* to refer to any server. On the **Scanning Methods to Bypass**, three options - **Language Blocker**, **CVP** and **URL Filter** are unchecked

#### HTTP CVP Page

CVP configuration for HTTP is similar to those in FTP, shown in Figure 19.

**Enable content scanning method** check box should be checked to enable scanning using CVP. **CVP Server Address** field will be filled in with the Anti Virus Server address and **CVP Server Port** field with the CVP communication port used.

Scanning will be done for all files, without doing any exclusion for any file types. There is a drop down list besides the file extensions choices used to configure this, containing **Scan All** (to scan all files), **Include** (to scan files with the selected file extensions) and **Exclude** (to scan files with file extensions that are not selected), which in this case Scan All should be selected.

On the **Options**, three check boxes **Scan inbound**, **Scan outbound**, **Disinfect** will also be checked

				SmartP	100-001				
	ave <u>R</u> ev	ent Use	Close <u>W</u> indo	Enable Proxy Service	Inbound To Firewall	Inbound Through Firewal	Outbound To Firewali	Outbound Through Brenzali	Update Packet-Filter Rales
TP	File Transfer	Pretocal	212()	*	¥	*	¥		
iopher	Gopher Prote	ocol	100	R.	×				
TTP	Hyperted Tr	ansfer Protocol	215)	-	•	*	*	-	*
DAP	Lightweight	Directory Access	2440	<b>N</b>	<b>N</b>		×		
DE	Load Equals	bar .	6**	R.	1				<b>N</b>
INTP	Network Nev	us Transfer Protes	cal 井 🕄	<b>R</b>	<b>R</b>	*	<b>X</b>		<b>R</b>
iotes	Lotus Noter		<b>1</b> 0	<b>X</b>					<b>R</b>
G	Port Guard		<b>244</b> 3)	<b>₩</b>	×	*	×	×	×
14	RealAudio P	rotocol	- 9	×					*
login	Remote Logi	0	9 <del>111</del> 9	×.	×	<u>*</u>	*	×	×
MIP	Stable was	Harster Protocol	+ + 0			•			
Setup	Serve	ns Clients	Chaining	UPL. Translatio	n Langua Blacks	ge) c	wP )		
Setup	Serve	ns Clients	Chaining	UPIL Translatio	n Langua Blacks	er] c	ve )		
Setup F Enat	Serve le content so ver Address	rs Clients anning method	Oraining	URL Translatio	n Langua Błacka	ege ar ) c	VP	ands) [50	_
Setup F Enation CVP Ser CVP	le content so ver Address Server Part	rs Clients anning method ]192.188.939 ]19181	Chaining	Um. Translatio	e Langua Błocki Da	er c	WP	ands) (50 ands) (10	-
Setup Final CVP Ser CVP	le content so ver Address Server Port	rs Clients anning method [hsz.160.939 [hot pt]	Chaining	UPE. Translatie	en Longoo Blocks	ta Transfer Connection □ DCY	WP	ands) (sp ands) (10 _ EX	E
Setup F Enati CVP Ser CVP	Serve le content so ver Address Server Port Exclusie	rs Clients anning method [hsz.1s6.839 [hst 81 ] BAK	Oradining	COM	en Longoo Blocks	ta Transfer Connection	WP	ands) [gp ands) [10 EX XL	е 7
Setup F Enati CVP Ser CVP	Serve le content so ver Address Server Port Biclude	rs Clents aming nethod [152.156.939 [101.01 ] BAK OVT	College	COM	en Hangua Biocla Da	ta Transfer Connection	WP	ands) [go ands) [10 _ EX _ XL	E 7
Setup F Enation CVP Ser CVP	le content so ver Address Server Port	ns Clients anning method ]192.1168.939 ]101.61 	Oraning	COM	an Langua Biocla Da	ta Transfer Connection DO? WBK	WP	ands) [gg ands) [10 _ EX _ XL	E 7
Setup F Enati CVP Ser CVP	le content so ver Address Server Port Exclusie	ns Clents anning method [19221168.9.99 [100 01 ] BAK OVT 21P Other	Chaining	Dranslatie	en Block	ta Transfer Connection UOY	WP	ands) [go ands) [10 _ EX _ XL	E 7
Setup T Enati CVP Ser CVP	Serve le content so var Address Server Part Exclude	rs Clents anning method ]192.166.939 ]10101 	) Chaining	Unit. Translatik COM 575	tangua Biock Da thound	er ta Transfer Connection DOY WEK	VP Theost (sec Theost (sec	ands) [50 rands) [10 _ EX _ XL	E 7

Figure 19: HTTP Proxy CVP Page

## SMTP Proxy Configuration

SMTP Proxy is used in inbound and outbound configuration to and from the mail server, *giac-mail*. **Enable Proxy Service**, **Inbound Through Firewall**, **Outbound Through Firewall** and **Update Packet-Filter Rules** are checked at the SMTP line of the Proxy list.

SMTP Proxy configuration containing of several pages – **Setup**, **Servers**, **Users**, **Blocking** and **CVP**, but **Users** and **Blocking** pages are left out to default because they are not required here.

#### **SMTP Setup Page**

Figure 20 shows this page, where several characteristics are defined here, including default domain used and number of protocol errors allowed before connection closed.

**Default Domain Name** value by default will be using the firewall domain name defined in **Network Interfaces** window. No changes required here, so *giac.com* is used here. **Number of Protocol Errors Allowed** is using default value, 5. **Post default domain for outbound mail** check box is checked to allow replacement of internal mail server name in the outbound mail header to the default domain name of the firewall. This feature will hide the internal name from being exposed to external servers.

			SmartP	toxies					
	eve Revert Use C	ose <u>W</u> indov							
Proxy			Ensible Procy Service	Inhound To Firewall	Inbound Through Firewal	Outbound To Firewall	Outbound Through Firewall	Update Packet-Filter Rulies	
LDE	Load Equalizer	<b>*</b> 9	W	1				×	1
NNTP	Network News Transfer Protecol	2353	R	<b>N</b>	<b>x</b>	<b>R</b>	<b>R</b>	<b>R</b>	1
Notes	Lotus Noter			1					1
PG	Pot Guard	2150	i <b>≓</b>	×	<b>¥</b>	R		₹	8
RA	RealAudio Protocol	• 9	R			2		<b>R</b>	8
Flogin	Remote Login	<b>244</b> 3	×.	×	*	×	×	×	8
SMTP	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol	+##1	7	•	*		7	4	8
SOLNet	SQL*Net	2443	<b>N</b>	×	*	×		<b>R</b>	8
SSL	Secure Sockets Layer Protocol	2450	<b>N</b>	N	*	×		×	8
Teinet	Teinet Network Login	<b>244</b> 3)	<b>N</b>	×	*	×	R	<b>N</b>	8
811	X Vindow System	<b>244</b> 0	M	M		N	×	N	8
Hide O Setup	Servers   Users   Blocking	CVP	1						
	Default Domain Name	jnait cybg.	101						
,	Number of Protocol Errors Allowed	]5	10000						
	Test for X-Proxy header	I							
Pos	t default domain for outboand wall								

Figure 20: SMTP Proxy Setup Page

#### **SMTP Servers Page**

Internal server used will be defined in this page (Figure 21)

			SmartP	roxies					
💠 Seve R	event Use Cit	se <u>W</u> indov	•						
maxy			Enable Proxy Service	Intound To Prewall	Inbound Through Provid	Outbound To Prewall	Outbound Through Previal	Updato Packet-Fil Punis	ter
LDE Load Equa	laser	<b>*</b> 9	¥	1				<b>N</b>	
NNTP Network N	eve Transfer Protocol	2350	<b>R</b>	<b>R</b>				<b>R</b>	
Notes Lotus Note	ч	6*1	₹	1				<b>X</b>	
PG Pot Guard		2150	×	<b>N</b>	*	×	×	<b>R</b>	
RA RealAudio	Protocol	• 9	×					<b>R</b>	
Riogin Remote Lo	gin	<b>##</b> 3	<b>N</b>	×	*	×	*	×	
SMTP Simple Ma	i Transfer Protocol	-141	-	•	*		*	•	
SQLNet SQL*Net		2150		R		×		×	
SSL Secure Sol	ckets Layer Protocol	2440	×	×	*	×		<b>R</b>	
Teinet Teinet Net	work Lagin	2440	×.	×	¥	M	M	×.	
X11 X Vindow	System	2110				×			
Hide Options									
Hios Options	Users   Blocking	CVP	)						
Hide Options Setup   Servers Server	Users   Blocking   Alias File	CVP	Pass	Domains					
Hide Options Setup   Servers Greece Greece	Users Blocking Alias File greace-aliase	CVP	Pass	Dormains cytoerguerdo	orp.com shi	eki.com			
Hise Options Setup   Servers Greece fordia	Users Blocking Alias File greeze-aliases forida-aliases	CVP	Pass Jes E0	Domains cytoerguendo cytoerguendo	corp.com shi	eld con			
Hise Options Setup Servers Server greece fonda india india	Users Blecking Alias File greece-aliase Narida-aliases India-aliases	CVP	Pass 542 10 10	Dormains cytoerguerdo shield com	orp.com shi	eki con			
Hise Options Setup   Servers Server Greece fonda India Lectand	Users Blecking Alias File greece-aliases florida-aliases india-aliases rceitand-aliases	CVP	Pass 960 60 60 960	Domains cytoerguerdo cytoerguerdo shield.com shield.com	orp.com shi orp.com mar.com	eki con			
Hise Options  Setup   Servers  Server  greece forida india iceland  Hide Editor	Users Blocking Alias File greeze-aliase fordia-aliase india-aliase icoland-aliase icoland-aliase icoland-aliase	CVP	Pass 560 60 560 560 560 6 1 <u>C</u> opy	Dormains cyberguardo cyberguardo shield com shield com a y Paste	orp.com shi orp.com mar.com Dakb	eki con	]	<u>Ent.</u>	
Hise Options Server Server Greece fonda india icoland Hide Editor Mail Server Int	Users Blacking Alias File Greace-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase India-aliase	CMP	Pass 565 60 565 6 <u>Cop</u> s 1 Pas	Domains cytherguerdo cytherguerdo shield con shield con y Paste is mail for unit	corp.com shi corp.com mar.com Dateb al ased user	ald con a <u>y</u> s to mail ser	J J	<u>F</u> int	
Hide Options Server Greece fonda India Ind	Users Blocking Alias File greate-aliaser fordia-aliaser india-aliase india-aliase india-aliase india-aliase india-aliase india-aliase	CVP	Pass 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 1	Domains cytherguardo cytherguardo shield.com shield.com y Paste cs mell for una	corp.com shi corp.com mnar.com Deleta aliased user	aki con a <u>7</u> s to mail ser	ver host	<u>F</u> int.	
Hise Options Server Greece Gre	Users Blacking Alias File greate - aliase India - aliase India - aliase India - aliase Insert Duplicate Cha Cha - aliases Idia - aliases	64P	Pass 565 50 565 6 <u>Cop</u> 1 985	Domains cytherguardic cytherguardic shield con shield c	corp.com shi corp.com mar.com Dateb alaced user	aki com 8 <b>3</b> 5 to mail set	Ver host	<u> </u>	

Figure 21: SMTP Proxy Servers Page

One server definition is required, which after pressing **Insert** button, Mail Server field is filled with *giac-mail*, referring to the server name used.

**Pass mail for unaliased users to mail server host** check box is checked and will cause the **Alias File Name** filled automatically with *NONE*. These two choices will cause all incoming mails to be sent to the internal mail server without comparing the mail recipient to the alias file.

**Domains** field is filled with *giac.com*, which will allow only mails sent to recipients with *giac.com* domain. This will prevent external people using the mail server as relay. Any mails with recipient's domain other than specified here will be dropped.

#### **SMTP CVP Page**

CVP configuration for SMTP is similar to those of FTP and HTTP with exception that there is no option to select certain file types to scan, so it will scan all file types, as shown in Figure 22.

·		Smarth	taxies					
++	Seve Revert Use Close W	indov						
Prexy		Enable Praxy Service	Inbound To Prewall	Inbound Through Provid	Outbound To Pirewali	Outbound Through Previal	Update Packet-Fill Runs	ær
LDE	Load Equalizer	<b>*</b> 3) ⊯r	1				<b>V</b>	
NNTP	Network News Transfer Protecol 🛛 🔁	<b>\$</b> 3 <b>\$</b>						
Notes	Lotus Noter	<b>*</b> 9 <b>∉</b>					<b>x</b>	
PG	Pot Guard 🖊	<b>\$</b> } 🛒	×		×	×	<b>X</b>	
RA	RealAudio Protocol	19 M					×	
Flogin	Rewote Login 🔁	<b>\$</b> ) 🕷	<b>R</b>	*	R	<b>R</b>	<b>R</b>	
SIMTP	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol	🐴 🖌	•	-			-	
SQLNet	SQL"Net 🖊	📫 🕅	×	*	M			
SSL	Secure Sockets Layer Protocol 🛛 🚧	<b>\$</b> ) 🕷	×	*	×			
Teinet	Teinet Network Lagin 🖊	<b>\$</b> ) 🕷	×	*	M	×	×	
811	X Vindow System 🗧 🚧	<b>\$</b> 1) 🕷	<b>R</b>	*	×		<b>*</b>	
Setup	Servers Users Blocking C	MP )						
Ena	ble content scanning rethod			da Transfer	Timened Inc.	menter Ro		
CPF DE	102.110.235		0.	ato i i aniorei	macoar Day	ound for		
CN	P Server Port []181 B1			Connection	Timeost (sea	ands) j10		
	Options 🗑 Scan inbound	🕷 Scan ou	tbound	🗑 Disin	nect			

Figure 22: SMTP Proxy CVP Page

**Enable content scanning method** check box should be checked to enable scanning using CVP. **CVP Server Address** field will be filled in with the Anti Virus Server address and **CVP Server Port** field with the CVP communication port used.

On the **Options**, three check boxes **Scan inbound**, **Scan outbound**, **Disinfect** will also be checked.

## SSL Proxy Configuration

SSL Proxy is used in inbound and outbound configuration. In the SSL line of Proxy list, **Enable Proxy Service**, **Inbound Through Firewall**, **Outbound Through Firewall** and **Update Packet-Filter Rules** are checked to enable the desired configuration.

Because of the nature of SSL where the data are fully encrypted, it is not possible for the proxy to really inspect the data. It is limited to breaking up direct connection between the client and the server, and inspects the unencrypted portion of the connection.

There are two configuration pages in the SSL Proxy, Setup and Clients.

#### **SSL Setup Page**

Internal web server protected by the proxy will be defined in this page, along with the port where the proxy will listen on. Figure 23 shows this page.

-			First	raxies					4 1
+	ave <u>R</u> evert <u>U</u> se Clo	se <u>W</u> indox	A						?
Pressy			Enable Proxy Service	Inbound To Firewall	Inbound Through Firewal	Outbound To Firstwall	Outbound Through Browall	Update Packet-Filter Rules	
LDE	Load Equalizer		₹	1				<b>¥</b>	12
NNTP	Network News Transfer Protecol	2250	i∎ .	<b>R</b>	*	×	<b>N</b>	<b>R</b>	
Notes	Lotus Notes		i ₹					<b>x</b>	
PG	Pat Guard	<b>##</b> 0	×	×	*	×	×	×	. D
RA	RealAutio Protocol	- 9	×					<b>x</b>	
Flogin	Rewote Login	2350	R.	×		×			
SIMTP	Simple Mail Transfer Protocol	+#3)	R.	×	*			<b>R</b>	
SQLNet	SQL*Net	2440	R	M	×	M	×	M	
SSL	Secure Sockets Layer Protocol	2443	1	*	*	*	*	~	111
Teinet	Teinet Network Lagin	2450			*			<b>R</b>	
811	X ₩indow System	<b>245</b> 0	R.	×	¥	×	×	¥	17
Hide O	Gients								
	Web Server Host Joyber	hest	_	4					
	Part Number 443	- 100							
Edemai	Attempt Timeaut (seconds) 40	_1							
Secure	e Sozikets Layer Protocol						I Setup		>

Figure 23: SSL Proxy Setup Page

Web Server Host, is filled with the web server name, *giac-web* and **Port Number** will use the default value, which is 443.

#### SSL Clients Page

This page, shown in Figure 24, is used to filter access from internal users to external servers for outbound SSL connections. It is similar to the same page name in HTTP Proxy.

Default value, which is permit any clients to any server, is used here. **Type** will be Permit, **Client** will be \*, **Servers** will be \* and **Tunnel** check box will be unchecked. **Tunnel** check box is used to perform SSL tunneling.

				SnartF	nexies					10
<u>به</u>	save <u>R</u> even	Use Clos	se <u>Wi</u> ndov	v						?
Prexy				Enable Proxy Service	inbound To Firewall	inbound Through Firewall	Outbound To Firewal	Outbound Through Firewall	Update Packet-Filter Rules	,
.DE	Load Equalizer			*	12	0		[]	×	16
NTP	Network News	Transfer Protocol	<b>244</b> 9	×	×	×	×	×	×	1
lotes	Latus Nates		19	×	<u>[7]</u>				<b>F</b>	18
G	Port Guard		2150	M	M	M	M	M		1
AF AF	RealAudia Prob	ocol	- 9	R.			60		M	
Riggin	Remote Login		<b>74</b>	×	×	×	×	×	×	1
SMTP	Simple Mail Tra	nsfer Protocol	+ <b>-</b> 77	×	×	M		M	×	
SOLNet	SGLINEt		2.5	×		×		×	×	.8
SSL	Secure Sockets	Layer Protocol	745			×		×	*	11
	Tainat Notwork	1000	Z				×	×	*	88
Feinet x1.1	X Window Sust	an	→ +(3)	a la						18
felnet (11 Hide O	X Window Syst	an	<b>7</b> 5	ñ	×	×	×	×	×	k
Felnet K11 Hide O Setup Tyj	X Window Byst ptions Clients pe Tunnel	Client	<b>2</b>	irvers	¥	×	*	¥	¥	k
Felnet KI 1 Hide O Setup Tyl	X Window Syst ptions Clients pe Turinel Hit Ves	Client Utopia	245) 84 19	ervers 12168.32*	×	×	*		~	A
Feinet Kill Setup Tyj	X Window Syst ptions Clients pe Turinel Hit Yes	Client Utopia malaysia	2450) 84 19 15	ervers 32168.32* 32.168.3.*	¥	7	×	7	~	
Feinet KII Betup Tyl Per Hide §	Vindow Byst viptions Clients pe Tunnel viff Vas mit Ves Editor Ins	Client Utopia malaysia ertuplicate	245) 84 19 15	ervers 32168.32.* 32.168.3.* 1 <u>C</u> opy	V Paste	Delet	•	₹ 	Find	
Feinet KII Betup Tyj Per Hide 5	Tellentectorin vinicous Syst Clients pe Turniol vini Ves Editor Ins Type	Client Utopia nalaysia ent	Second Se	ervers 32168.32.* 1 <u>Cop</u> e	y Paste	Delet	•	v 	Find.	
Feinet KT1 Betup Typ Per Hide §	Vernov Syst plions Clients pe Turnol with Ves clion Ves clio	Client Utopia malaysia ent Dupticate Client Servers	2250) 38 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 2168.	ervers 32168.324 3216.3.* 1 <u>Cop</u>	y Paste	₩ Delet	• 7	×	Find	
Feinet Kill Setup Tyj Hide 5 Hide 5	A Window Syst A Window Syst ptions Clients pe Tornel wit Vas mit Vas mit Ves Eattor Type Permit Deny	Client Utopia malaysia et Dupiticate Cient Servers W Turnel	54 34 75 75 1 5 1 5 2 168 7 5 2 168	ervers 82168.324 82.160.37 4 <u>Cop</u> e 32?	y Paste		*	¥	Eind.	

Figure 24: SSL Proxy Clients Page

# Assignment 3 – Verify the Firewall Policy

## Audit Plan

After the firewall has been implemented and configured according to the defined policy, audit to the firewall will be conducted to make sure that the firewall performs the functions as what it is tasked to do.

Audit will be focused only on the firewall itself, to verify its policy and its ability to defend against attacks.

# **Technical Approach**

Audit will be done in several parts to verify the functions carried out by the firewall, which are:

- Firewall testing Perform test on the firewall host itself of how it can defend against attacks and identifying services running on the firewall.
- Firewall rules verification Verify rules on the firewall, whether they are configured properly to comply with the firewall policy.
- Proxy services testing Perform testing on the services protected by proxies, to validate how the proxy performs the inspection.

#### Firewall testing

Firewall testing is meant to test the firewall host, which divided into two phases:

- Vulnerability scanning to the firewall, which testing the ability of the firewall to defend itself against attacks and vulnerabilities.
- Service scanning to the firewall, perform scan to the firewall to identify services running on the firewall.

To perform the vulnerability scanning, a vulnerability scanner will be used to penetrate the firewall with various kinds of attacks signatures, including Denial of Service attacks. Report produced by the scanner and checks on the firewall logs and firewall condition will be used to make a conclusion.

The vulnerability scanner will be scanning from each interface of the firewall.

For the service scanning, a network scanner will be used to scan the firewall to find any services open on the firewall. The scanner will be scanning from each interface of the firewall to produce a complete result, since the services may not run on each interface.

Scanning will be done with few methods:

- SYN scan for TCP ports
  - SYN scan is done by sending TCP SYN packet to the target port, and wait for response. If SYN/ACK packet received, the port is open. If RST is received, the port is closed. If the port is closed, the firewall may silently drop the packet. If this situation occurs, the scan will take longer time to finish. Since SYN scan is using normal behavior for any hosts to open connection, SYN scan will be giving the most valid results compare to FIN scan and ACK scan, but also most likely will be captured by the firewall alerts.
- UDP scan for UDP ports
   UDP scan is done by sending UDP packet to the target port, and wait for
   response. If ICMP port unreachable message received, the port is closed. If
   nothing received, it will be assumed as open. This scan is very slow due to
   the fact that most of hosts implement limiting of ICMP error messages sent.

#### Firewall Rules Verification

This part of audit is meant to test the firewall rules, whether they are really controlling traffic as what they are supposed to do, by allowing only permitted traffic and dropping denied traffic.

This rules testing will involve both stateful packet filtering and proxy rules.

The test will be done with the following methods:

- Network scanner placed in one segment to scan other hosts in another segment passing through the firewall.
- On the target segment, a network sniffer is placed to capture the traffic sent by the scanner.

- On the firewall, the auditing system should also capture the traffic, as well as sending network port scan alert. In this case, this activity can also be used to verify whether the firewall auditing system is working well.
- With the firewall set to send logs to the Syslog server, this server will be checked whether the traffic generated by the scanner are logged.

Conclusion of the result will be taken by comparing results from the scanner, sniffer, firewall logs in the firewall and Syslog server. Attention will be given to permitted traffic found. The results are analyzed based on which components are capturing the traffic generated. The results will then be compared with the firewall policy definition to see if the rules are conformed to the policy or not.

By using the testing method above, one segment is tested from one other segment at one time. Every segment has to be tested from every other segment. Every existing host will be targeted for scanning. For certain segments, where there are rules specifying access allowed from certain IP addresses, scanner will be configured to do scanning by using both the allowed IP addresses and not allowed or non existed IP addresses. This is the approach to prove that those specific rules are really limiting the access.

For each individual test on each segment, several types of scans will be conducted, similarly as described on the firewall testing.

Testing from Internal segments to External segment will be done differently, because perform scanning to any host in the Internet should be avoided. IP address of the sniffer machine placed on the EXTERNAL segment will be used as target. But since this machine doesn't have services that maybe permitted in the firewall, it will not respond to the scanner as open ports for those services. Instead, the sniffer is used to capture the connections, and prove that actually the scan have leaked through the firewall.

## **Proxy Services Testing**

The proxies on the firewall provide inspection up to the application level. With different type of application proxies, different kinds of inspections are done by each of the proxies. Similar process performs by the proxies will be on intercepting connection between client and server, and breaking it into two different sessions. Verification on this process will be covered on the Firewall Rules Verification phase.

This part will be focusing on testing each different type of inspections done by each proxy, to comply with the firewall policy.

Outbound FTP Proxy, HTTP Proxy, and SMTP Proxy will not be specifically tested, since mainly the inspection for the traffic using these two types of connections are to break direct communication between the client and the server. Similarly, SSL proxy either outbound or inbound will not be specifically tested, since due to the nature of SSL, the proxy will be limited to protect against direct connection.

Testing Inbound HTTP Proxy for blocking HTTP commands

• Perform Telnet to port 80 from external network to the web server, issue several HTTP commands inspected by the firewall, which are POST, PUT and DELETE, and see how the firewall reacts.

Testing Inbound SMTP Proxy for blocking mail relaying

• Perform Telnet to port 25 from external network to the mail server, using SMTP commands, send email to recipients with domains other than *giac.com*.

# Tools for Audit

To perform the audit, two laptops are provided. One laptop will be installed with Windows 2000 Professional, and the other with RedHat Linux 7.3. Two different OSs are used to facilitate the tools going to be used.

Several tools are used:

- Vigilante SecureScan NX, a commercial vulnerability assessment tool by Vigilante.com, Inc. (<u>http://www.vigilante.com</u>). This tool is used to perform firewall testing, running on Windows. Version 2.6 is used.
- Nmap, open source network security scanner by Fyodor (<u>http://www.insecure.org/nmap</u>). This tool is capable to perform various type of network scanning required for the audit. Version 3.00 is used.
- **Windump**, open source network sniffer (<u>http://windump.polito.it</u>), the Windows version of **Tcpdump**. This tool is used to sniff the network traffic during various phases of audit. Version 3.6.2 is used.

# **Risks and Considerations**

Conducting the audit will involve certain risks, which identified and addressed as follows:

- During the audit, network operation will be interrupted, which cause operational of the company will also be affected. This is due to the fact that for certain phases of the audit, the servers will need to be disconnected from the network. A good schedule plan of the audit will address this issue, and will definitely be done outside of official business hours.
- Interruption of the services will cause complaints to arise. To prevent this to happen, prior to the audit, all related parties should be notified of the audit activity. These include internally - company officers, IT staffs, remote users and externally – customers, suppliers and partners.
- As the impact of the audit testing, the servers or the firewall might experience slow down or even crash. They might need to be rebooted, which caused services disruptions. Worse case, crash of the systems may not be resolved by simply rebooting, reinstallation may need to be done. Full backup of the systems should be

done prior conducting the audit. If reinstall is required, restore from backups will fasten the process.

# Costs and Schedule

The audit will be conducted by GIAC's IT staffs themselves without involving third party consultants. Costs involved will be the staffs' time taken to concentrate on audit. Two staffs are tasked to do the audit. Two machines used for the audit are reserved machines, which not only used for this activity.

Costs estimation are explained below:

Components	Time (hours)
Planning and research	24
Firewall testing	2
Firewall rules verification	10
Proxy services testing	1
Evaluation and creating reports	24
Additional hours for unexpected issues	4
Total	65

The audit will be conducted outside official business hour, where no staffs are working locally, which then will have less impact to the company operation. 'No impact' condition cannot be expected, since business operations is also being done online through Internet, which has international coverage with different time zones. Because GIAC is also selling fortunes to online customers, weekends are also expected to be peak periods, but still less users compare to the weekdays. Considering these conditions and time required to perform the audit, which approximately 13 hours, the best schedule for executing the audits will be on Sunday starting from 8 am.

# Audit Execution

# Firewall Testing

## Vulnerability scanning

Vulnerability scanning to the firewall will be done using vulnerability assessment tool, Vigilante SecureScan NX. When performing the scan, SecureScan NX is running several phases of scans by default, which are:

 Port Scanning, performing TCP and UDP scan against the target host to find any open services. This phase will be the same as what Nmap is doing. Result from this phase can be used for comparison with result gathered from scan using Nmap.

- 2. **OS Detection**, performing identification of the OS type used by the target system.
- 3. **Test Case Execution**, running the Test Cases (vulnerability signatures) against the target system. This by default will be optimized by only running relevant Test Cases for the specific OS identified during the OS Detection phase.

Figure 25 shows the GUI of SecureScan NX.

L VIGILANTE SecureScan NX		X
Elle Action View Iools Help		
三日本 Testing hosts	The second secon	<b>2</b>
Job       Pepots         Repots       By Platform         Image: State S	Tasks       100%         ✓       Pot scarning       100%         ✓       DS detection       100%         Testcase execution       94%         Testcase execution results :       Host Name       192.168.1.1         Host Name       192.168.1.1       ✓         OK       192.168.1.1       ✓       OK	Global scan progress
	📃 💭 Perimeter 🔄 🐙 Probe 🔤 🖑 Scan 💋 Host Re	esults Filter Bules
<ul> <li>Inf 20:05:48.302 No server available for "Computalynx CMail S Inf 20:05:48.302 No server available for "Computalynx CMail S Inf 20:05:48.312 No server available for "Al-Mail Buffer Overfl Inf 20:05:48.312 No server available for "MailServer by 5H39 D Inf 20:05:48.322 No server available for "SmartMail Server S Inf 20:05:48.322 No server available for "DoS Attack in CSM M Inf 20:05:48.332 No server available for "MailMail Server Inf 20:05:48.332 No server available for "MailMail Server Inf 20:05:48.332 No server available for "MailMail Server Inf 20:05:48.332 No server available for "MailMail Buffer Overfl Inf 20:05:48.332 No server available for "MailMail Buffer Overfl Inf 20:05:48.342 No server available for "NetWin DMail ETRN B Inf 20:05:48.342 No server available for "NetWin DMail ETRN B</li> </ul>	MTP Server Buffer Overflow DoS" on 192, MTP Buffer Overflow Vulnerability" on 192 ow Vulnerability" on 192,168 179 Denial Of Service Vulnerability" on 192,168 ail Server for Windows" on 192,168,1.125 Crash Vulnerability" on 192,168,1.125 ow in SMTP" on 192,168,1.125 uffer Overflow Vulnerability" on 192,168,	168.1.1:25 2.168.1.1:25 3.1.1:25 5 1.1:25 ↓ 1.1:25 ▼
Running test cases		2 8:06:00 PM

Figure 25: Vigilante SecureScan NX

The vulnerability scan is being done from each segment to each interface of the firewall. With six interfaces used on the firewall, scanning is being done six times.

Scanning execution results:

- Scanning dec0 100.1.1.18 Port Scanning found the following ports opened: *TCP 53*, *UDP 53*, *UDP 500* OS Detection found the following OS: *SCO UnixWare 2.1.2* Test Case Execution found the following results:
  - 0 High risk vulnerabilities found
  - 0 Medium risk vulnerabilities found
  - 0 Low risk vulnerabilities found
- Scanning dec1 192.168.1.1

Port Scanning found the following ports opened: *TCP 53*, *UDP 53* OS Detection found the following OS: *SCO UnixWare 2.1.2* Test Case Execution found the following results:

- *0* High risk vulnerabilities found
- *0* Medium risk vulnerabilities found
- *0* Low risk vulnerabilities found

#### Scanning dec2 - 192.168.2.1, dec3 - 192.168.3.1, dec4 - 192.168.4.1 and dec5 -192.168.5.1

Port Scanning found the following ports opened: -OS Detection found the following OS: *SCO UnixWare 2.1.2* Test Case Execution found the following results:

- 0 High risk vulnerabilities found
- 0 Medium risk vulnerabilities found
- *0* Low risk vulnerabilities found

Vigilante defines the risk level<sup>8</sup> as follows:

- High risk any vulnerability that can unilaterally and directly (not combined with any other vulnerability) lead to compromise the host.
- Medium risk any vulnerability that can lead to the compromise of the host, but not by itself. They can be combined with at least one other medium vulnerability to compromise a host. Medium risk vulnerability in conjunction with information gathered from several low risk vulnerabilities can lead to compromise a host.
- Low risk vulnerability that makes a host more susceptible to further compromise.

Port Scanning results from each interface can be summarized that on the external dec0, DNS ports and IKE are opened; on the dec1, DNS ports are opened; other interfaces no ports are opened. These open ports found are expected.

OS Detection has found that the OS used by the system is SCO UnixWare 2.1.2, which is the correct result, because CyberGuard firewall UnixWare OS actually originated from this version from SCO, which then heavily modified.

Test Case Execution has found no vulnerabilities on the firewall host. Three categories of vulnerabilities are reporting zero results.

Checking on the firewall itself, no damages have happened, and the firewall still functioning as per normal.

#### Service scanning

Service scanning on the firewall will be done using Nmap to perform port scan and OS detection against the firewall host. Similarly, the scans will be done to each of firewall interfaces. Port 1 to 65535 will be scanned and no host discovery will be performed (ICMP or TCP ping).

The results from Nmap can be compared to the results from Vigilante SecureScan NX.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Taken from Sample Report at URL:

http://www.vigilante.com/securescan/perimeter/sample report/scex classic.zip

In general, the scans will be executed with the following syntax:

Scan type	Syntax
SYN scan	nmap -P0 -sS -O <i>target_IP</i> -p1-65535
UDP scan	nmap -PO -sU target_IP -p1-65535

Options used on the commands:

Option	Description
nmap	Nmap executable
-P0	Do not try to ping before scan
-sS	Perform SYN scan
-sU	Perform UDP scan
-0	Perform OS identification
target_IP	IP address of the host to be scanned
-p1-65535	Scan port 1 to 65535
	197 - C

Scan results with Nmap:

• Scanning dec0 – 100.1.1.18 and dec1 – 192.168.1.1

SYN scan with the commands:

nmap -P0 -sS -O 100.1.1.18 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS -O 192.168.1.1 -p1-65535

Generate the following results:

(The 65534 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed)
Port State Service (RPC)
53/tcp open domain
Remote operating system guess: SCO UnixWare 2.1.2

UDP scan with the command:

nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.18 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.1.1 -p1-65535

Generate the following result:

(The 65534 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed)
Port State Service
53/udp open domain

 Scanning dec2 – 192.168.2.1, dec3 – 192.168.3.1, dec4 – 192.168.4.1 and dec5 – 192.168.5.1

SYN scan with the following commands:
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.1 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.3.1 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.4.1 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.5.1 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.2.1 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.3.1 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.4.1 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.5.1 -p1-65535

Generate the same result: all ports scanned are closed.

Summary for service scanning on the firewall, open ports found are DNS ports (TCP and UDP port 53) on the dec0, 100.1.1.18 and dec1, 192.168.1.1. These open ports are expected. Somehow, Nmap doesn't found IKE port open on the external interface. The rest of the ports scanned are found closed.

Nmap guess the OS of the firewall as SCO Unixware 2.1.2.

Comparing the results from Vigilante Securescan NX and Nmap, they gather similar results, except for the IKE port, which found by Vigilante Securescan NX, but not by Nmap.

# Firewall Rules Verification

Testing will be conducted following the planning. When performing the scanning using Nmap, P0 option is used to avoid the scanner performing host discovery (ICMP ping) before doing the port scan. The firewall is prohibiting ping, so the scan will not be able to continue the scan if the option is not enabled. Scan will be performed for port 1 to 65535. Syntax of the scans is similar to the ones used for service scanning on firewall testing. One unused IP address, 100.1.1.29, is used as the target address when scanning to EXTERNAL segment

In the GIAC network, there are six segments connected and separated by the firewall. Scanning sequence will be done as follows:

### 1. Scanning from EXTERNAL segment

From the EXTERNAL segment, every host in the Internet is able to connect to certain services behind the firewall. For the scanning purpose, one public IP address of the EXTERNAL segment, 100.1.1.30, is used to represent the rest of the Internet, since all of them will have same rules through the firewall.

Additionally, the router, which also located in the EXTERNAL segment, is configured to send log to Syslog server behind the firewall. With this condition, the router IP address will also be used to scan, to see what can be reached behind the firewall using it.

With the firewall performing Dynamic NAT, only addresses configured with Static NAT can be reached from Internet, so only these addresses will be tested. The

INTERNAL1 and INTERNAL2 segments will not be scanned, since there are no Static NAT mappings to the hosts in those segments.

From		То				
Segment	IP	Segment	IP			
Name	Address	Address Name				
		INTERNAL1         -           INTERNAL2         -           SRVNET1         100.1.1.19           SRVNET2         100.1.1.20				
	100.1.1.30					
		SRVNET3	IP Address - - 100.1.1.19 100.1.1.20 100.1.1.21 - - 100.1.1.19 100.1.1.20 100.1.1.21			
EATERINAL		INTERNAL1	-			
		INTERNAL2	IP Address - - 100.1.1.19 100.1.1.20 100.1.1.21 - - 100.1.1.19 100.1.1.20 100.1.1.21			
	100.1.1.17	INTERNAL1         -           INTERNAL2         -           SRVNET1         100.1.1.19           SRVNET2         100.1.1.20           SRVNET3         100.1.1.21           INTERNAL1         -           INTERNAL2         -           SRVNET3         100.1.1.19           SRVNET3         100.1.1.21           INTERNAL1         -           SRVNET1         100.1.1.19           SRVNET2         100.1.1.20           SRVNET2         100.1.1.20				
		SRVNET2 🦾	100.1.1.20			
		SRVNET3	100.1.1.21			

SYN scan from 100.1.1.30 to 100.1.1.19 with the command:

nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.19 -p1-65535

#### Generate the result:

(The 65533 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed)
Port State Service
25/tcp open smtp
53/tcp filtered domain

The firewall logs record the following permitted connection:

Date	: Mon Mar 3 13:53:20 2003
Event name	: ng_permit
Process(lwp) id 🥂	: -1
Status (code)	: Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Proxy
Source	: 100.1.1.30
Interface	: dec0
Port	: 49816
Destination	: 192.168.3.2
Interface	: dec3
Port	: 25
Protocol	: tcp
Flags	: 0x2
Direction	: Receive

Windump doesn't record any connection from 100.1.1.30

SYN scan from 100.1.1.30 to 100.1.1.20 with the command:

nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.20 -p1-65535

#### Generate the result:

(The 65532 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed)
Port State Service
53/tcp filtered domain
80/tcp open http
443/tcp open https

Firewall log records two permitted connections, one for http and one for https:

Date	:	Mon Mar 3 14:19:32 2003
Event name	:	ng_permit
Process(lwp) id	:	-1
Status (code)	:	Success
Credentials:		
User(Real:Effective)	1:	nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	4	nobody:nobody
Session id	۲:	-1
Netguard Packet	:	Proxy
Source	:	100.1.1.30
Interface	:	dec0
Port	:	48246
Destination	:	192.168.4.2
Interface	:	dec4
Port	:	80
Protocol	:	tcp
Flags	:	0x2
Direction	:	Receive

For simplicity, log record for https is not shown here, but similar to the record above, except that the port is 443 instead of 80.

Windump doesn't record any connection from 100.1.1.30

SYN scan from 100.1.1.30 to 100.1.1.21 with the command:

nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.21 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed. Firewall logs doesn't record any permitted connections. Windump doesn't record any connection from 100.1.1.30.

UDP scan from 100.1.1.30 to the three addresses with the commands:

nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.19 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.20 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.21 -p1-65535 Found all ports scanned closed. Firewall logs doesn't record any permitted connections. Windump doesn't record any connection from 100.1.1.30

Scanning from 100.1.1.17 (router address) with similar commands issued as with the scanning from 100.1.1.30, all the results are the same, except for UDP scanning to 100.1.1.21.

UDP scanning from 100.1.1.17 to 100.1.1.21, with the command:

```
nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.21 -p1-65535
```

Generate the following results:

(The 65534 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed) Port State Service 514/udp open syslog

#### Firewall log shows the following:

Date Event name Process(lwp) id Status(code)	: Mon Mar 3 14:25:17 2003 : ng_permit : -1 : Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Permit
Source	: 100.1.1.17
Interface	: dec0
Port	: 41441
Destination	: 192.168.5.3
Interface	: dec5
Port	: 514
Protocol	: udp
Direction	: Receive

Windump captures the following:

14:25:19.026093 100.1.1.17.41441 > 192.168.1.2.514: udp 0

### 2. Scanning from INTERNAL1 segment

From this segment, 3 addresses are used to scan other segments. Two are the domain controllers addresses, 192.168.1.11 and 192.168.1.12, which have several specific rules defined for them in the firewall. The third address, 192.168.1.150, is one of the workstation addresses, which used to represent other workstations which have similar access through the firewall.

From		То				
Segment Name	IP Address	Segment Name	IP Address			
		EXTERNAL	100.1.1.29			
		INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2			
	102 168 1 11	SRVNET1 192.168.				
	192.100.1.11	SRVNET2	192.168.4.2			
			192.168.5.2			
			192.168.5.3			
	102 169 1 12	EXTERNAL	100.1.1.29			
		INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2			
		SRVNET1	192.168.3.2			
	192.100.1.12	SRVNET2	192.168.4.2			
			192.168.5.2			
		Segment Name         IP Address           EXTERNAL         100.1.1.2           INTERNAL2         192.168.2           SRVNET1         192.168.3           SRVNET2         192.168.4           SRVNET2         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5           EXTERNAL         100.1.1.2           INTERNAL2         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5           SRVNET1         192.168.5           SRVNET2         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5           SRVNET1         192.168.5           SRVNET1         192.168.5           SRVNET2         192.168.5           SRVNET1         192.168.5           SRVNET2         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5           SRVNET3         192.168.5				
		EXTERNAL	100.1.1.29			
		INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2			
	102 168 1 150	SRVNET1	192.168.3.2			
	192.100.1.100	SRVNET2	192.168.4.2			
			192.168.5.2			
47 J		SILVINE IS	192.168.5.3			

SYN scan is done from each of the two addresses 192.168.1.11 and 192.168.1.12 with the following commands:

nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.5.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.5.3 -p1-65535

UDP scan is done from each of the two addresses 192.168.1.11 and 192.168.1.12 with the following commands:

nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.5.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.5.3 -p1-65535

From both scans, all ports scanned are found closed.

Firewall log doesn't show any permitted traffic from 192.168.1.11 and 192.168.1.12. Same thing happened on Windump.

SYN scan is done from 192.168.1.150 to 100.1.1.29 with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535

The scan shows the following result:

(The 65531	ports s	canned but not	shown	below	are	in	state:	closed)
Port	State	Service						
21/tcp	open	ftp						
25/tcp	open	smtp						
80/tcp	open	http						
443/tcp	open	https						

Firewall log captures the permitted traffic for the four open ports, as follows:

Date :	Mon Mar 3 14:51:08 2003
Event name :	ng permit
Process(lwp) id :	-1
Status (code) :	Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	nobody:nobody
Session id 🛛 🔨 :	-1
Netguard Packet	Proxy
Source :	192.168.1.150
Interface :	decl
Port :	48241
Destination :	100.1.1.29
Interface :	dec0
Port :	21
Protocol :	tcp
Flags :	0x2
Direction :	Receive

Only one shown here, the other three are similar with different port values - 25, 80 and 443.

However, Windump doesn't capture any traffic from 100.1.1.18 (translating the original address 192.168.1.150).

UDP scan from 192.168.1.150 to 100.1.1.29 with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed, no permitted traffic on the firewall as well as on Windump.

SYN scan from 192.168.1.150 to 192.168.2.2 (giac-db) with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535

Generate the following result:

(The 65534 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed) Port State Service 1433/tcp open ms-sql-s

Firewall log captures the connection as shown below:

Date	: Mon Mar 3 15:01:15 2003
Event name	: ng_permit
Process(lwp) id	: -1
Status (code)	: Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Permit
Source	: 192.168.1.150
Interface	: dec1
Port	: 17588
Destination	: 192.168.2.2
Interface	: dec2
Port	: 1433
Protocol	: tcp
Flags	: 0x2
Direction	: Receive

Windump shows the following:

15:02:24.866564 192.168.1.150.17588 > 192.168.2.2.1433: S 3678866036:3678866036(0) win 3072

UDP scan from 192.168.1.150 to 192.168.2.2 (giac-db) with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed, no permitted traffic on the firewall and Windump.

SYN scan from 192.168.1.150 to 192.168.3.2 (*giac-mail*) with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535

Found the following result:

(The 65531	ports sc	canned but	not	shown	below	are	in	state:	closed)
Port	State	Servio	ce						
135/tcp	open	loc-sr	ſV						
1026/tcp	open	LSA-or	-nte	erm					
1027/tcp	open	IIS							
1028/tcp	open	ms-lsa	ì						

Firewall captures the traffic above:

Date	: Mon Mar 3 15:14:34 2003
Event name	: ng_permit
Process(lwp) id	: -1
Status (code)	: Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Permit
Source	: 192.168.1.150
Interface	: decl
Port	: 11359
Destination	: 192.168.3.2
Interface	: dec3
Port	: 135
Protocol	: tcp
Flags	: 0x2
Direction	: Receive

Other ports, which are 1026, 1027 and 1028 also shown in the similar log records not shown here.

Windump also captures them:

15:15:11.506564 192.168.1.150.11359 > 192.168.3.2.135: S
2396814955:2396814955(0) win 3072
15:17:14.066564 192.168.1.150.11359 > 192.168.3.2.1026: S
3678866036:3678866036(0) win 3072
15:15:13.746564 192.168.1.150.11360 > 192.168.3.2.1027: S
4134619797:4134619797(0) win 3072
15:16:12.786564 192.168.1.150.11359 > 192.168.3.2.1028: S
4134619797:4134619797(0) win 3072

UDP scan from 192.168.1.150 to 192.168.3.2 (*giac-mail*) with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed, no permitted traffic record on the firewall log and none on Windump.

SYN scan from 192.168.1.150 to 192.168.4.2 (*giac-web*) with the following command:

```
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535
```

Found the following result:

(The 65533 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed) Port State Service 80/tcp open http 443/tcp open https

Firewall log shown the permitted traffic:

Date	: Mon Mar 3 15:32:46 2003
Event name	: ng_permit
Process(lwp) id	: -1
Status (code)	: Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Proxy
Source	: 192.168.1.150
Interface	: decl
Port	: 18352
Destination	: 192.168.4.2
Interface	: dec4
Port	: 80
Protocol	: tcp
Flags	: 0x2
Direction	: Receive

Only log for port 80 shown here, but 443 is similar to this. Windump doesn't capture anything.

UDP scan from 192.168.1.150 to 192.168.4.2 (*giac-web*) with the following command:

```
nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535
```

Found all ports scanned closed.

Firewall log doesn't show any permitted traffic, and Windump doesn't capture any traffic.

SYN scan and UDP scan from 192.168.1.150 to 192.168.5.2 (*giac-avs*) and 192.168.5.3 (*giac-log*) with the following commands respectively:

nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.5.2-3 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.5.2-3 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed.

Firewall log doesn't capture any permitted traffic, and Windump doesn't capture any traffic from 192.168.1.150.

#### 3. Scanning from INTERNAL2 segment

The *giac-db* address, 192.168.2.2 is used to scan other segments. Additionally, unused IP address, 192.168.2.10, will also be used.

From		То				
Segment Name	IP Address	Segment IP Address Name				
		EXTERNAL	100.1.1.29			
			192.168.1.11			
		INTERNAL1 192.168.1.12				
	102 168 2 2	192.168.1.129-2 SRVNET1 192.168.3.2				
	192.100.2.2					
		SRVNET2 192.10 SRVNET2 192.10	192.168.4.2			
			192.168.5.2			
		SKVINETS	192.168.5.3			
	E	EXTERNAL	100.1.1.29			
		2	192.168.1.11			
		INTERNAL1	192.168.1.12			
	102 169 2 10		192.168.1.129-254			
	192.100.2.10	SRVNET1	192.168.3.2			
		SRVNET2	192.168.4.2			
			192.168.5.2			
			192.168.5.3			

SYN scan from both addresses to addresses in other segments with the following commands:

nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.5.2-3 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed.

Similarly, UDP scan with the following commands:

nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.5.2-3 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed.

Firewall log doesn't capture any permitted traffic for the two types of scans. Windump also doesn't capture any traffic generated from the scanner addresses.

### 4. Scanning from SRVNET1 segment

The *giac-mail* address, 192.168.3.2 and unused address, 192.168.3.10 are used to scan other segments.

Fro	m	То				
Segment Name	IP Address	Segment Name	IP Address			
		EXTERNAL	100.1.1.29			
			192.168.1.11			
		INTERNAL1	192.168.1.12			
	102 168 3 2		192.168.1.129-254			
	192.100.0.2	INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2			
		SRVNET2	192.168.4.2			
			192.168.5.2			
		SKVINETS	192.168.5.3			
SKVINETT		EXTERNAL	100.1.1.29			
		.9	192.168.1.11			
		INTERNAL1	192.168.1.12			
	102 169 2 10		192.168.1.129-254			
	192.108.3.10	INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2			
		SRVNET2	192.168.4.2			
			192.168.5.2			
		SILVINE IS	192.168.5.3			

SYN scan from 192.168.3.2 (giac-mail) to 100.1.1.29 with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535

#### Generate the following result:

(The 65531 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed) Port State Service 25/tcp open smtp

#### Firewall captures the following:

Date	: Mon Mar 3 15:46:48 2003
Event name	: ng_permit
Process(lwp) id	: -1
Status (code)	: Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Proxy
Source	: 192.168.3.2
Interface	: dec3
Port	: 18450
Destination	: 100.1.1.29

Interface	:	dec4
Port	:	25
Protocol	:	tcp
Flags	:	0x2
Direction	:	Receive

Windump doesn't capture any traffic from 100.1.1.18 (firewall is translating the original address 192.168.3.2).

SYN scan from 192.168.3.2 (*giac-mail*) to 192.168.1.11, 192.168.1.12 and 192.168.1.129 to 192.168.1.254 with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535

Generate the following result for 192.168.1.11 and 192.168.1.12:

(The 65528	ports scan	ned but not show	wn below are	in	state:	closed)
Port	State	Service				
53/tcp	open	domain				
88/tcp	open	kerberos-sec				
135/tcp	open	loc-srv				
389/tcp	open	ldap				
445/tcp	open	microsoft-ds				
1025/tcp	open	NFS-or-IIS				
3268/tcp	open	globalcatLDAP				

Firewall log captures permitted traffic on the following:

Date	: Mon Mar 3 16:04:11 2003
Event name	: ng_permit
Process(lwp) id	: -1
Status (code)	: Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Permit
Source	: 192.168.3.2
Interface	: dec3
Port	: 26554
Destination	: 192.168.1.11
Interface	: decl
Port	: 53
Protocol	: tcp
Flags	: 0x2
Direction	: Receive

The rest of the log records for other ports captured are similar to this, as well as the scans to 192.168.1.12.

Windump captures the following traffic from 192.168.3.2:

```
16:05:02.646564 192.168.3.2.26554 > 192.168.1.11.53: S
4019927700:4019927700(0) win 4096
16:05:02.646564 192.168.3.2.26554 > 192.168.1.11.88: S
4019927700:4019927700(0) win 4096
16:05:02.646564 192.168.3.2.26554 > 192.168.1.11.389: S
4019927700:4019927700(0) win 4096
16:05:02.656564 192.168.3.2.26555 > 192.168.1.11.445: S
4019927700:4019927700(0) win 4096
16:05:02.656564 192.168.3.2.26554 > 192.168.1.11.1025: S
4019927700:4019927700(0) win 4096
```

Traffic captured by Windump from the scan to 192.168.1.12 are similar to these. UDP scan from 192.168.3.2 (*giac-mail*) to 192.168.1.11, 192.168.1.12 and 192.168.1.129 to 192.168.1.254 with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535

Generate the following result for scan to 192.168.1.11 and 192.168.1.12:

(The	65531	ports	scanne	ed but	not	shown	below	are	in	state:	closed)
Port		State		Servio	ce						
53/udj	р	open		domain	l						
88/udj	р	open		kerbei	cos-s	sec					
123/u	dp	open		ntp							
389/u	dp	open		ldap							

Firewall log captures the following:

Date	: Mon Mar 3 16:15:47 2003
Event name	: ng permit
Process(lwp) id	: -1
Status (code)	: Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Permit
Source	: 192.168.3.2
Interface	: dec3
Port	: 41352
Destination	: 192.168.1.11
Interface	: decl
Port	: 53
Protocol	: udp

Direction

: Receive

The log record above is for UDP port 53, the rest will be the similar, with different port values, which are 88, 123 and 389.

Windump captures the following:

14:25:19.244758 192.168.3.2.41352 > 192.168.1.11.53: udp 0 14:25:19.244990 192.168.3.2.41352 > 192.168.1.11.88: udp 0 14:25:19.244324 192.168.3.2.41352 > 192.168.1.11.123: udp 0 14:25:19.554198 192.168.3.2.41352 > 192.168.1.11.389: udp 0

Similar traffic captured by Windump for scans to 192.168.1.12.

For both scans to 192.168.1.129 to 192.168.1.254, all ports scanned are closed, with firewall log doesn't capture any permitted traffic. Windump also doesn't capture any traffic from the scanner address.

SYN scan from 192.168.3.2 (*giac-mail*) to 192.168.2.2, 192.168.4.2, 192.168.5.2 and 192.168.5.3 with the following commands:

nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.5.2-3 -p1+65535

Found all ports scanned closed.

UDP scan from 192.168.3.2 (*giac-mail*) to 100.1.1.29, 192.168.4.2, 192.168.5.2 and 192.168.5.3 with the following commands:

nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.5.2-3 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed.

SYN scan and UDP scan from 192.168.3.10 (unused IP address) to all target addresses in other segments with the following commands:

nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.5.2-3 -p1-65535

```
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.5.2-3 -p1-65535
```

Found all ports scanned closed.

For all scans found scanned ports closed, firewall log doesn't capture permitted traffic, and Windump doesn't capture traffic originated from the scanner addresses.

#### 5. Scanning from SRVNET2 segment

The *giac-web* address, 192.168.4.2 and unused address, 192.168.4.10 are used to scan other segments.

From		То			
Segment Name	IP Address	Segment Name	IP Address		
		EXTERNAL 🛒	100.1.1.29		
		0	192.168.1.11		
		INTERNAL1	192.168.1.12		
	192.168.4.2		192.168.1.129-254		
		INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2		
		SRVNET1	192.168.3.2		
			192.168.5.2		
		SILVINE IS	192.168.5.3		
SKVINETZ	200	EXTERNAL	100.1.1.29		
			192.168.1.11		
		INTERNAL1	192.168.1.12		
	102 169 4 10		192.168.1.129-254		
	192.100.4.10	INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2		
		SRVNET1	192.168.3.2		
			192.168.5.2		
		SKVINETS	192.168.5.3		

SYN scan from 192.168.4.2 (*giac-web*) to 192.168.2.2 (*giac-db*) with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535

#### Generate the following result:

(The 65534 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed) Port State Service 1433/tcp open ms-sql-s

Firewall captures the traffic:

Date	: Mon Mar 3 16:27:33 2003
Event name	: ng permit
Process(lwp) id	: -1
Status (code)	: Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Permit
Source	: 192.168.4.2
Interface	: dec4
Port	: 1656
Destination	: 192.168.2.2
Interface	: dec2
Port	: 1433
Protocol	: tcp
Flags	: 0x2
Direction	: Receive

Windump captures the traffic:

16:28:51.206564 192.168.4.2.1656 > 192.168.2.2.1433: S 2396814955:2396814955(0) win 3072

SYN scan from 192.168.4.10 (*giac-web*) to 192.168.2.2 (*giac-db*) with the following command:

nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed.

SYN scan from both addresses to the rest of addresses in other segments with the following commands:

```
nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.5.2-3 -p1-65535
```

Found all ports scanned closed.

UDP scan to all addresses in other segments with the following commands:

nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.29 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.5.2-3 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed.

For the scans found ports closed, firewall log doesn't capture any permitted traffic, and Windump doesn't capture traffic from scanner addresses.

#### 6. Scanning from SRVNET3 segment

The *giac-avs* address, 192.168.5.2, *giac-log* address, 192.168.5.3 and unused address, 192.168.5.10 are used to scan other segments.

Fro	m	То				
Segment Name	IP Address	Segment Name	IP Address			
		ΕΥΤΕΡΝΙΔΙ	100.1.1.17			
			100.1.1.29			
			192.168.1.11			
	102 168 5 2	INTERNAL1	192.168.1.12			
	192.100.5.2		192.168.1.129-254			
		INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2			
		SRVNET1	192.168.3.2			
		SRVNET2	192.168.4.2			
	192.168.5.3	EXTERNAL	100.1.1.17			
			100.1.1.29			
		30	192.168.1.11			
		INTERNAL1	192.168.1.12			
SKVINETS			192.168.1.129-254			
		INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2			
		SRVNET1	192.168.3.2			
		SRVNET2	192.168.4.2			
			100.1.1.17			
			100.1.1.29			
			192.168.1.11			
	102 168 5 10	INTERNAL1	192.168.1.12			
	192.100.3.10		192.168.1.129-254			
		INTERNAL2	192.168.2.2			
, e		SRVNET1	192.168.3.2			
V	۲.	SRVNET2	192.168.4.2			

SYN scan from 192.168.5.2 to 100.1.1.17 (router) and 100.1.1.29 with the command:

nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.17,29 -p1-65535

#### Generate the following result for 100.1.1.29:

(The 65534 ports scanned but not shown below are in state: closed) Port State Service 80/tcp open http Firewall log captures the following:

Date	:	Mon Mar 3 16:51:08 2003				
Event name	:	ng permit				
Process(lwp) id	:	-1				
Status (code)	:	Success				
Credentials:						
User(Real:Effective)	:	nobody:nobody				
Group(Real:Effective)	:	nobody:nobody				
Session id	:	-1				
Netguard Packet	:	Proxy				
Source	:	192.168.5.2				
Interface	:	dec5				
Port	:	45935				
Destination	:	100.1.1.29				
Interface	:	dec0				
Port	:	80				
Protocol	:	tcp				
Flags	:	0x2				
Direction	:	Receive				

Windump doesn't capture any traffic from 100.1.1.18 (firewall translating original address 192.168.5.2)

Scan to 100.1.1.17 shows all ports scanned closed, with the firewall log doesn't capture any permitted traffic, and Windump doesn't capture traffic from the scanner.

SYN scan from 192.168.5.3 to 100.1.1.17 (router) and 100.1.1.29 with the command:

nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.17,29 -p1-65535

Generate the following result for 100.1.1.17:

(The	65534	ports	scanned	but	not	shown	below	are	in	state:	closed)
Port		State	Se	ervi	ce						
23/tc	р	open	te	elnet	t						

Firewall log captures the following:

Date	: Mon Mar 3 16:59:31 2003
Event name	: ng_permit
Process(lwp) id	: -1
Status (code)	: Success
Credentials:	
User(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Group(Real:Effective)	: nobody:nobody
Session id	: -1
Netguard Packet	: Permit
Source	: 192.168.5.3
Interface	: dec5
Port	: 1653
Destination	: 100.1.1.17

Interface	:	dec0
Port	:	23
Protocol	:	tcp
Flags	:	0x2
Direction	:	Receive

Windump captures the following:

```
17:00:49.363687 100.1.1.17.21558 > 100.1.1.17.23: S
3076462020:3076462020(0) win 3072
```

Scan to 100.1.1.29 shows all ports scanned closed, with the firewall log doesn't capture any permitted traffic, and Windump doesn't capture traffic from the scanner.

SYN scan from 192.168.5.2 and 192.168.5.3 to target addresses in internal segments, with the following commands:

```
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535
```

Found all ports scanned closed.

Firewall log captures no permitted traffic, and Windump also doesn't capture traffic from the scanner.

UDP scan from 192.168.5.2 and 192.168.5.3 to all target addresses in other segments with the commands:

```
nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.17,29 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535
```

Found all ports scanned closed.

Firewall log captures no permitted traffic, and Windump also doesn't capture traffic from the scanner.

SYN scans and UDP scans from 192.168.5.10 to all target addresses in other segments with the following commands:

```
nmap -P0 -sS 100.1.1.17,29 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sS 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sU 100.1.1.17,29 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.1.11-12,129-254 -p1-65535
nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.2.2 -p1-65535
```

nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.3.2 -p1-65535 nmap -P0 -sU 192.168.4.2 -p1-65535

Found all ports scanned closed, firewall doesn't log any permitted traffic, and Windump doesn't capture any traffic from the scanner address.

Summary of firewall rules verification:

- Comparing the results on firewall rules verification with firewall policy, can be said that open ports found are supposed to be opened, and closed or blocked ports are also blocked by the firewall.
- All traffic for open ports found by the scanner are captured on the firewall log as permitted traffic. However, not all of these traffic are captured by Windump, which was located at the target segments.
- None of the traffic for closed ports found by the scanner are captured on the firewall as permitted traffic and neither they captured by Windump.

# **Proxy Services Testing**

### **Testing HTTP Proxy**

From the external segment, telnet command is executed against the IP address of the web server, 100.1.1.20. Testing will be done three times, each with different command, POST, PUT and DELETE.

POST command:

```
Telnet 100.1.1.20 80
Trying 100.1.1.20...
Connected to 100.1.1.20.
Escape character is '^]'.
POST / HTTP/1.0
```

#### PUT command:

```
Telnet 100.1.1.20 80
Trying 100.1.1.20...
Connected to 100.1.1.20.
Escape character is '^]'.
PUT / HTTP/1.0
```

### DELETE command:

Telnet 100.1.1.20 80 Trying 100.1.1.20... Connected to 100.1.1.20. Escape character is '^]'. DELETE / HTTP/1.0 For the three commands execution above, the HTTP Proxy return the following:

```
HTTP/1.0 403 Forbidden
Date: Friday, 14-Mar-03 04:48:01 GMT
Server: Web Proxy
Content-type: text/html
Connection: close
<HTML>
<TITLE>Web Proxy</TITLE>
<HR>
<H1>Web Proxy</H1>
<HR>
<H3>This site is protected by a firewall.
All requests are screened and logged.</H3><P>
<H2>You are not permitted to access the requested URL /.</H2><P>
<HR>
<center>
<H4>For further information contact:
<ADDRESS>admin@giac.com</ADDRESS></H4>
</center>
</HTML>
```

The HTTP Proxy is rejecting the execution of those commands, as stated in the Firewall policy.

### **Testing SMTP Proxy**

From the external segment, using IP address 100.1.1.29, telnet command is executed against the IP address of the web server, 100.1.1.20. Connection will be done to test whether mail relaying is allowed.

Mail relay testing:

```
Telnet 100.1.1.20 80
Trying 100.1.1.20...
Connected to 100.1.1.20.
Escape character is '^]'.
220 fw SMTP Proxy Service Ready (Version: Mon Apr 29 10:19:16 EDT 2002)
HELO mail.test.com
250 fw Hello 100.1.1.29 [100.1.1.29], pleased to meet you
MAIL FROM:<mytest@test.com>
250 MAIL FROM:sony2@mytest.com
RCPT TO:<mytest@test.com>
550 Relaying not allowed
```

The SMTP Proxy is rejecting the sending of email to *mytest@test.com*, because it only allow recipients address with *giac.com* domain.

# Audit Evaluation and Recommendation

# Audit Analysis and Evaluation

Analyzing and evaluating the audit results, below are several things to point out:

- Generally, the audit results reflecting that the firewall configuration has clearly implement the defined firewall policy.
- Taking note from the port scans (SYN scan and UDP scan) with Nmap to or through the firewall, the results for ports that not found opened are stated as closed. But when checks are done against firewall log, these ports are not permitted (denied). Another checks with Windump shows that there are no closed ports traffic passing through the firewall from the scanner address. This means that the firewall is blocking the traffic. Normally with Nmap, if the traffic is blocked by the firewall, they should be stated as filtered.

Further analysis shows that although the firewall is blocking the traffic, it sends replies to the sender. Meaning it sent RST packets for SYN scan and ICMP unreachable for UDP scan.

This is due to the default deny rule as the last rule, which has ENABLE\_REPLY option turned on.

To silence the firewall, so that it will not send any replies for denied packets, ENABLE\_REPLY option should be removed from the last deny rule.

With this option removed, if SYN scan is conducted against the firewall, it will take longer to finish since the scanner will need to wait for timeout before decides that the ports are blocked by the firewall. Nmap will then also state not opened ports as filtered.

For UDP scan, removing this option will cause the scanner to give inaccurate conclusion. Either guessing all ports opened or filtered, because no ICMP unreachable packets are sent to it by the firewall.

Several results found for open ports that actually permitted by using proxies, where
the scanner found these ports as open, firewall log capture them as permitted but
Windump didn't capture any traffic originating from the scanner. This is the normal
behavior of the proxies in CyberGuard firewall. The proxies will wait for the TCP
three way handshake process of the request from the client to complete first before
they open another session to the server. The SYN scan probes only send SYN
packet without further reply with ACK packet when the firewall sends SYN/ACK as
the reply of the initial SYN packet.

Further information of the permitted traffic by proxies can be seen on the related log entry, which shown that field *netguard packet* is of type *proxy* instead of *permit*. This behavior will be an effective solution against SYN flood attack, since the attack will stop at the firewall without even talking to the server protected by the firewall.

• The proxies are able to provide more protection beyond the packet filtering, by inspecting some part of the application layer, as proven in the testing.

# **Recommendations for Network Architecture Improvements**

The current design of network infrastructure should be sufficient to provide adequate services and protection for the online business operations. However, it still can be improved to achieve better environment in terms of network operation as well as its security. This can be done along the way as the company grows.

### Upgrading the firewall to High Availability system

The firewall used in the current environment is a single point of failure. If for any reasons it goes down, all other network components will be affected, which cause total failure to the business operation it is servicing. This situation can be improved by upgrading the firewall system to use High Availability. Using this system, two firewalls are required, in which one firewall will be active firewall, servicing the traffic and the other will be standby firewall, stand in for the active firewall. If the active firewall goes down, the standby firewall will take over to become active. During the transition between the active goes down and standby take over, there are few seconds required to make the connectivity up and running again. Two additional network interfaces are required on High Availability feature for the firewalls to check each other's status. Each of the network segments should be connected to the two firewalls. By using this system, minimum down time of the network can be achieved.

### Adding several new web servers for functional separation

The current network structure is using a single web server to provide both HTTP and HTTPS traffic. HTTPS service is servicing the Partners as well as the Customers. This will make it a single point of failure. Enhancing the structure, several other web servers can be added, which have separate duties. Three web servers can be used, one serving HTTP (labeled *giac-web*), one HTTPS server for Partners (labeled *giac-sweb1*) and one HTTPS server for Customers (labeled *giac-sweb2*). If any of the server goes down, it will not affecting other servers serving for other function.

#### Adding second layer firewall, additional database server and mail server

Second layer firewall can be added into the network structure to protect critical servers. The domain controllers and file servers can be moved behind this second layer firewall, protecting them from the internal users and VPN users.

Because the database is a critical part of the business, the database system can also be separated into two servers, internal and external database servers (labeled *giacintdb* and *giac-extdb* respectively). All interactive transactions to database will be performed to the external database servers. On scheduled times, the internal database server will pull the updates from the external database server. This system will ensure that there is a secure backup of the database.

Additional mail server acting as mail relay (labeled *giac-extmail*) can be added in place of the current mail server, and relocate the mail server (now labeled *giac-intmail*) behind the internal firewall. The mail relay will accept the SMTP traffic, then relay the SMTP traffic to the mail server and vice versa. Other server in the Internet will only communicate with the mail relay. This will enhance the mail system security, although the SMTP proxy actually already offered additional protection. Mail relay should be using different mail server application from the internal mail server, and should be running under different operating system.

### Placing Intrusion Detection systems into the network

Intrusion Detection systems can be installed in the network to monitor network activities and generate alerts when suspicious traffic detected. Ideally, IDS sensors are placed on each of the network segments, to provide a full view of the whole network. But placing one sensor on the external and one other in the internal would be sufficient to monitor most part of the traffic. The external sensor will monitor traffic coming in and out of the network including those who may bypass the router filters. Internal sensor will monitor the activities happened among the hosts in the internal network as well as traffic communicated to and from other segments connected to the firewall including the Internet.

### Adding redundant link to Internet

With the current network relying on only one link to Internet, it introduces single point of failure. In the event of failure to the link or the ISP, the whole connection to Internet will go down as well. Additional link to Internet should be added and subscription of the line should be made not to the same ISP. With two links available, redundancy is achieved. A load balancer switch that can perform Internet link load balancing could then be introduced to the network. With this switch, the two links will be fully utilized at all time.

Enhancement on the network design is shown in Figure 26. IP addresses and other parties communicating to GIAC network are omitted from the diagram for ease of showing the new changes.

© SANS Institute 2003,



Figure 26: Enhanced GIAC Network Design

# Assignment 4 – Design Under Fire

For this part of assignment, the network design done by Kevin Bong, Analyst number 0361, will be used as the target of the attacks (<u>http://www.giac.org/practical/GCFW/Kevin Bong GCFW.pdf</u>). Figure 27 shows the network diagram depicted from his practical.



# **Attack Against Firewall**

Firewall used in the network design chosen is Symantec Enterprise Firewall/VPN 7.0 running on Windows 2000 Service Pack 3.

Research from the Security Focus website on vulnerabilities for this version of firewall, <u>http://www.securityfocus.com/bid</u>, shows several results, which the latest two are:

 Symantec Enterprise Firewall RealAudio Proxy Buffer Overflow Vulnerability (BID 6389)<sup>9</sup>

This is the latest vulnerability found for Symantec Enterprise Firewall, which may have higher chances of success. Unfortunately, there are no further information can be found on how to carry out the attack, and no exploits are available. Furthermore, in Kevin's firewall policy, RealAudio Proxy is not used and disabled during his audit process.

Multiple Symantec HTTP Proxy Denial of Service Vulnerability (BID 5958)<sup>10</sup>
Kevin's firewall is configured to use HTTP Proxy, which make exploiting this
vulnerability may have the chance of success. However, this vulnerability has been
found quite some time, and there is patch available for it that maybe already applied
on the firewall. This will be the attack of choice.

# Firewall Attack Plan

Vulnerability chosen as discussed above is **Multiple Symantec HTTP Proxy Denial of Service Vulnerability (BID 5958)**. This vulnerability is assigned name **CAN-2002-0990** for CVE<sup>11</sup>. Further research of this vulnerability, is done with reference to Symantec Security Response,

<u>http://securityresponse.symantec.com/avcenter/security/Content/2002.10.11.html</u>, another links from Security Focus, <u>http://www.securityfocus.com/archive/1/295279</u> and Advance IT-Security, <u>http://www.ai-sec.dk</u>, a security consulting company that reported the vulnerability.

Report on the vulnerability by Advance IT-Security<sup>12</sup> is as follows:

```
Issue:
=====
Multiple Symantec Firewall Secure Webserver timeout DoS
```

```
Problemdescription:
```

There exists a problem in "Simple, secure webserver 1.1" which is shipped with numerous Symantec firewalls, in which an attacker can connect to the proxyserver from the outside, and issue a HTTP-style CONNECT to a domain with a missing, or flawed DNS-server. The "Simple, secure webserver 1.1" appears to wait for a timeout contacting the DNS server, and while doing so the software does not fork and thereby queues or drops all requests coming from other clients. The timeout usually last up to 300 seconds. Sending subsequent requests for other hostnames in the same flawed domain will force the Simple, secure webserver 1.1 to stop processing requests for a long time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> http://www.securityfocus.com/bid/6389

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> <u>http://www.securityfocus.com/bid/5958</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> http://cve.mitre.org/cgi-bin/cvename.cgi?name=CAN-2002-0990

<sup>12</sup> http://www.ai-

sec.dk/modules.php?op=modload&name=News&file=article&sid=29&mode=thread&order=0&thold=0

The exploit works regardless if the domainname in question is allowed or not in the ACL.

### From Symantec<sup>13</sup>, below is the description of the vulnerability:

Advance IT-Security a Scandinavian security consultancy, notified Symantec of a denial-of-service (DOS) issue they had discovered with the web proxy component in the Symantec Enterprise Firewall. A malicious user who is able to establish a remote connection to the proxy server could, by requesting multiple connections to a nonexistent or erroneous internal URL, cause the proxy server to timeout for an extended period of time. While timed out, the server fails to process any subsequent connection requests.

To exploit this vulnerability, multiple crafted HTTP GET requests will be sent to the web server protected by the proxy. The HTTP proxy located at the firewall will intercept the requests before pass them to the web server. The GET requests will contain references to non-existent URL. The HTTP proxy will then try to resolve the name contained in the URL. If the firewall is vulnerable, according to the report, it will take a period of time (up to 300 seconds) to wait for the resolution and not processing any subsequent connection requests during that time. Multiple of such request will cause it to deny legitimate connection requests.

The HTTP GET request to be sent to the web server will be in the following form:

GET http://notexist.server.com HTTP/1.1

Using this form of request, while it is directed to the web server, the proxy will understand that it has to perform the name resolution of *notexist.server.com*.

To launch the request, a small program, **webi.c**, HTTP Request Packet Injection, available at SecuriTeam.com web site,

<u>http://www.securiteam.com/tools/5NP0E1P60W.html</u> will be used. This tool will provide easier method in launching multiple requests, although additional simple script is required to run it multiple times. Each execution of the tool will only launch one request.

To check whether the firewall vulnerable to this, a simple request to the web server with browser can be used. If no reply received by the browser after the execution of the tool, then the firewall is vulnerable, or else it is not.

The real identity of the attacker can be covered, by using a remotely controlled compromised host to launch the attack. The tool will have to be transported over to that compromised host. Checking of the firewall status with web browser can be done from any host even by the real attacker machine, as this will be a normal request.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> <u>http://securityresponse.symantec.com/avcenter/security/Content/2002.10.11.html</u>

### Firewall Attack Execution

Target of the attack is Kevin's web server address, which is 63.100.47.37 and nonexistent server, as mentioned above, *notexist.server.com*, is used.

The tool's source code, **webi.c**, is compiled and named as **webi**, prior to be executed. To craft the request, the following syntax is used:

./webi -s 63.100.47.37 -u http://notexist.server.com -m GET

Options used explained in the following table:

Option	Description
./webi	The executable file
-s 63.100.47.37	Target web server address
-u http://notexist.server.com	URI requested
-m GET	HTTP method used

Running the tool against the web server, intercepted by the firewall proxy, resulting the following response:

```
HTTP/1.1 404 Hostname lookup failure
MIME-Version: 1.0
Server: Simple, Secure Web Server 1.1
Date: Wed, 12 Mar 2003 17:31:34 GMT
Connection: close
Content-Type: text/html
<HTML>
<HTML>
<HEAD><TITLE>Firewall Error: Host name lookup failure</TITLE></HEAD>
<BODY>
<H1>Host name lookup failure</H1>
The host <B>notexist.server.com</B> could not be found. Check the
spelling and try again.
</body></HTML>
webi.c - HTTP Request Packet Injection
(c) 2002 Condor (condor@stz-bg.com)
```

Checking the web server by using web browser shows that the web server is still up and responding to the requests.

On the firewall itself, the logs will show two records for each connection request, one for name lookup failure and one for the connection statistics. These could be used to detect the invalid requests.

Below are two firewall log records:

Mar 13 01:31:34.912 THESERVER httpd[800]: 308 Warning: can't lookup host notexist.server.com

```
Mar 13 01:31:34.921 THESERVER httpd[800]: 121 Statistics: duration=0.02
id=45Cj sent=1024 rcvd=401 src=100.100.1.5/32800 op=GET
arg=http://notexist.server.com result="404 Hostname lookup failure"
proto=http
```

Running the tool multiple times also resulting the same response and checking with web browser also gives normal response. Apparently the firewall is no longer vulnerable against this exploit.

As earlier prediction, the patch for this vulnerability, provided by Symantec, has already been applied to the firewall.

To be specific, as stated in the link provided above from Symantec<sup>14</sup>, this is the hotfix:

Symantec Enterprise Firewall V7.0 for Windows 2000 Hotfix:SG7000-20020819-00 - ftpd httpd and axtvpn.sys

# **Distributed Denial of Service Attack**

# DDoS Attack plan

Distributed Denial of Service attack against the chosen site will be done from 50 compromised cable modem/DSL hosts. SYN flood attack method will be used with destination to the web service on TCP port 80. This port is chosen since it is a commonly used service, which most sites will have and then can be easily confirmed by connecting to the site with web browser or telnet to port 80.

The tool of choice to carry out the attack is **TFN2K** created by Mixter (<u>http://mixter.void.ru/tfn2k.tgz</u>). An analysis of this tool can be found in the following URL: <u>http://www.securiteam.com/securitynews/5YP0G000FS.html</u>.

TFN2K consist of client and server components, where one client will issue the attack command to multiple servers. The servers will then perform the attacks against target host. In this case, the servers will be planted into the compromised hosts. TFN2K offers flexibility because of various platforms that it can support, either Windows or Unix, which make it easier in finding the hosts for its server component.

To make it difficult to trace the attack source, communication between the client and the servers will be using random protocols, which can be UDP, TCP or ICMP. The communication will only be carried out in one direction, from the client to the servers, without requiring any replies. Every command will be sent 20 times by the client, expecting the servers will receive at least one.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> <u>http://securityresponse.symantec.com/avcenter/security/Content/2002.10.11.html</u>

When sending the request to the server, client source IP address will be spoofed randomly. Similarly, when the servers execute the attack, they will spoof randomly their source IP addresses. This is the default behavior of TFN2K.

Going further, the client will be run from a compromise host, which remotely controlled by the real attacker machine.

# **DDoS Attack Execution**

Assumption for this part of assignment is that the 50 hosts used as launch pads are already compromised, and TFN2K servers are planted in them. A text file, *servers.txt*, containing IP addresses of the TFN2K servers is created before running the client. The target web server IP address is 63.100.47.37.

From the client's host, client is executed to send instruction to the servers to start attacking, using the following command:

./tfn -f servers.txt -c 5 -i 63.100.47.37 -p 80

Option	Description
Tfn	Executable for TFN2K client
-f servers.txt	Obtain the list of TFN2K servers from the servers.txt file
-c 5	Select SYN flood as method of attack
-i 63.100.47.37	IP address of attack target
-p 80	TCP port of attack target

The above command options are explained in the table below:

Once the command is executed, the client start to send instruction to the servers, and the servers start sending huge numbers of SYN packets to the web server. Using the command above, the TFN2K servers will send the packets using randomly spoofed source IP addresses. Kevin's web server is protected by HTTP proxy running on the firewall, so this SYN packets will be received by the proxy, which then send the SYN/ACK packets back as replies, and reserves the half open connection in the buffer. Because the senders spoofed their source IP addresses, the proxy will not get any replies, which in turn waste their resources to wait for the connection to complete. If the randomly spoofed IP addresses are non-existing addresses, there will be no replies sent, or else RST packets will be sent which tear down the connections.

With huge number of SYN packets sent, the bandwidth will be fill up with half open connections of web traffic. This will flood the Internet link to the site, considering that the bandwidth of the 50 hosts combined is several times much bigger than the site's link to

its ISP. The result will be disastrous since during this attacks, no legitimate traffic can come in to or go out from the network.

# **DDoS Countermeasures**

As widely known, once occur, distributed denial of service attacks cannot be prevented or recovered completely. Mitigating the attacks is the only action that can be taken. Prevention can be done before the attacks occur. For this specific kind of attacks, the following steps can be taken.

### Enabling the SYN flood protection on the firewall

Symantec Enterprise Firewall 7.0 used at the site has a SYN flood protection mechanism that can be enabled on the external interface of the firewall, to reduce the effect of SYN flood attacks. This, however, according to its configuration guide, should only be turned on when such attacks is detected, because it can affect the firewall's performance<sup>15</sup>.

### Ingress and Egress filtering at the ISP level

Ideally, all ISP should perform ingress and egress filtering on their routers so that no spoofed packets can pass through networks where they are not belongs to. Specifically for the attacks with TFN2K, if filtering has been applied at each of the ISPs, the client and the servers will not be able to spoof their IP with somebody else's because those packets will then be dropped.

### Use of virus scanning and personal firewall

These two applications should be used on hosts connected to the Internet, especially those that not protected by network firewall. Virus scanning will detect, prevent and remove any suspicious files matching their signatures, provided that they are always updated. Personal firewall will effectively block attempts to enter or leaving the host using ports that not allowed by it.

# Attack to Internal Server through Perimeter

Looking at the network designed by Kevin, several servers are used for public access, accessible from Internet and providing several different services. These servers are protected by the firewall, which are Web server, SMTP Gateway and DNS server. The web server which is using Internet Information Server (IIS) 5.0, running on Windows 2000 Server Service Pack 3 will be the chosen target. The version of Internet Information Server stated in Kevin's practical is 5.5, but since there are no information available on that version, even from Microsoft website, assumption is made that the version is actually 5.0, based on the underlying Operating System used.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Symantec Enterprise Firewall and Symantec Enterprise VPN Configuration Guide, page 98

There are few reasons of choosing this server as the target:

- Quite a number of vulnerabilities have been found for IIS, which will make easier in choosing the type of attack and available exploits. This will also increase the chance of success in attacking it.
- The firewall is using HTTP proxy to protect the web server, enabling traffic inspection up to the application level and increasing the level of security. However, looking at the firewall policy, the proxy is not specifically configured to provide additional protection that it capable to do, such as URL filtering or document content restriction. Default configuration is used for the proxy. This will allow certain types of application level attack on the HTTP protocol to pass through it.

Research from Security Focus website on vulnerability, <u>www.securityfocus.com/bid</u>, several vulnerabilities found on Microsoft IIS 5.0. Among those, the attack of choice will be on **Microsoft IIS Malformed HTTP HOST Header Field Denial Of Service Vulnerability** (<u>http://www.securityfocus.com/bid/5907</u>) which is assigned Bugtraq ID (BID) 5907.

Other references for this vulnerability will be from SecuriTeam.com, Malformed HOST Header Causes IIS DoS,

(http://www.securiteam.com/windowsntfocus/6C00C1F5QA.html).

This vulnerability is chosen because it was released quite recently and further research shows no known patch has been released for this.

# Web Server Attack Plan

From Security Focus<sup>16</sup>, explanation of the vulnerability is as follows:

Microsoft IIS is reported to be prone to a remotely exploitable denial of service.

This condition occurs upon receipt of a malformed HOST field in a HTTP request for 'shtml.dll'. It is possible to reproduce this condition by sending a HTTP POST request with a HOST header field that is composed of an excessive number of slashes (/).

The attack is based on crafted HTTP packet sent to the web server. Different from HTTP attack to the firewall previously, which purposely asks the proxy to handle the request, this attack would be HTTP request to the web server. The attack is expected to be valid request from the HTTP proxy point of view, so that it will just pass the request to the web server without performing checking to it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> <u>http://www.securityfocus.com/bid/5907</u>

HTTP request sent to the web server will be the same as explained in the SecuriTeam.com link above<sup>17</sup>:

```
POST /_vti_bin/shtml.dll HTTP/1.0
Host: [32762 '/' characters]
```

The number of '/' in the host field are 32762 characters, which not explicitly shown here for simplicity.

To inject the request to the web server, **netcat**, a famous tool by Hobbit, which can be found at @stake, Inc. website (<u>http://www.atstake.com/research/tools/nc110.tgz</u>), will be used. The HTTP request content will be written in a text file, which then used as input for netcat.

To check whether the attack successful, web browser can be used to connect to the web server right after the launch of the attack. If the web server is not responding then the attack is successful. Another way to check is by observing the output of netcat, which will be the response from the web server or the proxy. However, according to the report, this attack is only temporary disable the service, which then it can recover after several seconds. Repetition of the attack can increase the interruption frequency.

The attack should be carried out from a remotely compromised host in the Internet, so that if the attack is detected, the compromised host address is the one found of launching it.

Prior to launch the attack, netcat and the text file used as input file will be transported to the compromised host.

# Web Server Attack Execution

The attack target is the web server at 63.100.47.37. The input file for netcat, named as *host.txt*, is contained with the HTTP commands.

Executing the command to launch the attack, is done as follows:

nc 63.100.47.37 80 < host.txt

The above command options are explained in the table below:

Option	Description	
Nc	Netcat executable	
63.100.47.37	Target IP address (the web server)	
80	TCP port 80 (HTTP), used for the connection	
< host.txt	Use host.txt to input the command for the connection	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> <u>http://www.securiteam.com/windowsntfocus/6C00C1F5QA.html</u>

After the execution, netcat shows the following response:

```
HTTP/1.1 200 OK
Server: Microsoft-IIS/5.0
Date: Sat, 15 Mar 2003 04:42:06 GMT
Content-Type: text/html; charset=windows-1252
<HTML><H2>FrontPage Error.</H2>
<P>
<B>User:</B> please report details to this site's webmaster.
<P>
<P>
<B>Webmaster:</B> please see the server's application event log for
more details.
</P>
```

Checking with web browser shows delay on responding to the request. Repeating the attack several time lengthen the delay of the response.

At the firewall, checking on the logs will show record on the connection, as follows:

```
Mar 15 12:37:12.998 THESERVER httpd[788]: 121 Statistics: duration=8.26
id=4kwK sent=32804 rcvd=323 srcif=EEF4C223-0BC6-4 src=100.100.1.5/32785
cldst=63.100.47.37/80 svsrc=192.168.1.1/1143 dstif=0254FF85-A0D9-4
dst=192.168.1.7/80 op=POST arg=http:///_vti_bin/shtml.dll result="200
OK" proto=http rule=2
```

The firewall is not detecting this connection as any malicious connection, since only statistic of connection is shown, no other alerts on the logs.

On the web server, upon receiving the malicious attack, the CPU usage hits 100% utilization for a few seconds. Repeating the attack will cause it to reach 100% utilization again. By the time this happened, the web server is not responding to other requests, which is why the browser experience delay. Figure 28 shows this statistics.

Windows Task Ma	anager		
e <u>O</u> ptions <u>V</u> iew I	Help		
pplications   Process	ses Performanc	e	
CPU Usage	CPU Usage H	listory	(c)
100%			
MEM Usage	Memory Usa	ge History	
68 I48K			
_ Totals	Physical Memory (K)		
Handles	4139	Total	245228
Threads	267	Available	166072
Processes	24	System Cache	72940
Commit Charge (K)	)	⊢Kernel Memory (K)	
Total	68148	Total	27144
Limit	590784	Paged	21484
Peak	70988	Nonpaged	5660

Figure 28: CPU Utilization During The Attack

Overall, the attack has been successfully cause denial of service on the web server.

# Web Server Attack Countermeasures

At this point no patch is available from Microsoft that able to fix this problem. Workaround solutions should be used to mitigate the attack.

The IDS should be able to detect the attacks, but it won't be able to react against it. Firewall will log the malicious requests, but it will log it as if they were normal traffic (information event type), which require further analysis of the logs. Without additional protection system, absolute blocking to the IP addresses sending such requests is the solution. But this won't be much effective since these IP addresses, will probably only compromised hosts being used by the attacker.

The other way to prevent this attack to crash the web server, which will be a more effective solution, is to have a web server protection system that able to defend against typical attacks to web servers, especially IIS. Such systems would use web attacks signatures and when there are matching traffic to the signatures, they will drop those connections. Entercept Web Server Edition from Entercept Security Technologies (<u>http://www.entercept.com/products/wse/</u>) and SecureIIS from eEye Digital Security (<u>http://www.eeye.com/html/Products/SecureIIS/index.html</u>) are two examples of systems giving such protection.
## References

The SANS Institute. <u>TCP/IP for Firewalls and Intrusion Detection, Track 2.1</u>. Bethesda: SANS Press, 2002.

The SANS Institute. <u>Firewalls 101: Perimeter Protection with Firewalls</u>, Track 2.2. Bethesda: SANS Press, 2002.

The SANS Institute. <u>Firewalls 102: Perimeter Protection and Defense In-Depth, Track</u> 2.3. Bethesda: SANS Press, 2002.

The SANS Institute. <u>VPNs and Remote Access, Track 2.4</u>. Bethesda: SANS Press, 2002.

Skoudis, Ed. <u>Counter Hack, A Step-by-Step Guide to Computer Attacks and Effective</u> <u>Defenses</u>. Upper Saddle River: Prentice Hall PTR, 2002.

Zwicky, D. Elizabeth. Cooper, Simon. Chapman, Brent D. <u>Building Internet Firewalls.</u> <u>Second Edition</u>. Sebastopol: O'Reilly & Associates, Inc., 2000.

Microsot Corporation. "Exchange 2000 Windows 2000 Connectivity Through Firewalls". 3 October 2002. URL: <u>http://support.microsoft.com/default.aspx?scid=KB;en-us;q280132</u> (November 2002).

Microsoft Corporation. "Exchange 2000 Static Port Mappings". 22 January 2003. URL: <u>http://support.microsoft.com/default.aspx?scid=kb;en-us;270836</u> (November 2002).

Microsoft Corporation. "How to Configure a Global Catalog Server to Use a Specific Port When Servicing MAPI Clients". 22 January 2003. URL: http://support.microsoft.com/default.aspx?scid=kb;EN-US;298369 (November 2002).

Microsoft Corporation. "How to Configure a Firewall for Domains and Trusts" 10 October 2002. URL: <u>http://support.microsoft.com/default.aspx?scid=kb;en-us;Q179442&gssnb=1</u> (November 2002).

US Department of Energy, Computer Incident Advisory Capability. "DDoS Mediation Action List". 3 April 2000. URL: <u>http://www.ciac.org/ciac/bulletins/k-032.shtml</u> (December 2002).

Cisco Systems, Inc. "Improving Security On Cisco Routers". 29 December 2002. URL: <u>http://www.cisco.com/warp/public/707/21.html</u> (December 2002).

National Security Agency. "Cisco Router Security Recommendation Guide". 24 October 2001. URL: <u>http://www.nsa.gov/snac/cisco/</u> (December 2002).

Cisco Systems, Inc. "Cisco IOS Release 12.2 Configuration Guides and Command References". 2002. URL:

http://www.cisco.com/univercd/cc/td/doc/product/software/ios122/122cgcr/index.htm (December 2002).

CyberGuard Corporation. <u>CyberGuard Firewall Manual</u>, <u>Administering the CyberGuard</u> <u>Firewall</u>. CyberGuard Corporation. December 2001.

CyberGuard Corporation. <u>CyberGuard Firewall Manual</u>, <u>Configuring the CyberGuard</u> <u>Firewall</u>. CyberGuard Corporation. December 2001.

CyberGuard Corporation. <u>CyberGuard Firewall Manual, Configuring SmartProxies for</u> <u>the CyberGuard Firewall</u>. CyberGuard Corporation. December 2001.

Spitzner, Lance. "Auditing Your Firewall Setup". 12 December 2000. URL: <u>http://www.spitzner.net/audit.html</u> (January 2003).

Fyodor. "Nmap network security scanner man page". 2003. URL: <u>http://www.insecure.org/nmap/data/nmap\_manpage.html</u> (January 2003).

Fyodor. "The Art of Port Scanning". 6 September 1997. URL: <u>http://www.insecure.org/nmap/nmap\_doc.html</u> (January 2003).

Van Jacobson. Leres, Craig. McCanne, Steven. "Windump Manual". 14 March 2002. URL: <u>http://windump.polito.it/docs/manual.htm</u> (February 2003).

Vigilante.com, Inc. "SecureScan™ Vulnerability Test Performed by VIGILANTe.com Support for Sample Report". 4 October 2001.

http://www.vigilante.com/securescan/perimeter/sample\_report/scex\_classic.zip (February 2003).

Vigilante.com, Inc. <u>Getting Started with VIGILANTe SecureScan NX</u>. Beaverton: Vigilante.com, Inc, May 2002.

Fielding, R. et al. "Hypertext Transfer Protocol -- HTTP/1.1". June 1999. URL: <u>http://www.w3.org/Protocols/rfc2616/rfc2616.html</u> (February 2003).

Postel, B. Jonathan. "SIMPLE MAIL TRANSFER PROTOCOL", August 1982. URL: <u>http://www.freesoft.org/CIE/RFC/821/index.htm</u> (February 2003).

Bong, Kevin. "GIAC Certified Firewall Analyst (GCFW) Practical Assignment Version 1.8". 8 December 2002. URL: <u>http://www.giac.org/practical/GCFW/Kevin\_Bong\_GCFW.pdf</u> (February 2003).

Advance IT Security. "Symantec Firewall Secure Webserver Timeout DoS". 14 October 2002. URL: <u>http://www.ai-</u>

sec.dk/modules.php?op=modload&name=News&file=article&sid=29&mode=thread&ord er=0&thold=0 (February 2003).

Security Focus. "Symantec Enterprise Firewall RealAudio Proxy Buffer Overflow Vulnerability". 13 December 2002. URL: <u>http://www.securityfocus.com/bid/6389</u> (February 2003).

Security Focus. "Multiple Symantec HTTP Proxy Denial of Service Vulnerability" 14 October 2002. URL: <u>http://www.securityfocus.com/bid/5958</u> (February 2003)

Symantec Corporation. "Symantec Firewall Secure Webserver timeout DoS". 13 October 2002. URL:

http://securityresponse.symantec.com/avcenter/security/Content/2002.10.11.html (February 2003).

Condor. "HTTP Request Packet Injection". 16 January 2002. URL: <u>http://www.securiteam.com/tools/5NP0E1P60W.html</u> (February 2003).

Symantec Corporation. "Symantec Enterprise Firewall and Symantec Enterprise VPN Configuration Guide". 2001. URL:

<u>ftp://ftp.symantec.com/public/english\_us\_canada/products/symantec\_enterprise\_firewall</u> /manuals/7.0/sef\_sevpn\_70\_config.pdf (February 2003).

Mixter. "Tribe FloodNet 2k edition, Distributed Denial Of Service Network". URL: <u>http://mixter.void.ru/tfn2k.tgz</u> (February 2003).

Barlow, Jason. "Axent releases a full TFN2K Analysis". 8 March 2000. URL: <u>http://www.securiteam.com/securitynews/5YP0G000FS.html</u> (February 2003).

Security Focus. "Microsoft IIS Malformed HTTP HOST Header Field Denial Of Service Vulnerability". 7 October 2002. URL: <u>http://www.securityfocus.com/bid/5907</u> (March 2003).

Testa, Joe. Aitel, Dave. "Malformed HOST Header Causes IIS DoS". 15 October 2002. URL: <u>http://www.securiteam.com/windowsntfocus/6C00C1F5QA.html</u> (March 2003).

Hobbit. "Netcat 1.10 for Unix". 20 March 1996. URL: http://www.atstake.com/research/tools/nc110.tgz (March 2003).

## **Appendix A: Router Configuration**

```
version 12.2
service timestamps log datetime localtime show-timezone
service password-encryption
1
hostname Router
1
aaa new-model
1
1
aaa authentication login default local enable
aaa session-id common
enable secret 5 $1$Y50C$hL511CVH8jt9tPJtHk70W/
1
username admin1 password 7 023A02305E741D1B
username admin2 password 7 BA50773493C21216
memory-size iomem 25
ip subnet-zero
no ip source-route
1
no ip bootp server
1
1
1
interface FastEthernet0
ip address 100.1.1.17 255.255.255.240
 ip access-group 100 in
no ip redirects
no ip unreachables
no ip proxy-arp
 speed auto
!
interface Serial0
 ip address 100.1.1.34 255.255.255.252
ip access-group 101 in
no ip redirects
no ip unreachables
no ip proxy-arp
no fair-queue
I.
ip classless
ip route 0.0.0.0 0.0.0.0 100.1.1.33
no ip http server
1
!
logging 100.1.1.21
access-list 100 deny ip any 0.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 10.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 127.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 169.254.0.0 0.0.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 172.16.0.0 0.15.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 192.0.2.0 0.0.0.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 192.168.0.0 0.0.0.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 224.0.0.0 15.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 240.0.0.0 7.255.255.255 log
```

```
access-list 100 deny ip any 248.0.0.0 7.255.255.255 log
access-list 100 deny ip any 255.255.255.255 0.0.0.0 log
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 20
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 21
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 53
access-list 100 permit udp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 53
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 80
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 443
access-list 100 permit udp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 500
access-list 100 permit 50 host 100.1.1.18 any
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.19 any eq 25
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.19 any gt 1023
access-list 100 permit tcp host 100.1.1.20 any gt 1023
access-list 100 permit tcp 100.1.1.21 100.1.1.17 eq 23
access-list 100 deny any any log
access-list 101 deny ip 0.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 10.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 127.0.0.0 0.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 169.254.0.0 0.0.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 172.16.0.0 0.15.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 192.0.2.0 0.0.0.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 192.168.0.0 0.0.0.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 224.0.0.0 15.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 240.0.0.0 7.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 248.0.0.0 7.255.255.255 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 255.255.255.255 0.0.0.0 any log
access-list 101 deny ip 100.1.1.16 0.0.0.15 any log
access-list 101 permit tcp any host 100.1.1.18 gt 1023
access-list 101 permit tcp any host 100.1.1.18 eq 53
access-list 101 permit udp any host 100.1.1.18 eq 53
access-list 101 permit udp host 100.1.1.18 any eq 500
access-list 101 permit 50 host 100.1.1.18
access-list 101 permit tcp host 100.1.1.19 any gt 1023
access-list 101 permit tcp host 100.1.1.19 any eq 25
access-list 101 permit tcp host 100.1.1.20 any eq 80
access-list 101 permit tcp host 100.1.1.20 any eq 443
access-list 101 deny any log
no cdp run
1
line con 0
line aux 0
line vty 0 4
1
no scheduler allocate
end
```

```
© SANS Institute 2003,
```

## Appendix B: Firewall Packet-Filtering Rules

Туре	Service	Source	Destination	Option				
# Packet Filter rules section								
# Internal users to access giac-db								
permit	1433/tcp	giac-users	giac-db					
# Internal users to access giac-mail								
permit	135/tcp	giac-users	giac-mail					
permit	1026/tcp	giac-users	giac-mail					
permit	1027/tcp	giac-users	giac-mail					
permit	1028/tcp	giac-users	giac-mail					
# giac-mail to access domain controllers								
permit	53/udp	giac-mail	giac-dc	ENABLE REPLY				
permit	53/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc					
permit	88/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc					
permit	88/udp	giac-mail	giac-dc	ENABLE REPLY				
permit	123/udp	giac-mail	giac-dc	ENABLE REPLY				
permit	135/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc					
permit	389/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc					
permit	389/udp	giac-mail	giac-dc	ENABLE REPLY				
permit	445/tcn	giac-mail	giac-dc					
permit	3268/tcn	giac-mail	giac-dc					
permit	1025/tcp	giac-mail	giac-dc					
	ah to access diac-	dh	giac ac					
normit	1/133/ton		diac-db					
# router	to send system to c		giac-db					
# TOULET	511/udn	giac router	giac log					
# diac lo	a to perform remot		giac-log					
- m giac-io	23/ten		giac router					
# \/DNI ri	les section	giac-log	giac-router					
# \/DNL	sers to connect to	diac db						
# VI IN U	1/33/ton	giac vonhosts	giae dh					
	are to connect to		giac-ob					
# VFINU	135/top		giae mail					
permit	1026/top	giac-vphilosts						
permit	1020/icp	giac-vphhosts						
permit	1027/ICP							
permit 1028/tcp glac-vpnnosts glac-mail								
# VPIN U			aioo do					
permit	1029/ICP		giac-dc					
permit	53/ICP	giac-vprinosts	giac-dc					
permit	53/uap	glac-vpnnosts	glac-dc	ENABLE_REPLY				
permit		glac-vpnnosts	glac-dc					
permit	88/UOP	glac-vpnnosts	glac-dc	ENABLE_REPLY				
permit	123/udp	glac-vpnnosts	giac-oc	ENABLE_REPLY				
permit	135/ICP		giac-oc					
permit	389/tcp	giac-vpnnosts	giac-oc					
permit	389/udp	giac-vpnnosts	giac-ac	ENABLE_REPLY				
permit	445/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc					
permit	3268/tcp	giac-vpnhosts	giac-dc					
# Split DNS rules								
permit	domain/tcp	ALL EXTERNAL	EXTERNAL INTERFACES					

permit	domain/tcp	EXTERNAL_INTERFACES	ALL_EXTERNAL				
permit	domain/udp	ALL_EXTERNAL	EXTERNAL_INTERFACES	ENABLE_REPLY			
permit	domain/udp	EXTERNAL_INTERFACES	ALL_EXTERNAL	ENABLE_REPLY			
permit	domain/tcp	ALL_INTERNAL	INTERNAL_INTERFACES				
permit	domain/tcp	INTERNAL_INTERFACES	ALL_INTERNAL				
permit	domain/udp	ALL_INTERNAL	INTERNAL_INTERFACES	ENABLE_REPLY			
permit	domain/udp	INTERNAL_INTERFACES	ALL_INTERNAL	ENABLE_REPLY			
deny	domain/tcp	EVERYONE	EVERYONE				
deny	domain/udp	EVERYONE	EVERYONE				
# CVP rule							
permit	18181/tcp	FIREWALL	giac-avs 💦 🌅				
# Firewall logging to Syslog							
permit	syslog/udp	FIREWALL	giac-log				
# Proxy rules							
# SSL Proxy rules							
proxy	https/tcp	ALL_EXTERNAL	giac-web				
proxy	https/tcp	giac-users	giac-web				
proxy	https/tcp	giac-users	ALL_EXTERNAL				
# SMTP Proxy rules							
proxy	smtp/tcp	ALL_EXTERNAL	giac-mail				
proxy	smtp/tcp	giac-mail	ALL_EXTERNAL				
# FTP Proxy rules							
proxy	ftp/tcp	giac-users	ALL_EXTERNAL				
# HTTP Proxy rules							
proxy	http/tcp	ALL_EXTERNAL	giac-web				
proxy	http/tcp	giac-users	giac-web				
proxy	http/tcp	giac-users	ALL_EXTERNAL				
proxy	http/tcp	giac-avs	ALL_EXTERNAL				
# Last deny rule							
deny	ALL	EVERYONE	EVERYONE	ENABLE_REPLY			

EVERYONE